
Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D. C. 20549
 

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _______ to _______            
Commission File Number 1-14643

____________________________________________________
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____________________________________________________
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(IRS Employer
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440-354-2600

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
____________________________________________________

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

 

  
June 30, 

2015  
March 31, 

2015

  (Unaudited)   

Assets     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 196,193  $ 167,689
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $9,941 and $9,415, respectively)  291,392  325,289
Inventories, net  183,753  160,818
Deferred income taxes, net  31,650  31,629
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  34,755  35,007

Total current assets  737,743  720,432
Property, plant, and equipment, net  503,085  493,053
Goodwill and intangibles, net  921,000  860,645
Other assets  19,606  23,161
Total assets  $ 2,181,434  $ 2,097,291

Liabilities and equity     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable  $ 96,754  $ 99,340
Accrued income taxes  6,637  7,154
Accrued payroll and other related liabilities  55,575  74,805
Accrued expenses and other  105,497  102,032

Total current liabilities  264,463  283,331
Long-term indebtedness  686,166  621,075
Deferred income taxes, net  77,739  71,905
Other liabilities  53,465  47,334
Total liabilities  $ 1,081,833  $ 1,023,645
Commitments and contingencies (see note 9)   
Serial preferred shares, without par value; 3,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding  —  —
Common shares, without par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 70,040 shares issued; 59,835 and 59,675
shares outstanding, respectively  267,913  264,853
Common shares held in treasury, 10,205 and 10,364 shares, respectively  (320,798)  (320,343)
Retained earnings  1,204,324  1,193,791
Accumulated other comprehensive income  (53,872)  (66,669)
Total shareholders’ equity  1,097,567  1,071,632
Noncontrolling interest  2,034  2,014
Total equity  1,099,601  1,073,646
Total liabilities and equity  $ 2,181,434  $ 2,097,291

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,

  2015  2014

Revenues:     
Product  $ 232,307  $ 230,440
Service  207,595  182,203

Total revenues  439,902  412,643
Cost of revenues:     

Product  129,856  129,975
Service  125,956  112,575

Total cost of revenues  255,812  242,550
Gross profit  184,090  170,093
Operating expenses:     

Selling, general, and administrative  126,835  113,688
Research and development  13,765  12,409
Restructuring expenses  (726)  (172)

Total operating expenses  139,874  125,925
Income from operations  44,216  44,168
Non-operating expenses, net:     

Interest expense  6,120  4,682
Interest income and miscellaneous expense  (462)  (220)

Total non-operating expenses, net  5,658  4,462
Income before income tax expense  38,558  39,706
Income tax expense  14,267  15,169

Net income  $ 24,291  $ 24,537

Net income per common share     
Basic  $ 0.41  $ 0.41
Diluted  $ 0.40  $ 0.41

Cash dividends declared per common share outstanding  $ 0.23  $ 0.21

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended June 30,

 2015  2014
Net income $ 24,291  $ 24,537
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities, (net of taxes of ($226), and $0, respectively) (848)  103
Amortization of pension and postretirement benefit plans costs, (net of taxes of $95 and $137, respectively) (153)  (222)
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment 13,798  4,671
Total other comprehensive loss 12,797  4,552
Comprehensive income $ 37,088  $ 29,089

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

  Three Months Ended June 30,

  2015  2014

Operating activities:     
Net income  $ 24,291  $ 24,537
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  22,353  20,405
Deferred income taxes  5,629  (167)
Share-based compensation expense  3,145  2,835
Loss on the disposal of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net  3  233
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation

 (3,910)  (3,835)
Other items  (19,838)  (1,366)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:     
Accounts receivable, net  38,869  46,681
Inventories, net  (18,174)  (15,426)
Other current assets  463  (1,139)
Accounts payable  (5,696)  (18,877)
Accruals and other, net  (5,982)  (7,528)

Net cash provided by operating activities  41,153  46,353
Investing activities:     

Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net  (23,518)  (23,331)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles  28  71
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired  (44,310)  (179,012)

Net cash used in investing activities  (67,800)  (202,272)
Financing activities:     

(Payments) proceeds under credit facilities, net  (283,250)  165,260
Proceeds from issuance of long-term obligations  350,000  —
Deferred financing fees and debt issuance costs  (1,978)  —
Repurchases of common shares  (9,573)  (5,319)
Cash dividends paid to common shareholders  (13,758)  (12,459)
Stock option and other equity transactions, net  4,881  7,150
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation  3,910  3,835

Net cash provided by financing activities  50,232  158,467
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  4,919  2,586
Increase in cash and cash equivalents  28,504  5,134
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  167,689  152,802
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 196,193  $ 157,936

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

STERIS Corporation, an Ohio corporation, develops, manufactures and markets infection prevention, contamination control, microbial reduction, and
surgical and critical care support products and services for healthcare, pharmaceutical, scientific, research, industrial, and governmental Customers
throughout the world. As used in this Quarterly Report, STERIS Corporation and its subsidiaries together are called “STERIS,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,”
or “our,” unless otherwise noted.

We operate in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, Life Sciences, and STERIS Isomedix Services (“Isomedix”). We describe our business
segments in note 10 to our consolidated financial statements titled, “Business Segment Information.” Our fiscal year ends on March 31. References in this
Quarterly Report to a particular “year” or “year-end” mean our fiscal year. The significant accounting policies applied in preparing the accompanying
consolidated financial statements of the Company are summarized below:

Interim Financial Statements

We prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company according to accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X.
This means that they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Our unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements contain all material adjustments (including normal recurring accruals and adjustments) management believes are necessary
to fairly state our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented.

These interim consolidated financial statements should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015 dated May 27, 2015. The Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2015 was derived from
the audited consolidated financial statements at that date, but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete
financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

We use the consolidation method to report our investment in our subsidiaries. Therefore, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. We eliminate inter-company accounts and transactions when we consolidate
these accounts. Income attributable to non-controlling interests is reported in the "Interest income and miscellaneous expense" line of our Consolidated
Statements of Income and is not material.

Use of Estimates

We make certain estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements according to U.S. GAAP that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the financial statement dates and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. These estimates and assumptions
involve judgments with respect to many factors that are difficult to predict and are beyond our control. Actual results could be materially different from these
estimates. We revise the estimates and assumptions as new information becomes available. This means that operating results for the three month period ended
June 30, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for future quarters or for the full fiscal year ending March 31, 2016.

7



Table of Contents
STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Impacting the Company

Recently issued accounting standards impacting the Company are presented in the following table:

Standard  Date of Issuance  Description  
Date of

Adoption  

Effect on the financial
statements or other
significant matters

Standards that have recently been adopted
ASU 2015-03,
"Simplifying the
Presentation of
Debt Issuance
Costs"

 

April 2015

 

The update requires capitalized debt issuance costs to be presented
as a reduction to the carrying value of debt instead of being
classified as a deferred charge, as currently required. This update is
effective for all annual and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2015 and is required to be adopted retroactively for
all periods presented, early adoption is permitted.  

First Quarter
Fiscal 2016

 

This update did not have a
material impact on our
consolidated financial
position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Standards that have not yet adopted
ASU 2014-09,
"Revenue from
Contracts with
Customers"

 

May 2014

 

The standard will replace existing revenue recognition standards and
significantly expand the disclosure requirements for revenue
arrangements. It may be adopted either retrospectively or on a
modified retrospective basis to new contracts and existing contracts
with remaining performance obligations as of the effective date. The
standard update is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017 and interim periods within that period, early
adoption is not permitted before the original public entity effective
date of December 15, 2016.  

N/A

 

We are currently in the
process of evaluating the
impact that the standard
will have on our
consolidated financial
position, results of
operations and cash flows.

A detailed description of our significant and critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions is included in our consolidated financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015 dated May 27, 2015. Our significant and critical accounting policies,
estimates, and assumptions have not changed materially from March 31, 2015.

2. Restructuring

Fiscal 2014 Restructuring Plan. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we adopted and announced a targeted restructuring plan primarily focused on the
closure of our Hopkins manufacturing facility located in Mentor, Ohio (the “Fiscal 2014 Restructuring Plan”). As a result of this plan, we will transfer
operations located at Hopkins to other North American locations. We believe that by closing the operations at Hopkins we will more effectively utilize our
existing North American manufacturing network while reducing operating costs.

Since the inception of the Restructuring Plan we have incurred pre-tax expenses totaling $19,023 related to these actions, of which $10,970 was recorded
as restructuring expenses and $8,053 was recorded in cost of revenues, with restructuring expenses of $16,927, $796, and $1,300 related to the Healthcare,
Life Sciences and Isomedix segments, respectively.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

The following table summarizes our total pre-tax restructuring expenses for the first quarters of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Fiscal 2014
Restructuring

Plan (1)

Severance and other compensation related costs $ (806)
Lease termination obligation and other 80
Product rationalization 277

Total restructuring expenses $ (449)
(1) Includes $277 in expense recorded to cost of revenues on Consolidated Statements of Income.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Fiscal 2014
Restructuring

Plan (2)

Severance and other compensation related costs $ (196)
Asset impairment and accelerated depreciation (38)
Lease termination obligation and other 62
Product rationalization (114)

Total restructuring expenses $ (286)
(2) Includes ($114) in expense recorded to cost of revenues on Consolidated Statements of Income.

Liabilities related to restructuring activities are recorded as current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets within “Accrued payroll
and other related liabilities” and “Accrued expenses and other.” The following table summarizes our restructuring liability balances and activity:

  Fiscal 2014 Restructuring Plan

    Fiscal 2016   

  
March 31, 

2015  Provision  Payments (1)  
June 30, 

2015

Severance and termination benefits  $ 2,531  $ (636)  $ (128)  $ 1,767
Lease termination obligations and other  356  —  (75)  281

Total  $ 2,887  $ (636)  $ (203)  $ 2,048

(1) Certain amounts reported include the impact of foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar.

 
3. Property, Plant and Equipment

Information related to the major categories of our depreciable assets is as follows:
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

  
June 30, 

2015  
March 31, 

2015

Land and land improvements (1)  $ 37,997  $ 40,668
Buildings and leasehold improvements  270,038  263,007
Machinery and equipment  381,257  375,555
Information systems  105,502  104,049
Radioisotope  294,135  289,778
Construction in progress (1)  58,772  47,690
Total property, plant, and equipment  1,147,701  1,120,747
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion  (644,616)  (627,694)
Property, plant, and equipment, net  $ 503,085  $ 493,053
(1) Land is not depreciated. Construction in progress is not depreciated until placed in service.

4. Inventories, Net

Inventories, net are stated at the lower of cost or market. We use the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) and first-in, first-out cost methods. An actual valuation of
inventory under the LIFO method is made only at the end of the fiscal year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. Accordingly, interim LIFO
calculations are based on management’s estimates of expected year-end inventory levels and are subject to the final fiscal year-end LIFO inventory valuation.
Inventory costs include material, labor, and overhead. Inventories, net consisted of the following:
 

  
June 30, 

2015  
March 31, 

2015

Raw materials  $ 74,284  $ 67,095
Work in process  25,434  22,696
Finished goods  120,481  107,695
LIFO reserve  (17,972)  (19,071)
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory  (18,474)  (17,597)
Inventories, net  $ 183,753  $ 160,818

5. Debt

Indebtedness was as follows:
 

  
June 30, 

2015  
March 31, 

2015

Private Placement  $ 686,166  $ 337,825
Credit Agreement and Swing Line Facility  —  283,250
Total long term debt  $ 686,166  $ 621,075

On May 15, 2015, we issued $350,000 of senior notes, in a private placement to certain institutional investors in an offering that was exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. Of the $350,000 in senior notes, $125,000 have a maturity of 10 years from the issue date at an annual
interest rate of 3.45%, $125,000 have a maturity of 12 years from the issue date at an annual interest rate of 3.55% and $100,000 have a maturity of 15 years
from the issue date at an annual interest rate of 3.70%. These borrowings were used for repayment of credit facility debt and for other corporate purposes. The
agreement governing these notes contains leverage and interest coverage covenants.

As a result of the issuance of the senior notes, under the terms of the Amended Bridge Credit Agreement, the commitments of the lenders under the
Amended Bridge Credit Agreement were further reduced by $297,450, resulting in new Amended Bridge Credit Agreement commitments of $232,550 and
£340,000. As a result of further amendments to the Company's Amended Bridge Credit Agreement, the U.S. dollar lending commitment was reduced to zero,
with the British pounds sterling commitment limits remaining at £340,000.
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

Additional information regarding our indebtedness is included in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015 dated May 27, 2015.

6. Additional Consolidated Balance Sheet Information

Additional information related to our Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows:
 

  
June 30, 

2015  
March 31, 

2015

Accrued payroll and other related liabilities:     
Compensation and related items  $ 22,787  $ 16,680
Accrued vacation/paid time off  7,007  5,539
Accrued bonuses  6,764  30,159
Accrued employee commissions  9,016  12,842
Accrued pension  5,933  6,186
Other postretirement benefit obligations-current portion  2,789  2,789
Other employee benefit plans' obligations-current portion  1,279  610

Total accrued payroll and other related liabilities  $ 55,575  $ 74,805
Accrued expenses and other:     

Deferred revenues  $ 35,386  $ 34,910
Self-insured risk reserves-current portion  7,301  6,897
Accrued dealer commissions  12,183  13,591
Accrued warranty  5,236  5,579
Asset retirement obligation-current portion  —  1,092
Other  45,391  39,963

Total accrued expenses and other  $ 105,497  $ 102,032
Other liabilities:     

Self-insured risk reserves-long-term portion  $ 12,052  $ 12,052
Other postretirement benefit obligations-long-term portion  17,841  18,489
Other employee benefit plans obligations-long-term portion  5,750  6,634
Asset retirement obligation-long-term portion  8,346  6,991
Other  9,476  3,168

Total other liabilities  $ 53,465  $ 47,334

7. Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense includes United States federal, state and local, and foreign income taxes, and is based on reported pre-tax income. The effective
income tax rates for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were 37.0% and 38.2%, respectively. The first quarter of fiscal 2015 was
unfavorably impacted by higher pretax losses in jurisdictions for which no tax benefit is recognized.

Income tax expense is provided on an interim basis based upon our estimate of the annual effective income tax rate, adjusted each quarter for discrete
items. In determining the estimated annual effective income tax rate, we analyze various factors, including projections of our annual earnings and taxing
jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local income taxes, our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss carry
forwards, and available tax planning alternatives.

As of March 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, we had no unrecognized tax benefits and have not recorded any liability for interest and penalties.

We operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions and are subject to regular examinations by various United States federal, state and local authorities, as well as
foreign jurisdictions. We are no longer subject to United States federal examinations for years
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

before fiscal 2015 and, with limited exceptions, we are no longer subject to United States state and local or non-United States income tax examinations by tax
authorities for years before fiscal 2011. We remain subject to tax authority audits in various jurisdictions wherever we do business. We do not expect the
results of these examinations to have a material adverse affect on our consolidated financial statements.

8. Benefit Plans

We provide pension benefits for certain former manufacturing and plant administrative personnel as determined by collective bargaining agreements or
employee benefit standards set at the time of acquisition of certain businesses. In addition to providing pension benefits to certain employees, we sponsor an
unfunded post-retirement welfare benefits plan for two groups of United States employees; including some of the same employees who receive pension
benefits. Benefits under this plan include retiree life insurance and retiree medical coverage, including prescription drug coverage. Additional information
regarding our defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefits plan is included in our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015.

In July 2014, the Board of Directors of American Sterilizer Company (“AMSCO”) approved the termination of the American Sterilizer Company
Retirement Income Plan (“Plan”) effective October 1, 2014.  An Application for Determination to Terminate the Plan was filed with the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) on August 22, 2014.  A Notice of Intent to Terminate was mailed to the affected parties on July 30, 2014, with a copy furnished to the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) on October 31, 2014, at the PBGC’s request, and a Form 500 Standard Termination Notice was filed with the PBGC
on November 17, 2014. The 60-day PBGC waiting period lapsed without objection by the PBGC. Plan participants have been advised of the
termination. AMSCO and the Plan have received favorable determination from the IRS regarding the termination. The Plan fiduciaries are preparing to solicit
for the purchase of one or more annuity contracts from insurers to provide Plan benefits. Once an annuity provider or providers has been selected, Plan assets
will be transferred to the provider and any additional sums necessary to purchase the contracts will be contributed.  Once these actions have been completed,
payment of Plan benefits and benefit administration will become the responsibility of the annuity provider(s). The assumptions used to measure the benefit
obligation as of March 31, 2015 reflect this effort. The unfunded obligation has been classified as a current obligation based upon the assumption that the
termination process will be completed during fiscal 2016. 

Components of the net periodic benefit cost for our defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement medical benefits plan were as follows:
 

  Defined Benefit Pension Plan  
Other Postretirement Benefits

Plan

Three Months Ended June 30,  2015  2014   2015  2014

Service cost  $ 16  $ 35   $ —  $ —
Interest cost  336  471   148  173
Expected return on plan assets  (605)  (785)   —  —
Amortization of loss  361  277   207  180
Amortization of prior service cost  —  —   (815)  (816)
Net periodic benefit cost (income)  $ 108  $ (2)   $ (460)  $ (463)

We contribute amounts to the defined benefit pension plan at least sufficient to meet the minimum requirements as stated in applicable employee benefit
laws and local tax laws. We record liabilities for the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the benefit obligation (the projected benefit
obligation for pension plan and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for other postretirement benefits plan) on our accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
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STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

We are, and will likely continue to be, involved in a number of legal proceedings, government investigations, and claims, which we believe generally arise
in the course of our business, given our size, history, complexity, and the nature of our business, products, Customers, regulatory environment, and industries
in which we participate. These legal proceedings, investigations and claims generally involve a variety of legal theories and allegations, including, without
limitation, personal injury (e.g., slip and falls, burns, vehicle accidents), product liability or regulation (e.g., based on product operation or claimed
malfunction, failure to warn, failure to meet specification, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements), product exposure (e.g., claimed exposure to
chemicals, asbestos, contaminants, radiation), property damage (e.g., claimed damage due to leaking equipment, fire, vehicles, chemicals), commercial claims
(e.g., breach of contract, economic loss, warranty, misrepresentation), financial (e.g., taxes, reporting), employment (e.g., wrongful termination,
discrimination, benefits matters), and other claims for damage and relief.

We believe we have adequately reserved for our current litigation and claims that are probable and estimable, and further believe that the ultimate outcome
of these pending lawsuits and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations taken as a whole.
Due to their inherent uncertainty, however, there can be no assurance of the ultimate outcome or effect of current or future litigation, investigations, claims or
other proceedings (including without limitation the matters discussed below). For certain types of claims, we presently maintain insurance coverage for
personal injury and property damage and other liability coverages in amounts and with deductibles that we believe are prudent, but there can be no assurance
that these coverages will be applicable or adequate to cover adverse outcomes of claims or legal proceedings against us.

On May 31, 2012, our Albert Browne Limited subsidiary received a warning letter from the FDA regarding chemical indicators manufactured in the
United Kingdom. These devices are intended for the monitoring of certain sterilization and other processes. The FDA warning letter states that the agency has
concerns regarding operational business processes. We do not believe that the FDA's concerns are related to product performance, or that they result from
Customer complaints. We have reviewed our processes with the agency and finalized our remediation measures, and are awaiting FDA reinspection. We do
not currently believe that the impact of this event will have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

On May 23, 2014, the Company received a warning letter from the FDA regarding an inspection that the FDA concluded on January 8, 2014 at our
STERIS Isomedix Services facility located in Libertyville, Illinois. The facility primarily provides microbial reduction services for certain medical device
Customers. Among other matters, the FDA warning letter asserts that certain processes and procedures observed during the inspection did not conform to
current Good Manufacturing Practices for medical devices as required by Title 21 CFR Part 820 and, as a result, that certain devices processed at the subject
facility are adulterated within the meaning of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. Since the inspection, the Company has provided detailed responses
to the FDA regarding its corrective actions, and has continued to work diligently to remediate the FDA’s concerns. We do not believe that this inspection was
a result of Customer complaints and there have been no reports of patient injury. We do not expect this situation to have a material adverse effect on our
operations or financial condition.

On July 8, 2015, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio issued an Order terminating the April 20, 2010 consent decree entered
into by two Company employees and the United States. The consent decree related to U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) allegations regarding the
Company’s now discontinued SYSTEM 1® liquid chemical sterilization system. As a result of the termination of the consent decree, the Company is no
longer subject to any court order related to its FDA regulatory compliance.

Other civil, criminal, regulatory or other proceedings involving our products or services could possibly result in judgments, settlements or administrative
or judicial decrees requiring us, among other actions, to pay damages or fines or effect recalls, or be subject to other governmental, Customer or other third
party claims or remedies, which could materially effect our business, performance, prospects, value, financial condition, and results of operations.

For additional information regarding these matters, see the following portions of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015
dated May 27, 2015: “Business - Information with respect to our Business in General - Government Regulation”, and the “Risk Factor” titled “We may be
adversely affected by product liability claims or other legal actions or regulatory or compliance matters, including the Consent Decree”.

On May 28, 2015, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) brought an administrative complaint against STERIS and Synergy Health plc (“Synergy”),
seeking to block the proposed Combination (“Combination”) between STERIS and Synergy. The next day, the FTC filed suit against STERIS and Synergy in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, seeking to enjoin the Combination until the administrative challenge is adjudicated. Both
complaints allege that Synergy is an "actual potential competitor" with STERIS in the market for contracted sterilization services. The FTC contends that, but
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for the Combination, Synergy would enter the U.S. market with a new sterilization modality and compete against STERIS at some point in the future. As a
consequence, the FTC asserts that the Combination will have an anti-competitive effect. STERIS and Synergy deny the FTC’s allegations. An evidentiary
hearing in the District Court preliminary-injunction action is set for August 17, 2015, and the administrative hearing is scheduled to begin on October 28,
2015 before an Administrative Law Judge. An adverse decision in either proceeding could lead to further delay or failure to consummate the Combination.

On December 19, 2014, a stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Cuyahoga County, Ohio, against the members of
STERIS’s board of directors and its named executive officers, challenging the “excise tax make-whole payments” approved by STERIS’s board in connection
with the proposed Combination with Synergy (see note 18 titled "Business Acquisitions" for further information).  STERIS is named as a nominal defendant
in the action.  These payments are in respect of an excise tax that will be imposed, by virtue of the transaction, solely on the value of any outstanding stock
compensation held by STERIS board members and executive officers, and are intended to place these individuals in the same excise tax-neutral position with
respect to their STERIS equity awards after the transaction as before.  The case is captioned St. Lucie County Fire District Firefighters’ Pension Trust Fund v.
Rosebrough, Jr., et al., Case No. CV 14 837749.  The complaint generally alleges that STERIS’s board breached their fiduciary duties by approving the excise
tax make-whole payments, that the payments constitute corporate waste and that the payments are voidable under Ohio law.  The complaint seeks among
other things a declaration that the excise tax make-whole payments are invalid, damages, disgorgement of any excise tax make-whole payments and
plaintiffs’ costs and disbursements in the action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert fees, costs and expenses. For the time being, this action has been
stayed pending the outcome of the litigation with the FTC as described above relating to the Combination.

From time to time, STERIS is also involved in legal proceedings as a plaintiff involving contract, patent protection, and other claims asserted by us. Gains,
if any, from these proceedings are recognized when they are realized.

We are subject to taxation from United States federal, state and local, and foreign jurisdictions. Tax positions are settled primarily through the completion
of audits within each individual jurisdiction or the closing of the applicable statute of limitation. Changes in applicable tax law or other events may also
require us to revise past estimates.

Additional information regarding our contingencies is included in Item 7 of Part II titled, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions
and Results of Operations,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015 dated May 27, 2015.

10. Business Segment Information

We operate and report in three business segments: Healthcare, Life Sciences, and Isomedix. Corporate and other, which is presented separately, contains
the Defense and Industrial business unit plus costs that are associated with being a publicly traded company and certain other corporate costs.

Our Healthcare segment manufactures and sells capital equipment, accessory, consumable, and service solutions to healthcare providers, including acute
care hospitals, surgery and gastrointestinal centers. These solutions aid our Customers in improving the safety, quality, and productivity of their surgical,
sterile processing, gastrointestinal, and emergency environments.

Our Life Sciences segment manufactures and sells capital equipment, formulated cleaning chemistries, and service solutions to pharmaceutical
companies, and private and public research facilities around the globe.

Our Isomedix segment operates through a network of facilities located in North America. We sell a comprehensive array of contract sterilization services
using gamma irradiation and ethylene oxide (“EO”) technologies as well as an array of laboratory testing services. We provide microbial reduction services
based on Customer specifications to companies that supply products to the healthcare, industrial, and consumer products industries.

Financial information for each of our segments is presented in the following table. Operating income (loss) for each segment is calculated as the
segment’s gross profit less direct expenses and indirect cost allocations, which results in the full allocation of all distribution and research and development
expenses, and the partial allocation of corporate costs. These allocations are based upon variables such as segment headcount and revenues. In addition, the
Healthcare segment is responsible for the management of all but one manufacturing facility and uses standard cost to sell products to the Life Sciences
segment. Corporate and other includes the gross profit and direct expenses of the Defense and Industrial business unit,
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as well as certain unallocated corporate costs related to being a publicly traded company and legacy pension and post-retirement benefits.

The accounting policies for reportable segments are the same as those for the consolidated Company. For the three month period ended June 30, 2015,
revenues from a single Customer did not represent ten percent or more of any reportable segment’s revenues. Additional information regarding our segments
is included in our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015.

Financial information for each of our segments is presented in the following tables:

 

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2015  2014

Revenues:     
Healthcare  $ 329,327  $ 302,810
Life Sciences  56,772  58,614
Isomedix  53,689  51,193
Total reportable segments  439,788  412,617
Corporate and other  114  26

Total revenues  $ 439,902  $ 412,643

Operating income:     
Healthcare  $ 17,675  $ 17,966
Life Sciences  13,233  11,945
Isomedix  15,250  16,191
Total reportable segments  46,158  46,102
Corporate and other  (1,942)  (1,934)

Total operating income  $ 44,216  $ 44,168

11. Common Shares

We calculate basic earnings per common share based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. We calculate diluted earnings per
share based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the dilutive effect of common share equivalents calculated using the
treasury stock method. The following is a summary of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding used in the calculations of basic and
diluted earnings per share:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2015  2014

Denominator (shares in thousands):     
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic  59,768  59,169
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents  518  645
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common share equivalents—diluted  60,286  59,814

Options to purchase the following number of common shares were outstanding but excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because
the combined exercise prices, unamortized fair values, and assumed tax benefits upon exercise were greater than the average market price for the common
shares during the periods, so including these options would be anti-dilutive:
 

15



Table of Contents
STERIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(dollars in thousands)

  Three Months Ended June 30,
  2015  2014

(shares in thousands)   
Number of common share options  52  345

12. Repurchases of Common Shares

During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we obtained 144,848 of our common shares in connection with share-based compensation award programs. At
June 30, 2015, $86,939 of STERIS common shares remained authorized for repurchase pursuant to the Board approved repurchase authorization (the March
2008 Board Authorization). Also, 10,204,998 common shares were held in treasury at June 30, 2015.

13. Share-Based Compensation

We maintain a long-term incentive plan that makes available common shares for grants, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors, to officers, directors, and key employees in the form of stock options, restricted shares, restricted share units, and stock appreciation rights. Stock
options provide the right to purchase our common shares at the market price on the date of grant, subject to the terms of the option plans and agreements.
Generally, one-fourth of the stock options granted become exercisable for each full year of employment following the grant date. Stock options granted
generally expire 10 years after the grant date, or may expire earlier if the option holder is no longer employed by us. Restricted shares and restricted share
units generally cliff vest after a four year period or may vest in tranches of one-fourth of the number granted for each full year of employment after the grant
date. As of June 30, 2015, 2,497,052 shares remained available for grant under the long-term incentive plan.

The fair value of stock option awards was estimated at their grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. This model was developed
for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable, characteristics that are not present in our
option grants. If the model permitted consideration of the unique characteristics of employee stock options, the resulting estimate of the fair value of the stock
options could be different. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods
in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The expense is classified as cost of goods sold or selling, general and administrative expenses in a manner
consistent with the employee’s compensation and benefits.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used for options granted during the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015:
 

  Fiscal 2016  Fiscal 2015

Risk-free interest rate  1.46%  1.87%
Expected life of options  5.6 years  5.6 years
Expected dividend yield of stock  1.40%  1.88%
Expected volatility of stock  24.74%  29.88%

The risk-free interest rate is based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve. The expected life of options is reflective of historical experience, vesting schedules
and contractual terms. The expected dividend yield of stock represents our best estimate of the expected future dividend yield. The expected volatility of stock
is derived by referring to our historical stock prices over a time frame similar to that of the expected life of the grant. An estimated forfeiture rate of 1.55%
and 1.46% was applied in fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively. This rate is calculated based upon historical activity and represents an estimate of the granted
options not expected to vest. If actual forfeitures differ from this calculated rate, we may be required to make additional adjustments to compensation expense
in future periods. The assumptions used above are reviewed at the time of each significant option grant, or at least annually.

A summary of share option activity is as follows:
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Number of

Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding at March 31, 2015  1,759,890  $ 37.03     
Granted  136,404  66.15     
Exercised  (155,248)  31.39     
Forfeited  (1,020)  47.42     
Canceled  (500)  24.45     
Outstanding at June 30, 2015  1,739,526  $ 39.81  6.4 years  $ 43,071
Exercisable at June 30, 2015  1,147,226  $ 33.30  5.1 years  $ 35,723

We estimate that 580,916 of the non-vested stock options outstanding at June 30, 2015 will ultimately vest.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax difference between the $64.44 closing price of our common shares on June 30,
2015 over the exercise prices of the stock options, multiplied by the number of options outstanding or outstanding and exercisable, as applicable. The
aggregate intrinsic value is not recorded for financial accounting purposes and the value changes daily based on the daily changes in the fair market value of
our common shares.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 was $5,582 and $6,154, respectively. Net
cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $4,881 and $7,150 for the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The tax
benefit from share-based compensation was $3,910 and $3,835 for the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock option grants was $14.11 and $13.34 for the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015,
respectively.

Stock appreciation rights (“SARS”) carry generally the same terms and vesting requirements as stock options except that they are settled in cash upon
exercise and therefore, are classified as liabilities. The fair value of the outstanding SARS as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $1,966 and $1,611, respectively.
The fair value of outstanding SARs is revalued at each reporting date and the related liability and expense are adjusted appropriately.

A summary of the non-vested restricted share and restricted share unit activity is presented below:
 

  

Number of
Restricted

Shares  

Number of
Restricted Share

Units  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at March 31, 2015  851,173  32,800  $ 42.98
Granted  146,144  9,160  66.24
Vested  (193,986)  (2,862)  38.02
Canceled  (2,930)  —  43.69

Non-vested at June 30, 2015  800,401  39,098  $ 48.45

Restricted shares granted are valued based on the closing stock price at the grant date. The value of restricted shares that vested during the first three
months of fiscal 2016 was $7,344.

Restricted share units carry generally the same terms and vesting requirements as restricted stock except that they may be settled in stock or cash upon
vesting. Those that are settled in cash are classified as liabilities. All outstanding cash-settled restricted share units vested in the first quarter of fiscal 2016.
The fair value of outstanding cash-settled restricted share units as of March 31, 2015 was $334. The fair value of cash-settled restricted share units are
revalued at each reporting date and the related liability and expense are adjusted accordingly.
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As of June 30, 2015, there was a total of $34,181 in unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation granted under our
share-based compensation plans. We expect to recognize the cost over a weighted average period of 2.45 years.

14. Financial and Other Guarantees

We generally offer a limited parts and labor warranty on capital equipment. The specific terms and conditions of those warranties vary depending on the
product sold and the countries where we conduct business. We record a liability for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time product revenues are
recognized. The amounts we expect to incur on behalf of our Customers for the future estimated cost of these warranties are recorded as a current liability on
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Factors that affect the amount of our warranty liability include the number and type of installed units,
historical and anticipated rates of product failures, and material and service costs per claim. We periodically assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty
liabilities and adjust the amounts as necessary.

Changes in our warranty liability during the first three months of fiscal 2016 were as follows:
 

  

Balance, March 31, 2015 $ 5,579
Warranties issued during the period 2,243
Settlements made during the period (2,586)

Balance, June 30, 2015 $ 5,236

We also sell product maintenance contracts to our Customers. These contracts range in terms from one to five years and require us to maintain and repair
the product over the maintenance contract term. We initially record amounts due from Customers under these contracts as a liability for deferred service
contract revenue on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets within “Accrued expenses and other.” The liability recorded for such deferred service
revenue was $30,823 and $30,720 as of June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015, respectively. Such deferred revenue is then amortized on a straight-line basis over
the contract term and recognized as service revenue on our accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The activity related to the liability for deferred
service contract revenue is excluded from the table presented above.

15. Forward and Swap Contracts

From time to time, we enter into forward contracts to hedge potential foreign currency gains and losses that arise from transactions denominated in
foreign currencies, including inter-company transactions. We may also enter into commodity swap contracts to hedge price changes in nickel that impact raw
materials included in our cost of revenues. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. These contracts are not designated as
hedging instruments and do not receive hedge accounting treatment; therefore, changes in their fair value are not deferred but are recognized immediately in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. At June 30, 2015, we held foreign currency forward contracts to buy 60.0 million Mexican pesos, 3.0 million British
pounds sterling and 9.0 million Canadian dollars. At June 30, 2015 we held commodity swap contracts to buy 453,000 pounds of nickel, which included
contracts for 45,300 pounds that had matured but not settled.

  Asset Derivatives  Liability Derivatives

Balance Sheet  Fair Value at  Fair Value at  Fair Value at  Fair Value at

Location  June 30, 2015  March 31, 2015  June 30, 2015  March 31, 2015

Prepaid & Other  $ 29  $ 12  $ —  $ —
Accrued expenses and other  $ —  $ —  $ 648  $ 616

The following table presents the impact of derivative instruments and their location within the Consolidated Statements of Income:
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Location of gain (loss)
recognized in income  

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in income

Three Months Ended June 30,

2015  2014

Foreign currency forward contracts
 

Selling, general and
administrative  $ 432  $ 279

Commodity swap contracts  Cost of revenues  $ (45)  $ 661

16. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. We estimate the fair value of financial assets and liabilities using available market information and generally
accepted valuation methodologies. The inputs used to measure fair value are classified into three tiers. These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable
inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring the entity to develop its own assumptions.
The following table shows the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities at June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015:
 

     Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015 Using

  

Carrying Value

 

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets

for Identical Assets  
Significant Other

Observable Inputs  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

June 30 March 31 June 30 March 31  June 30 March 31  June 30 March 31

Assets:             
Cash and cash equivalents (1)  $ 196,193 $ 167,689  $ 175,961 $ 148,944  $ 20,232 $ 18,745  $ — $ —
Forward and swap contracts (2)  29 12  — —  29 12  — —
Investments (3)  7,361 8,332  7,361 8,332  — —  — —

Liabilities:             
Forward and swap contracts (2)  $ 648 $ 616  $ — $ —  $ 648 $ 616  $ — $ —
Deferred compensation plans (3)  3,480 3,757  3,480 3,757  — —  — —
Long term debt (4)  686,166 621,075  — —  685,465 641,131  — —
Contingent consideration obligations (5)  7,435 2,500  — —  — —  7,435 2,500

(1) Money market fund holdings are classified as level two as active market quoted prices are not available.
(2) The fair values of forward and swap contracts are based on period-end forward rates and reflect the value of the amount that we would pay or receive for
the contracts involving the same notional amounts and maturity dates.
(3) We maintain a frozen domestic non-qualified deferred compensation plan covering certain employees, which allows for the deferral of payment of
previously earned compensation for an employee-specified term or until retirement or termination. Amounts deferred can be allocated to various hypothetical
investment options (compensation deferrals have been frozen under the plan). We hold investments to satisfy the future obligations of the plan. Changes in the
value of the investment accounts are recognized each period based on the fair value of the underlying investments. Employees who made deferrals are entitled
to receive distributions of their hypothetical account balances (amounts deferred, together with earnings (losses)). We also hold an investment in the common
stock of Servizi Italia, S.p.A, a leading provider of integrated linen washing and outsourced sterile processing services to hospital Customers. Changes in the
value of the investment are recognized each period based on the fair value of the investment.
(4) We estimate the fair value of our principal amount of long-term debt using discounted cash flow analyses, based on our current incremental borrowing
rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.
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(5) Contingent consideration obligations arise from prior business acquisitions. The fair values are based on discounted cash flow analyses reflecting the
possible achievement of specified performance measures or events and captures the contractual nature of the contingencies, commercial risk, and the time
value of money. Contingent consideration obligations are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as accrued expense (short-term) and other liabilities
(long-term), as appropriate based on the contractual payment dates.

The changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2015 are summarized as follows:

 
Contingent

Consideration
Balance at March 31, 2015 $ 2,500
Additions 5,013
Payments (122)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1) 44

Balance at June 30, 2015 $ 7,435
(1) Reported in other comprehensive income (loss).

Information regarding our investments is as follows:

      Investments at June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015

  

Cost

 

Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses (2)  Fair Value

June 30  March 31 June 30  March 31  June 30  March 31  June 30  March 31

Available-for-sale securities:                 
Marketable equity securities (1)  $ 4,681  $ 4,681  $ —  $ —  $ (690)  $ —  $ 3,991  $ 4,681
Mutual funds  2,487  2,677  883  974  —  —  3,370  3,651

Total available-for-sale securities  $ 7,168  $ 7,358  $ 883  $ 974  $ (690)  $ —  $ 7,361  $ 8,332
(1) Our marketable equity securities have been in a unrealized loss position for less than 12 months.
(2) Amounts reported include the impact of foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar.

17. Reclassifications Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Amounts in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) are presented net of the related tax. Foreign Currency Translation is not adjusted for
income taxes. Changes in our Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) balances, net of tax, for the three months ended June 30, 2015 were as
follows:

 
Gain (Loss) on Available

for Sale Securities (1)  Defined Benefit Plans (2)  
Foreign Currency

Translation  

Total Accumulated
Other Comprehensive

Income
(Loss)

Balance at March 31, 2015 $ 1,068  $ (8,889)  $ (58,848)  $ (66,669)
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) before
reclassifications (930)  199  13,798  13,067
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 82  (352)  —  (270)
Net current-period Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss) (848)  (153)  13,798  12,797

Balance at June 30, 2015 $ 220  $ (9,042)  $ (45,050)  $ (53,872)
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Details of amounts reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) are as follows:

(1) Realized gain (loss) on available for sale securities is reported in the interest income and miscellaneous expense line of the Consolidated Statements of
Income.
(2) Amortization (gain) of defined benefit pension items is reported in the selling, general and administrative expense line of the Consolidated Statements of
Income.

18. Business Acquisitions

Proposed Combination with Synergy Health plc

On October 13, 2014, we announced that we were commencing a "recommended offer" under U.K. law to acquire all outstanding shares of Synergy in a
cash and stock transaction valued at £19.50 ($31.35) per Synergy share, or a total of approximately $1.9 billion based on STERIS’s closing stock price of
$56.38 per share on October 10, 2014, through a newly formed U.K. entity that also would indirectly acquire all of the outstanding stock of STERIS (the
"Combination"). Based on STERIS’s closing stock price of $67.00 and exchange rates as of February 3, 2015, the total value of the cash and stock transaction
is approximately $2.1 billion or £23.42 ($35.52) per Synergy share. The Combination is subject to certain customary closing conditions, including approvals
by STERIS and Synergy shareholders as well as regulatory approvals by the FTC. The FTC has brought administrative actions against STERIS and Synergy
seeking to block the Combination and filed suit in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio seeking to enjoin the Combination (see
note 9 titled, "Commitments and Contingencies" for further information).

Total costs of approximately $9,384 before tax, were incurred during the first three months of fiscal year 2016 related to the Combination and are
reported in selling, general and administrative expense.

Fiscal 2016 Acquisitions

On June 12, 2015 we acquired the capital stock of Black Diamond Video, Inc. ( "Black Diamond"), a California-based developer and provider of operating
room integration systems. The purchase price was approximately $51,096, which includes deferred consideration of $6,000, to be paid approximately twelve
months after the closing date, and contingent consideration of $5,000, and is subject to a working capital adjustment. The transaction consideration paid at
closing was funded with cash on hand. Black Diamond is being integrated into our Healthcare business segment. The allocation of premium to intangibles and
goodwill is preliminary and will be finalized after the valuation reports are completed.

We also completed three other minor purchases that continued to expand our offerings in the Healthcare and Life Sciences segments. The total purchase
price associated with these transactions was approximately $5,562, including potential contingent consideration of $1,760.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the operating results of the 2016 acquisitions from the acquisition dates. Pro-forma results of operations
for the fiscal 2015 periods have not been presented because the effects of the acquisition were not material to our financial results. We recorded an
insignificant amount of acquisition related costs for each fiscal 2016 acquisition which are reported in selling, general and administrative expense.

The table below summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on fair values at the acquisition date.
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 Black Diamond (1)
Other

Acquisitions (1)
Accounts receivable $ 2,950 $ 439
Inventory 3,304 109
Property, plant and equipment 607 62
Other assets 43 —
Intangible assets 15,035 1,678
Goodwill 33,553 3,414
Total assets acquired 55,492 5,702
   
Accounts payable (2,513) (139)
Current liabilities (1,883) (1)
Total liabilities assumed (4,396) (140)
   
Net assets acquired $ 51,096 $ 5,562

(1) Purchase price allocation is still preliminary as of June 30, 2015, as valuations have not been finalized.

19. Subsequent Events

On July 31, 2015 we acquired all of the outstanding shares of General Econopak, Inc. (“Econopak”) for a purchase price of $175,000 in cash, subject to
a customary working capital adjustment. Econopak is a Pennsylvania-based manufacturer of product solutions in the areas of sterility maintenance, barrier
protection, and sterile cleanroom products for pharmaceutical, biotechnology and veterinary Customers. Econopak will be integrated into our Life Sciences
business segment. The purchase price was financed through a combination of credit facility borrowings and cash on hand. We anticipate that the acquisition
will qualify for joint election tax benefit under Section 338 (h)(10) of the Internal Revenue Code.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our 2015 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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20. U.K. Takeover Code Directors’ Confirmation

Under Rule 28.1 of the U.K.’s City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeover Code”) which applies in light of our proposed acquisition of
Synergy Health, our directors must provide a so-called “directors’ confirmation” in respect of our Consolidated Net Income for the three months ended June
30, 2015 reported in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Net Income Statement”) since it constitutes an unaudited profit estimate for the purposes of the
Takeover Code. Accordingly, our directors confirm that:

(i)        the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2015, has been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions
contained or referred to in this Quarterly Report; and

(ii)       the basis of accounting used for the purposes of preparing the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2015, is
consistent with our accounting policies.
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Review Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
STERIS Corporation

We have reviewed the consolidated balance sheet of STERIS Corporation and Subsidiaries (“STERIS”) as of June 30, 2015, and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income and cash flows for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014. These financial statements are the
responsibility of STERIS management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated financial statements referred to above for them
to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheet of STERIS Corporation and Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein) and we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements in our report dated May 27, 2015. In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of STERIS Corporation and Subsidiaries as of
March 31, 2015 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
August 7, 2015
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction

In Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (the “MD&A”), we explain the general financial condition
and the results of operations for STERIS including:

 

• what factors affect our business;
• what our earnings and costs were in each period presented; 

• why those earnings and costs were different from prior periods;
• where our earnings came from;
• how this affects our overall financial condition;
• what our expenditures for capital projects were; and
• where cash will come from to fund future debt principal repayments, growth outside of core operations, repurchase common shares, pay cash

dividends and fund future working capital needs.

As you read the MD&A, it may be helpful to refer to information in our consolidated financial statements, which present the results of our operations for
the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015. It may also be helpful to read the MD&A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2015, dated May 27, 2015. In the MD&A, we analyze and explain the period-over-period changes in the specific line items in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Our analysis may be important to you in making decisions about your investments in STERIS.

Financial Measures

In the following sections of the MD&A, we may, at times, refer to financial measures that are not required to be presented in the consolidated financial
statements under U.S. GAAP. We sometimes use the following financial measures in the context of this report: backlog; debt-to-total capital; net debt-to-total
capital; and days sales outstanding. We define these financial measures as follows:

 

• Backlog – We define backlog as the amount of unfilled capital equipment purchase orders at a point in time. We use this figure as a measure to assist
in the projection of short-term financial results and inventory requirements.

• Debt-to-total capital – We define debt-to-total capital as total debt divided by the sum of total debt and shareholders’ equity. We use this figure as a
financial liquidity measure to gauge our ability to borrow and fund growth.

• Net debt-to-total capital – We define net debt-to-total capital as total debt less cash (“net debt”) divided by the sum of net debt and shareholders’
equity. We also use this figure as a financial liquidity measure to gauge our ability to borrow and fund growth.

• Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) – We define DSO as the average collection period for accounts receivable. It is calculated as net accounts receivable
divided by the trailing four quarters’ revenues, multiplied by 365 days. We use this figure to help gauge the quality of accounts receivable and
expected time to collect.

We, at times, may also refer to financial measures which are considered to be “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules. We have presented these
financial measures because we believe that meaningful analysis of our financial performance is enhanced by an understanding of certain additional factors
underlying that performance. These financial measures should not be considered an alternative to measures required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. Our calculations of these measures may differ from calculations of similar measures used by other companies and you should
be careful when comparing these financial measures to those of other companies. Additional information regarding these financial measures, including
reconciliations of each non- GAAP financial measure, is available in the subsection of MD&A titled, "Non-GAAP Financial Measures."

Revenues – Defined

As required by Regulation S-X, we separately present revenues generated as either product revenues or service revenues on our Consolidated Statements
of Income for each period presented. When we discuss revenues, we may, at times, refer to revenues summarized differently than the Regulation S-X
requirements. The terminology, definitions, and applications of terms that we use to describe revenues may be different from terms used by other companies.
We use the following terms to describe revenues:
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• Revenues – Our revenues are presented net of sales returns and allowances.
• Product Revenues – We define product revenues as revenues generated from sales of consumable and capital equipment products.
• Service Revenues – We define service revenues as revenues generated from parts and labor associated with the maintenance, repair, and installation

of our capital equipment, instrument repair and endoscope repair services, and revenues generated from contract sterilization offered through our
Isomedix segment.

• Capital Revenues – We define capital revenues as revenues generated from sales of capital equipment, which includes steam sterilizers, low
temperature liquid chemical sterilant processing systems, including SYSTEM 1 and 1E, washing systems, VHP® technology, water stills, and pure
steam generators; surgical lights and tables; and integrated OR.

• Consumable Revenues – We define consumable revenues as revenues generated from sales of the consumable family of products, which includes
SYSTEM 1 and 1E consumables, V-Pro consumables, gastrointestinal endoscopy accessories, sterility assurance products, skin care products,
cleaning consumables, and surgical instruments.

• Recurring Revenues – We define recurring revenues as revenues generated from sales of consumable products and service revenues.

General Company Overview and Executive Summary

Our mission is to help our Customers create a healthier and safer world by providing innovative healthcare and life science product and service solutions
around the globe. Our dedicated employees around the world work together to supply a broad range of solutions by offering a combination of capital
equipment, consumables, and services to healthcare, pharmaceutical, industrial, and governmental Customers.

The bulk of our revenues are derived from the healthcare and pharmaceutical industries. Much of the growth in these industries is driven by the aging of
the population throughout the world, as an increasing number of individuals are entering their prime healthcare consumption years, and is dependent upon
advancement in healthcare delivery, acceptance of new technologies, government policies, and general economic conditions. In addition, each of our core
industries is experiencing specific trends that could increase demand. Within healthcare, there is increased concern regarding the level of hospital-acquired
infections around the world. The pharmaceutical industry has been impacted by increased FDA scrutiny of cleaning and validation processes, mandating that
manufacturers improve their processes. The aging population increases the demand for medical procedures, which increases the consumption of single use
medical devices and surgical kits processed by our Isomedix segment.

We are actively pursuing new opportunities to adapt our proven technologies to meet the changing needs of the global marketplace.

On October 13, 2014, we announced that we were commencing a "recommended offer" under U.K. law to acquire all outstanding shares of Synergy
Health plc (“Synergy”) in a cash and stock transaction valued at £19.50 ($31.35) per Synergy share, or a total of approximately $1.9 billion based on
STERIS’s closing stock price of $56.38 per share on October 10, 2014, through a newly formed U.K. entity that also would indirectly acquire all of the
outstanding stock of STERIS (the "Combination"). Based on STERIS’s closing stock price of $67.00 and exchange rates as of February 3, 2015, the total
value of the cash and stock transaction is approximately $2.1 billion or £23.42 ($35.52) per Synergy share. The Combination is subject to certain customary
closing conditions, including approvals by STERIS and Synergy shareholders as well as regulatory approvals by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission
("FTC"). On May 28, 2015, the FTC brought an administrative complaint against STERIS and Synergy seeking to block the proposed Combination. The next
day, the FTC filed suit against STERIS and Synergy in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, seeking to enjoin the Combination
until the administrative challenge is adjudicated. In both complaints the FTC asserts that the Combination will have an anti-competitive effect. STERIS and
Synergy deny the FTC’s allegations. An evidentiary hearing in the District Court preliminary-injunction action is set for August 17, 2015, and the
administrative hearing is scheduled to begin on October 28, 2015 before an Administrative Law Judge.

We also are pursuing a strategy of expanding into adjacent markets with acquisitions in the Healthcare and Life Sciences segments. On June 12, 2015 we
acquired the capital stock of Black Diamond Video, Inc. ("Black Diamond"), a California-based developer and provider of operating room integration
systems. We also completed three other minor purchases that continued to expand our offerings in the Healthcare and Life Sciences segments.

Fiscal 2016 first quarter revenues were $439.9 million, representing an increase of 6.6% over the prior year, reflecting growth within the Healthcare and
Isomedix business segments. Our gross margin percentage for the fiscal 2016 first quarter was 41.8% compared to 41.2% in the same fiscal 2015 period. Our
gross margin percentage was impacted by the positive impact of foreign currency and increased volume which was somewhat offset by the negative impact of
unfavorable product mix and inflation.

Fiscal 2016 first quarter operating income was essentially flat at $44.2 million.
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Cash flows from operations were $41.2 million and free cash flow was $17.7 million in the first three months of fiscal 2016 compared to $46.4 million
and $23.1 million in the prior year first three months, respectively (see the subsection below titled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures", for additional
information and related reconciliation of cash flows from operations to free cash flow). The decreases in cash flow from operations and free cash flow are
primarily due to expenses incurred as part of our proposed Combination with Synergy and an increased payout level in regards to our annual compensation
program paid in fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015.

Our debt-to-total capital ratio was 38.5% at June 30, 2015 and 36.7% at March 31, 2015. During the first three months of fiscal 2016, we declared and
paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.23 per common share.

Additional information regarding our fiscal 2016 first quarter financial performance is included in the subsection below titled “Results of Operations.”

Matters Affecting Comparability

International Operations. Since we conduct operations outside of the United States using various foreign currencies, our operating results are impacted
by foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar. During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, our revenues were unfavorably impacted by $7.2 million, or
1.6%, and income before taxes was favorably impacted by $4.8 million, or 14.3%, as a result of foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We, at times, refer to financial measures which are considered to be “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules. We, at times, also refer to our
results of operations excluding certain transactions or amounts that are non-recurring or are not indicative of future results, in order to provide meaningful
comparisons between the periods presented.

These non-GAAP financial measures are not intended to be, and should not be, considered separately from or as an alternative to the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures.

These non-GAAP financial measures are presented with the intent of providing greater transparency to supplemental financial information used by
management and the Board of Directors in their financial analysis and operational decision-making. These amounts are disclosed so that the reader has the
same financial data that management uses with the belief that it will assist investors and other readers in making comparisons to our historical operating
results and analyzing the underlying performance of our operations for the periods presented.

We believe that the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures, when considered along with our GAAP financial measures and the
reconciliation to the corresponding GAAP financial measures, provide the reader with a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our
business than could be obtained absent this disclosure. It is important for the reader to note that the non-GAAP financial measure used may be calculated
differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, a similarly titled measure used by other companies.

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows less purchases of
property, plant, equipment, and intangibles plus proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, which are also presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. We use this as a measure to gauge our ability to fund future debt principal repayments, growth outside of core
operations, repurchase common shares, and pay cash dividends. The following table summarizes the calculation of our free cash flow for the three month
periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014: 

  Three Months Ended June 30,
(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 41,153  $ 46,353
Purchases of property, plant, equipment and intangibles, net  (23,518)  (23,331)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, equipment and intangibles  28  71
Free cash flow  $ 17,663  $ 23,093

Results of Operations

In the following subsections, we discuss our earnings and the factors affecting them for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 compared with the same fiscal
2015 period. We begin with a general overview of our operating results and then separately discuss earnings for our operating segments.
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Revenues. The following table compares our revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to the revenues for the three months ended June 30,
2014:
 

 Three Months Ended June 30,       
(dollars in thousands) 2015  2014  Change  Percent Change  

         

Total revenues $ 439,902  $ 412,643  $ 27,259  6.6 %  
         

Revenues by type:         
Capital equipment revenues 118,220  120,395  (2,175)  (1.8)%  
Consumable revenues 114,087  110,045  4,042  3.7 %  
Service revenues 207,595  182,203  25,392  13.9 %  

         

Revenues by geography:         
United States revenues 360,469  317,351  43,118  13.6 %  
International revenues 79,433  95,292  (15,859)  (16.6)%  

         

Revenues increased $27.3 million, or 6.6%, to $439.9 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $412.6 million for the same prior year
quarter. Capital equipment revenues decreased $2.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, as compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2015. This decrease
was driven primarily by lower volumes within the Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA"), Asia Pacific and Latin America regions, which was partially
offset by growth within the North America region. Consumable revenues increased $4.0 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to the prior
year quarter, driven largely by growth within the North America, Asia Pacific and Latin America regions. Service revenues increased $25.4 million in the first
quarter of fiscal 2016 primarily driven by an increase within the North America region and increases in other service offerings.

 
United States revenues increased $43.1 million, or 13.6%, to $360.5 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $317.4 million for the

same prior year quarter. This increase reflects year over year growth of 15.7%, 5.1% and 17.1% in capital equipment, consumable and service revenues,
respectively.

International revenues decreased $15.9 million, or 16.6%, to $79.4 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $95.3 million for the
same prior year quarter. The decrease is primarily attributable to a year over year decrease of 23.4% within the EMEA region.

Gross Profit. The following table compares our gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to the three months ended June 30, 2014:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
Change  

Percent
Change(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014  

Gross profit:         
Product  $ 102,451  $ 100,465  $ 1,986  2.0%
Service  81,639  69,628  12,011  17.3%

Total gross profit  $ 184,090  $ 170,093  $ 13,997  8.2%
Gross profit percentage:         

Product  44.1%  43.6%     
Service  39.3%  38.2%     

Total gross profit percentage  41.8%  41.2%     

Our gross profit percentage is affected by the volume, pricing, and mix of sales of our products and services, as well as the costs associated with the
products and services that are sold. Gross profit percentage for the first quarter of fiscal 2016
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amounted to 41.8% as compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2015 gross profit percentage of 41.2%. Our gross profit percentage increased 60 basis points in
fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015. Our gross profit percentage was impacted by the positive impact of foreign currency (110 basis points) and increased volume (10
basis points), which was offset somewhat by the negative impact of inflation (40 basis points) and unfavorable mix/other (20 basis points).

Operating Expenses. The following table compares our operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to the three months ended June 30,
2014:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,  
Change  

Percent
Change(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014  

Operating expenses:         
Selling, general, and administrative  $ 126,835  $ 113,688  $ 13,147  11.6%
Research and development  13,765  12,409  1,356  10.9%
Restructuring expenses  (726)  (172)  (554)  NM

Total operating expenses  $ 139,874  $ 125,925  $ 13,949  11.1%
NM - Not meaningful.

Significant components of total selling, general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) are compensation and benefit costs, fees for professional
services, travel and entertainment, facilities costs, and other general and administrative expenses. The increase of 11.6% in the first quarter of fiscal 2016 over
the first quarter of fiscal 2015 is largely attributable to expenses of approximately $9.4 million incurred as part of our proposed Combination with Synergy
and additional operating expenses of our recently acquired businesses.

 
For the three month period ended June 30, 2015, research and development expenses increased 10.9% over the same period in the prior year. The

increase in fiscal 2016 was primarily attributable to additional spending in connection with the development of surgical related products and accessories.
Research and development expenses also are influenced by the number and timing of in-process projects and labor hours and other costs associated with these
projects. Our research and development initiatives continue to emphasize new product development, product improvements, and the development of new
technological platform innovations. During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, our investments in research and development continued to be focused on, but were
not limited to, enhancing capabilities of sterile processing combination technologies, surgical products and accessories, and devices and support accessories
used in gastrointestinal endoscopy procedures.

Restructuring Expenses. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we adopted and announced a targeted restructuring plan primarily focused on the
closure of our Hopkins manufacturing facility located in Mentor, Ohio (the “Fiscal 2014 Restructuring Plan”). As a result of this plan, we will transfer
operations located at Hopkins to other North American locations. We believe that by closing the operations at Hopkins we will more effectively utilize our
existing North American manufacturing network while reducing operating costs.

Since the inception of the Restructuring Plan we have incurred pre-tax expenses totaling $19.0 million related to these actions, of which $11.0 million was
recorded as restructuring expenses and $8.1 million was recorded in cost of revenues, with restructuring expenses of $16.9 million, $0.8 million, and $1.3
million related to the Healthcare, Life Sciences and Isomedix segments, respectively.

The following table summarizes our total pre-tax restructuring expenses for the first quarter of fiscal 2016:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fiscal 2014
Restructuring

Plan (1)

Severance and other compensation related costs $ (806)
Lease termination obligation and other 80
Product rationalization 277

Total restructuring expenses $ (449)
(1) Includes $277 in expense recorded of cost of revenues on Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The following table summarizes our total pre-tax restructuring expenses for the first quarter of fiscal 2015:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014 (dollars in thousands)

Fiscal 2014
Restructuring

Plan (2)

Severance and other compensation related costs $ (196)
Asset impairment and accelerated depreciation (38)
Lease termination obligation and other 62
Product rationalization (114)

Total restructuring expenses $ (286)
(2) Includes ($114) in expense recorded of cost of revenues on Consolidated Statements of Income.

Non-Operating Expenses, Net. Non-operating expenses, net consists of interest expense on debt, offset by interest earned on cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investment balances, and other miscellaneous income. The following table compares our net non-operating expenses for the three months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   

(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014  Change

Non-operating expenses, net:       
Interest expense  $ 6,120  $ 4,682  $ 1,438
Interest income and miscellaneous expense  (462)  (220)  (242)

Non-operating expenses, net  $ 5,658  $ 4,462  $ 1,196

Interest expense during the fiscal 2016 period increased due to higher interest costs from our May 2015 issuance of senior notes in a private placement.
Interest income and miscellaneous expense is immaterial.

Income Tax Expense. The following table compares our income tax expense and effective income tax rates for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to
the three months ended June 30, 2014:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
Change  

Percent
Change(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014  

Income tax expense  $ 14,267  $ 15,169  $ (902)  (5.9)%
Effective income tax rate  37.0%  38.2%     
 

Income tax expense includes United States federal, state and local, and foreign income taxes, and is based on reported pre-tax income. The effective
income tax rates for continuing operations for the three month period ended June 30, 2015 was 37.0% compared with 38.2% for the same prior year period.
The first quarter of fiscal 2015 was unfavorably impacted by higher pretax losses in jurisdictions for which no tax benefit is recognized.

We record income tax expense during interim periods based on our estimate of the annual effective income tax rate, adjusted each quarter for discrete
items. We analyze various factors to determine the estimated annual effective income tax rate, including projections of our annual earnings and taxing
jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local income taxes, our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss
carryforwards, and available tax planning alternatives.

Business Segment Results of Operations. We operate in three reportable business segments: Healthcare, Life Sciences, and Isomedix. Corporate and
other, which is presented separately, contains the Defense and Industrial business unit plus costs that are associated with being a publicly traded company and
certain other corporate costs. These costs include executive office costs, Board of Directors compensation, shareholder services and investor relations,
external audit fees, and legacy pension and post-retirement benefit costs. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27,
2015, provides additional information regarding each business segment. The following table compares business segment revenues for the three months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014:
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(dollars in thousands)  
Three Months Ended June 30,  

Change  
Percent
Change2015  2014  

Revenues:         
Healthcare  $ 329,327  $ 302,810  $ 26,517  8.8 %
Life Sciences  56,772  58,614  (1,842)  (3.1)%
Isomedix  53,689  51,193  2,496  4.9 %

Total reportable segments  439,788  412,617  27,171  6.6 %
Corporate and other  114  26  88  338.5 %

Total Revenues  $ 439,902  $ 412,643  $ 27,259  6.6 %
 

Healthcare revenues increased $26.5 million, or 8.8%, to $329.3 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $302.8 million for the same
prior year quarter. This growth reflects increases of 1.4%, 3.1% and 19.9%, in capital equipment, consumable and service revenues, respectively. These
increases are primarily attributable to the addition of capital equipment and service revenues from our recent acquisitions, as well as growth within our core
capital equipment, consumable and service revenues. At June 30, 2015, the Healthcare segment’s backlog amounted to $119.8 million, decreasing $5.2
million, or 4.2%, compared to the backlog of $125.0 million at June 30, 2014.

Life Sciences revenues decreased $1.8 million, or 3.1%, to $56.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $58.6 million for the same
prior year quarter. The growth of 6.1% in consumable revenues and 2.5% in service revenues was more than offset by a 20.0% decline in capital equipment
revenues, which was primarily due to the timing of shipments. At June 30, 2015, the Life Sciences segment’s backlog amounted to $48.6 million, increasing
$2.6 million, or 5.6%, compared to the backlog of $46.0 million at June 30, 2014.

Isomedix segment revenues increased $2.5 million, or 4.9%, to $53.7 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $51.2 million for the
same prior year quarter. Revenues were favorably impacted by increased volume from our core medical device Customers.

The following table compares our business segment operating results for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to the three months ended June 30, 2014:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
Change  

Percent
Change(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014  

Operating income:         
Healthcare  $ 17,675  $ 17,966  $ (291)  (1.6)%
Life Sciences  13,233  11,945  1,288  10.8 %
Isomedix  15,250  16,191  (941)  (5.8)%

Total reportable segments  46,158  46,102  56  0.1 %
Corporate and other  (1,942)  (1,934)  (8)  (0.4)%

Total operating income  $ 44,216  $ 44,168  $ 48  0.1 %

Segment operating income is calculated as the segment’s gross profit less direct expenses and indirect cost allocations, which results in the full allocation
of all distribution and research and development expenses, and the partial allocation of corporate costs. Corporate cost allocations are based on each
segment’s percentage of revenues, headcount, or other variables in relation to those of the total Company. In addition, the Healthcare segment is responsible
for the management of all but one manufacturing facility and uses standard cost to sell products to the Life Sciences segment. Corporate and other includes
the revenues, gross profit and direct expenses of the Defense and Industrial business unit, as well as certain unallocated corporate costs related to being a
publicly traded company and legacy pension and post-retirement benefits, as previously discussed.

The Healthcare segment’s operating income decreased by $0.3 million to $17.7 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016, as compared to $18.0 million in
the same prior year period. The segment's operating margins were 5.4% and 5.9% for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The slight
decrease in fiscal 2016 was primarily the result of expenses associated with our proposed Combination with Synergy, which was offset by the positive impact
of increased volume and favorable foreign currency exchange rates.
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The Life Sciences segment’s operating income increased $1.3 million to $13.2 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016, as compared to the same prior
year period. The segment’s operating margins were 23.3% and 20.4% for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The increase was
primarily the result of positive foreign currency impact and favorable product mix.

The Isomedix segment’s operating income decreased $0.9 million to $15.3 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2016, as compared to the same prior year
period. The segment’s operating margins were 28.4% and 31.6% for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, respectively. The decrease was primarily
the result of additional costs incurred for the disposal Cobalt 60, and expenses associated with our proposed Combination with Synergy, which were partially
offset by an increase in volume.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes significant components of our cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,
(dollars in thousands)  2015  2014

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 41,153  $ 46,353
Net cash used in investing activities  $ (67,800)  $ (202,272)
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 50,232  $ 158,467
Debt-to-total capital ratio  38.5%  38.3%
Free cash flow  $ 17,663  $ 23,093

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities – The net cash provided by our operating activities was $41.2 million for the first three months of fiscal 2016
as compared with $46.4 million for the first three months of fiscal 2015. This decrease is primarily due to expenses incurred as part of our proposed
Combination with Synergy and an increased payout level in regards to our annual compensation program paid in fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015.

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities – The net cash used in investing activities totaled $67.8 million for the first three months of fiscal 2016 compared
with $202.3 million for the first three months of fiscal 2015. The following discussion summarizes the significant changes in our investing cash flows for the
first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015:
 

• Purchases of property, plant, equipment, and intangibles, net – Capital expenditures were $23.5 million for the first three months of fiscal 2016 as
compared to $23.3 million during the same prior year period.

• Investments in businesses, net of cash acquired– During fiscal 2016, we used $43.9 million for acquisitions. For more information on our fiscal 2016
acquisitions refer to note 18 of our consolidated financial statements titled "Business Acquisitions". We also paid a working capital settlement of
$0.4 million for the fiscal 2015 acquisition of Dana Products, Inc. During the first quarter of fiscal 2015, we used $173.2 million of cash for the
acquisition of IMS and related real estate. During the first quarter of fiscal 2015, we also paid a working capital settlement of $0.8 million and
deferred consideration of $5.0 million for the fiscal 2014 acquisition of Eschmann Holdings Ltd. For more information on our fiscal 2015 and fiscal
2014 acquisitions refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015.

Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities – The net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $50.2 million for the first three months of fiscal
2016 compared with net cash provided by financing activities of $158.5 million for the first three months of fiscal 2015. The following discussion
summarizes the significant changes in our financing cash flows for the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015:

• Proceeds (payments) under credit facilities– At June 30, 2015, we had no debt outstanding under our credit facilities, reflecting net payments of
$283.3 million. At June 30, 2014, we had $318.7 million of debt outstanding under our revolving credit facility, reflecting net borrowings of $165.3
million.

• Proceeds from issuance of long-term obligations- On May 15, 2015, we issued $350.0 million of senior notes in a private placement, which are long-
term obligations. For more information on these senior notes refer to note 5 of our consolidated financial statements titled "Debt".

• Deferred financing fees and debt issuance costs- During the first three months of fiscal 2016, we paid $2.0 million in financing fees and debt
issuance costs related to our Credit Agreement and Private Placement Debt.
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• Repurchases of common shares – During the first three months of fiscal 2016, we obtained 144,848 of our common shares in connection with share-
based compensation award programs in the aggregate amount of $9.6 million. During the same period in fiscal 2015, we obtained 125,998 of our
common shares in connection with stock based compensation award programs in the aggregate amount of $5.3 million.

• Cash dividends paid to common shareholders – During the first three months of fiscal 2016, we paid total cash dividends of $13.8 million, or $0.23
per outstanding common share. During the first three months of fiscal 2015, we paid total cash dividends of $12.5 million, or $0.21 per outstanding
common share.

• Stock option and other equity transactions, net – We generally receive cash for issuing common shares under our various employee stock option
programs. During the first three months of fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015, we received cash proceeds totaling $4.9 million and $7.2 million,
respectively, under these programs.

• Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation – During the first three months of fiscal 2016, we received a total tax benefit from share-based
compensation of $3.9 million. During the first three months of fiscal 2015, we received a total tax benefit from share based compensation of $3.8
million.

Cash Flow Measures. Free cash flow was $17.7 million in the first three months of fiscal 2016 compared to $23.1 million in the prior year first three
months (see the subsection above titled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures", for additional information and related reconciliation of cash flows from operations
to free cash flow). This decrease is primarily due to expenses incurred in connection with our proposed Combination with Synergy and an increased payout
level in regards to our annual compensation program paid in fiscal 2016 over fiscal 2015.

Our debt-to-total capital ratio was 38.5% at June 30, 2015 and 38.3% at June 30, 2014.

Sources of Credit and Contractual and Commercial Commitments. Information related to our sources of credit and contractual and commercial
commitments is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015. Our commercial commitments were
approximately $41.9 million at June 30, 2015 reflecting a net increase of $1.9 million in surety bonds and other commercial commitments from March 31,
2015. We had no outstanding borrowing under the Credit Agreement as of June 30, 2015. There were no letters of credit outstanding under the Credit
Agreement at June 30, 2015.

Cash Requirements. We intend to use our existing cash and cash equivalent balances and cash generated from operations for short-term and long-term
capital expenditures and our other liquidity needs. In addition, in light of cash needs relating to our proposed Combination with Synergy (see "Proposed
Combination with Synergy Health plc" under "General Overview and Executive Summary" ), and other cash requirements, it was necessary to replace our
existing bank credit facilities with an expanded bank credit facility providing for additional credit availability and to obtain additional debt. Our capital
requirements depend on many uncertain factors, including our rate of sales growth, our Customers’ acceptance of our products and services, the costs of
obtaining adequate manufacturing capacities, the timing and extent of our research and development projects, changes in our operating expenses and other
factors. To the extent that existing and anticipated sources of cash are not sufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds
through additional borrowings or the sale of equity securities. We have a bridge facility available to us should the referenced Combination close without
sufficient permanent financing in place. There can be no assurance that the foregoing financing arrangements will provide us with sufficient additional funds
or that we will be able to obtain any additional funds we may need on terms favorable to us or at all.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates, and Assumptions

Information related to our critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015. Our critical accounting policies, estimates, and assumptions have not changed materially from March 31, 2015.

Contingencies

 We are, and will likely continue to be, involved in a number of legal proceedings, government investigations, and claims, which we believe generally
arise in the course of our business, given our size, history, complexity, and the nature of our business, products, Customers, regulatory environment, and
industries in which we participate. These legal proceedings, investigations and claims generally involve a variety of legal theories and allegations, including,
without limitation, personal injury (e.g., slip and falls, burns, vehicle accidents), product liability or regulation (e.g., based on product operation or claimed
malfunction, failure to warn, failure to meet specification, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements), product exposure
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(e.g., claimed exposure to chemicals, asbestos, contaminants, radiation), property damage (e.g., claimed damage due to leaking equipment, fire, vehicles,
chemicals), commercial claims (e.g., breach of contract, economic loss, warranty, misrepresentation), financial (e.g., taxes, reporting), employment (e.g.,
wrongful termination, discrimination, benefits matters), and other claims for damage and relief.

We record a liability for such contingencies to the extent we conclude that their occurrence is both probable and estimable. We consider many factors in
making these assessments, including the professional judgment of experienced members of management and our legal counsel. We have made estimates as to
the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and the amounts of such potential losses. In our opinion, the ultimate outcome of these proceedings and claims is not
anticipated to have a material adverse affect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, the ultimate outcome of
proceedings, government investigations, and claims is unpredictable and actual results could be materially different from our estimates. We record expected
recoveries under applicable insurance contracts when we are assured of recovery. Refer to note 9 of our consolidated financial statements titled,
"Commitments and Contingencies" for additional information.

We are subject to taxation from United States federal, state and local, and foreign jurisdictions. Tax positions are settled primarily through the completion
of audits within each individual tax jurisdiction or the closing of a statute of limitation. Changes in applicable tax law or other events may also require us to
revise past estimates. The IRS routinely conducts audits of our federal income tax returns.

International Operations

Since we conduct operations outside of the United States using various foreign currencies, our operating results are impacted by foreign currency
movements relative to the U.S. dollar. During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, our revenues were unfavorably impacted by $7.2 million, or 1.6%, and income
before taxes was favorably impacted by $4.8 million, or 14.3%, as a result of foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, that have or are reasonably likely to have, a material current or future impact on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues, expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-Q may contain statements concerning certain trends, expectations, forecasts, estimates, or other forward-looking information affecting or
relating to Synergy Health plc (“Synergy”) or STERIS or its industry, products or activities that are intended to qualify for the protections afforded "forward-
looking statements" under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other laws and regulations. Forward-looking statements speak only as to
the date of this report, and may be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as "may," "will," "expects," "believes," "anticipates," "plans,"
"estimates," "projects," "targets," "forecasts," "outlook," "impact," "potential," "confidence," "improve," "optimistic," "deliver," "comfortable," "trend", and
"seeks," or the negative of such terms or other variations on such terms or comparable terminology. Many important factors could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements including, without limitation, disruption of production or supplies, changes in market conditions,
political events, pending or future claims or litigation, competitive factors, technology advances, actions of regulatory agencies, and changes in laws,
government regulations, labeling or product approvals or the application or interpretation thereof. Other risk factors are described herein and in STERIS and
Synergy's other securities filings, including Item 1A of STERIS's Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in Synergy's annual report and accounts for the year
ended 30 March 2014 (section headed "principal risks and uncertainties"). Many of these important factors are outside STERIS's or Synergy's control. No
assurances can be provided as to any result or the timing of any outcome regarding matters described herein or otherwise with respect to any regulatory
action, administrative proceedings, government investigations, litigation, warning letters, cost reductions, business strategies, earnings or revenue trends or
future financial results. References to products are summaries only and should not be considered the specific terms of the product clearance or literature.
Unless legally required, STERIS and Synergy do not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements even if events make clear that any
projected results, express or implied, will not be realized. Other potential risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation, (a) the potential for increased pressure on pricing or costs that leads to erosion of profit
margins, (b) the possibility that market demand will not develop for new technologies, products or applications or services, or business initiatives will take
longer, cost more or produce lower benefits than anticipated, (c) the possibility that application of or compliance with laws, court rulings, certifications,
regulations, regulatory actions, including without limitation those relating to FDA warning notices or letters, government investigations, the outcome of any
pending FDA requests, inspections or
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submissions, or other requirements or standards may delay, limit or prevent new product introductions, affect the production and marketing of existing
products or services or otherwise affect Company or Synergy's performance, results, prospects or value, (d) the potential of international unrest, economic
downturn or effects of currencies, tax assessments, adjustments or anticipated rates, raw material costs or availability, benefit or retirement plan costs, or other
regulatory compliance costs, (e) the possibility of reduced demand, or reductions in the rate of growth in demand, for Company or Synergy products and
services, (f) the possibility that anticipated growth, cost savings, new product acceptance, performance or approvals, or other results may not be achieved, or
that transition, labor, competition, timing, execution, regulatory, governmental, or other issues or risks associated with STERIS and Synergy's businesses,
industry or initiatives including, without limitation, those matters described in STERIS's Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015 and other securities
filings, may adversely impact Company performance, results, prospects or value, (g) the possibility that anticipated financial results or benefits of recent
acquisitions, or of STERIS's restructuring efforts will not be realized or will be other than anticipated, (h) the effects of the contractions in credit availability,
as well as the ability of STERIS and Synergy's Customers and suppliers to adequately access the credit markets when needed, (i) the receipt of approval of
both STERIS's shareholders and Synergy's shareholders for the proposed transaction with Synergy (the “Synergy transaction”), (j) the outcome of the
litigation with the FTC relating to the Synergy transaction or the timing or any settlement thereof, (k) the parties’ ability to meet expectations regarding the
timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments of the Synergy transaction, (l) the possibility that the parties may be unable to achieve expected
synergies and operating efficiencies in connection with the Synergy transaction within the expected time-frames or at all and to successfully integrate
Synergy’s operations into those of STERIS, (m) the integration of Synergy’s operations into those of STERIS being more difficult, time-consuming or costly
than expected, (n) operating costs, Customer loss and business disruption (including, without limitations, difficulties in maintaining relationships with
employees, Customers, clients or suppliers) being greater than expected following the Synergy transaction, (o) the retention of certain key employees of
Synergy being difficult, (p) changes in tax laws or interpretations that could increase the consolidated tax liabilities of Synergy and STERIS, including, if the
transaction is consummated, changes in tax laws that would result in the new parent UK holding company being treated as a domestic corporation for United
States federal tax purposes, and (q) those risks described in STERIS's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, and other securities
filings.

Availability of Securities and Exchange Commission Filings

We make available free of charge on or through our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish such material to, the Securities
Exchange Commission ("SEC.") You may access these documents on the Investor Relations page of our website at http://www.steris-ir.com. The information
on our website is not incorporated by reference into this report. You may also obtain copies of these documents by visiting the SEC’s Public Reference Room
at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549, or by accessing the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may obtain information on the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity risks. Information related to these risks and our
management of these exposures is included in Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,” in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015. Our exposures to market risks have not changed materially since March 31, 2015.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including the Principal Executive Officer (“PEO”) and Principal Financial Officer
(“PFO”), we evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, including the
assessment and input of our management, the PEO and PFO concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information regarding our legal proceedings is included in this Form 10-Q in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Commitments and
Contingencies" and in Item 7 of Part II, titled “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations," of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Please see the description of the proceedings regarding the Combination in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements titled, "Commitments and
Contingencies". We believe there have been no other material changes to the risk factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2015, dated May 27, 2015, that would materially affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we obtained 144,848 of our common shares in connection with stock based compensation award programs. As of
June 30, 2015, $86.9 million in common shares remained authorized for repurchase under a single repurchase program which was approved by our Board of
Directors and announced on March 14, 2008, authorizing the repurchase of up to $300.0 million of our common shares. This common share repurchase
authorization does not have a stated maturity date. The following table summarizes the common share repurchase activity during the first quarter of fiscal
2016 under our common share repurchase program:
 

  

(a)
Total Number  of
Shares Purchased  

(b)
Average Price Paid

Per Share  

(c)
Total Number  of

Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced Plans  

(d)
Maximum Dollar Value  of

Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Plans at Period End

April 1-30  —   $ —   —  $ 86,939
May 1-31  —   —   —  86,939
June 1-30  —   —   —  86,939
Total  — (1) $ — (1) —  $ 86,939

(1) Does not include 65 shares purchased during the quarter at an average price of $67.67 per share by the STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan on behalf of
certain executive officers of the Company who may be deemed to be affiliated purchasers.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K
 

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 23, 2015 by and among STERIS Corporation, General Econopak, Inc. and each of the Stockholders of
General Econopak, Inc.*

10.2 Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 15, 2015, among STERIS Corporation and each of the institutions party thereto (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Form 8-K filed May 18, 2015 (Commission File No.
1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.3 Affiliate Guaranty, dated as of May 15, 2015, by STERIS Corporation and each of American Sterilizer Company, Integrated Medical Systems
International, Inc., STERIS Europe, Inc., STERIS Inc., United States Endoscopy Group, Inc., Isomedix Inc. and Isomedix Operations Inc., of
the Note Purchase Agreement and Notes issued pursuant thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed May 18, 2015 (Commission File No.
1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4 First Amendment, dated as of May 29, 2015, by and among STERIS Corporation and New STERIS Limited, as borrowers and guarantors,
various U.S. subsidiaries of STERIS Corporation, as guarantors, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the various financial
institutions parties thereto, as lenders, to Amended and Restated 364-Day Bridge Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Form 8-K filed June 1, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5 First Amendment, dated as of May 29, 2015, by and among STERIS Corporation, as borrower and guarantor, New STERIS Limited, as
borrower, various U.S. subsidiaries of STERIS Corporation, as guarantors, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the
various financial institutions parties thereto, as lenders, to Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed
June 1, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

15.1 Letter Re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information.

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

EX-101 Instance Document.

EX-101 Schema Document.

EX-101 Calculation Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Definition Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Labels Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Presentation Linkbase Document.

*Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K and will be provided to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

STERIS Corporation
 

/S/    MICHAEL J. TOKICH        

Michael J. Tokich
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

August 7, 2015
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 23, 2015 by and among STERIS Corporation, General Econopak, Inc. and each of the Stockholders of
General Econopak, Inc.*

10.2 Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 15, 2015, among STERIS Corporation and each of the institutions party thereto (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Form 8-K filed May 18, 2015 (Commission File No.
1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.3 Affiliate Guaranty, dated as of May 15, 2015, by STERIS Corporation and each of American Sterilizer Company, Integrated Medical Systems
International, Inc., STERIS Europe, Inc., STERIS Inc., United States Endoscopy Group, Inc., Isomedix Inc. and Isomedix Operations Inc., of
the Note Purchase Agreement and Notes issued pursuant thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed May 18, 2015 (Commission File No.
1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4 First Amendment, dated as of May 29, 2015, by and among STERIS Corporation and New STERIS Limited, as borrowers and guarantors,
various U.S. subsidiaries of STERIS Corporation, as guarantors, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the various financial
institutions parties thereto, as lenders, to Amended and Restated 364-Day Bridge Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Form 8-K filed June 1, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5 First Amendment, dated as of May 29, 2015, by and among STERIS Corporation, as borrower and guarantor, New STERIS Limited, as
borrower, various U.S. subsidiaries of STERIS Corporation, as guarantors, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the
various financial institutions parties thereto, as lenders, to Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed
June 1, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-14643), and incorporated herein by reference).

15.1 Letter Re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information.

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

EX-101 Instance Document.

EX-101 Schema Document.

EX-101 Calculation Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Definition Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Labels Linkbase Document.

EX-101 Presentation Linkbase Document.

*Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K and will be provided to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.

39



Exhibit 10.1

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT,

BY AND AMONG

STERIS CORPORATION,

GENERAL ECONOPAK, INC.,

AND
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DATED AS OF JUNE 23, 2015



 



Table of Contents

  Page
1. DEFINITIONS 1
2. PURCHASE 14
2.1. Purchase and Sale of Shares 14
2.2. The Closing 14
2.3. Closing Date Matters 16
2.4. Pre-Closing Estimate of Working Capital; Adjustment 17
2.5. Accounting Procedures 18
2.6. Tax Withholding 19
3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING THE COMPANY AND THE SUBSIDIARY 19
3.1. Organization and Good Standing 19
3.2. Power and Authorization 19
3.3. Authorization of Governmental Authorities 19
3.4. Noncontravention 20
3.5. Capitalization 20
3.6. Financial Statements 21
3.7. Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities 22
3.8. Absence of Certain Developments 22
3.9. Debt; Seller Transaction Expenses; Guarantees 24
3.10. Assets 24
3.11. Inventory 24
3.12. Real Property 24
3.13. Intellectual Property 26
3.14. Legal Compliance; Permits; Illegal Payments 28
3.15. Taxes. 30
3.16. Employee Benefit Plans 32
3.17. Environmental Matters 34
3.18. Material Contracts 35
3.19. Affiliate Transactions 38
3.20. Customers and Suppliers 38
3.21. Employee Matters 39
3.22. Litigation; Governmental Orders 39
3.23. Insurance 40

                        i    



TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Page

3.24. No Brokers 40
3.25. Regulatory Matters 40
3.26. Product and Service Warranty and Product and Service Liability 40
4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING SELLERS 41
4.1. Power and Authorization 41
4.2. Authorization of Governmental Authorities 41
4.3. Noncontravention. 41
4.4. No Brokers. 41
4.5. Title. 41
5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING BUYER 42
5.1. Organization and Good Standing 42
5.2. Power and Authorization 42
5.3. Authorization of Governmental Authorities 42
5.4. Noncontravention 42
5.5. Availability of Funds 42
5.6. Brokers 43
5.7. Antitrust 43
5.8. Litigation 43
5.9. Unregistered Securities 43
5.10. No Resale or Distribution 43
5.11. Business Experience 43
5.12. Accredited Investor 43
6 COVENANTS 43
6.1. Conduct of Business 43
6.2. Releases 44
6.3. Directors and Officers 44
6.4. Confidentiality 45
6.5. Publicity 46
6.6. Antitrust Notification 46
6.7. Further Assurances 47
6.8. Restrictions on Transfers 47
6.9. Seller Representatives 48
6.10. Company’s 401(k) Plan Termination; IRS Filings 49
6.11. Buyer’s 401(k) Plan 50
6.12. Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation 50

                        ii    



TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Page

6.13. Acquisition Proposals 51
6.14. GEPCO International 52
6.15. Environmental Insurance Policy 52
6.16. Insurance Matters 52
6.17. BIRT Refund; Life Insurance Refund 52
6.18. Dataroom Disk 53
6.19. Compliance Matters 53
6.20. Oil Tank 53

7.
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

54
7.1. Conditions to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers 54
7.2. Conditions to Obligations of Buyer 54
7.3. Conditions to Obligations of Sellers 55
8 TERMINATION 55
8.1. Termination Rights 55
8.2. Notice of Termination 56
8.3. Effect of Termination 56
9 INDEMNIFICATION 57
9.1. Indemnification by Sellers with respect to Buyers 57
9.2. Indemnification by Buyer with respect to Sellers 59
9.3. Time for Claims 60
9.4. Third Party Claims 60
9.5. Sole and Exclusive Remedy 61
9.6. No Other Representations or Warranties 61
9.7. Tax Treatment 62
9.8. Manner of Payment; Escrow 62
9.9. No Consequential Damages 62
9.10. Supplementary Schedules 62
9.11. Counsel 63
10 TAX MATTERS 64
10.1. Subchapter S Tax Treatment 64
10.2. Section 338(h)(10) Election 64
10.3. Indemnification 65
10.4. Straddle Period 65
10.5. Certain Taxes and Fees 65
10.6. Cooperation on Tax Matters 65

                        iii    



TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Page

10.7. Returns 66
10.8. Tax Sharing Agreements 66
10.9. Tax Certificates 66
10.10. Tax Refunds 66
11 MISCELLANEOUS 67
11.1. Notices 67
11.2. Succession and Assignment; No Third-Party Beneficiary 68
11.3. Amendments and Waivers 68
11.4. Entire Agreement 68
11.5. Counterparts 69
11.6. Severability 69
11.7. Construction; Headings 69
11.8. Governing Law 69
11.9. Waiver of Jury Trial 70

                        iv    



STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Stock Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of June 23, 2015 (the “Effective Date”), is by and among
STERIS Corporation, an Ohio corporation (“Buyer”), General Econopak, Inc., a Pennsylvania S-corporation (the “Company”), and
each of the stockholders of the Company listed on the signature pages hereto (each a “Seller” and collectively, the “Sellers”).
Buyer, the Company, and Sellers are referred to herein collectively as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers collectively own all of the issued and outstanding shares (the “Shares”) of common stock without par
value of the Company (the “Common Stock”), which constitutes all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company;

WHEREAS, each Seller is the record and beneficial owner of the number of Shares set forth opposite each such Seller’s
name on EXHIBIT A hereto; and

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to purchase from Sellers, and Sellers desire to sell to Buyer, all of the Shares upon the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree to be legally bound as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS.    

For purposes of this Agreement:

1.1.    “Accounting Firm” is defined in Section 2.4.2.

1.2.    “Accounting Principles” is defined in Section 2.5.

1.3.    “Acquisition Proposal” means any proposal relating to the acquisition of all or any portion the Shares or of the
Equity Interests of the Company or the Subsidiary, or for a merger, sale of securities, sale, lease or license of substantial
assets or similar transaction involving the Company or the Subsidiary, other than (a) the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and (b) the sale of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business.

1.4.    “Action” means any claim, action, cause of action or suit, litigation, controversy, assessment, arbitration,
investigation, hearing, charge, complaint, demand, notice or proceeding to, from, by or before any Governmental Authority.
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1.5.    “Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person at any time: (a) each Person directly or indirectly
controlling, controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person at such time; (b) each
Person who is at such time an officer or director of, or direct or indirect beneficial holder of at least 20% of any class of the
Equity Interests of, such specified Person; (c) each Person that is managed by a common group of executive officers or
directors as such specified Person; (d) the Immediate Family Relations (i) of each officer, director or holder described in
clause (b) and (ii) if such specified Person is an individual, of such specified Person; and (e) each Person of which such
specified Person or an Affiliate (as defined in clauses (a) through (d)) thereof will, directly or indirectly, beneficially own at
least 20% of any class of Equity Interests at such time. The term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under
common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contractual Obligation or
otherwise.

1.6.    “Agreement” is defined in the Preamble.

1.7.    “Allocation Schedule” is defined in Section 10.2.

1.8.    “Ancillary Agreements” means the Employment Agreements and the Escrow Agreement.

1.9.    “Annual Financials” is defined in Section 3.6.1(a).

1.10.    “Applicable Standard” mean the lowest cost remedy acceptable under Environmental Laws based on an
industrial use of the property (including engineering or institutional controls or any lesser standards resulting from any site-
specific risk assessments).

1.11.    “Assets” is defined in Section 3.10.1.

1.12.    “Baxter Affiliates” means, collectively, The James G. Baxter 2013 Irrevocable Grantor Retained Annuity
Trust, The James G. Baxter 2014 Irrevocable Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, The Andrew J. Baxter 2012 Irrevocable
Trust, The Brett M. Baxter 2012 Irrevocable Trust and The Dustin T. Baxter 2012 Irrevocable Trust.

1.13.    “BIRT” means the amount of the Philadelphia Business Income & Receipts (BIRT) Tax attributable to a Pre-
Closing Tax Period payable by the Company or the Subsidiary, in each case, as of the Closing.

1.14.    “BIRT Refund” is defined in Section 6.17.

1.15.    “Business” means, collectively, (a) developing, manufacturing, marketing, distributing, selling and offering
for sale customized product solutions for use in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical or animal surgery industries of
the type sold or otherwise made available by the Company, including sterilization wrapping system
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solutions, covers, closures and transfer sleeves, protective apparel and accessories, pre-sterilized cleanroom solutions and
animal surgery products, and any improvements of, or developments to, any of the foregoing products, and (b) providing
training to veterinary, pharmaceutical and other relevant professionals on the application and use of the foregoing products.

1.16.    “Business Day” means any weekday other than a weekday on which banks nationally are authorized or
required to be closed.

1.17.    “Business Intellectual Property” is defined in Section 3.13.2.

1.18.    “Buyer” is defined in the Preamble.

1.19.    “Buyer Indemnified Person” is defined in Section 9.1.1.

1.20.    “Buyer’s 401(k) Plan” is defined in Section 6.11.

1.21.    “Cash” means, with respect to any Person, the cash and cash equivalents (net of cut but uncashed checks) of
such Person, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

1.22.    “Change of Control Payments” means (in each case, including the employer portion of all applicable payroll
and withholding Taxes) any and all management sale bonuses, transaction bonuses, liquidity event participation, phantom
equity, change of control, retention or similar cash payments due or payable to any current or former employee, director,
officer or consultant of, or party to any Contractual Obligations with the Company or the Subsidiary, as of the Effective
Date, as a result of, or in connection with, the entry or adoption of this Agreement or the consummation of the
Contemplated Transactions, including the Value Appreciation Plan.

1.23.    “Closing” is defined in Section 2.2.1.

1.24.    “Closing Account Statement” is defined in Section 2.4.2.

1.25.    “Closing Cash Payment” means the Purchase Price, less the Seller Transaction Expenses, less the Closing
Debt, less the Escrow Amount, less the Expense Fund Amount.

1.26.    “Closing Certificate” is defined in Section 2.4.1.

1.27.    “Closing Date” is defined in Section 2.2.1.

1.28.    “Closing Debt” is defined in Section 2.3.4.

1.29.    “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

1.30.    “Common Stock” is defined in the Recitals.
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1.31.    “Company” is defined in the Preamble.

1.32.    “Company Plan” is defined in Section 3.16.1.

1.33.    “Company’s 401(k) Plan” is defined in Section 3.16.2.

1.34.    “Confidential Information” means all information involving or relating to the Business, the Company or the
Subsidiary, regardless of the form in which it is communicated or maintained, whether or not the information has been
marked as “confidential” or “proprietary”, which contains or otherwise reflects nonpublic information involving or relating
to the Business, the Company or the Subsidiary, including without limitation all financial data, business practices, business
metrics, recruiting practices, employee lists and personnel information, operating and other data, reports, forecasts, services
and product information, technical, strategic and customer information.

1.35.    “Contemplated Transactions” is defined in Section 3.4.

1.36.    “Contractual Obligation” means, with respect to any Person, any contract, agreement, deed, mortgage, lease,
license, commitment, promise, undertaking, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral and whether express or
implied, or other document or instrument (including any document or instrument evidencing or otherwise relating to any
Debt) to which or by which such Person is a party or otherwise subject or bound or to which or by which any property,
business, operation or right of such Person is subject or bound.

1.37.    “Conversion Cost Estimate” is defined in Section 6.20.

1.38.    “D&O Tail Policy” is defined in Section 6.3.2.

1.39.    “Dataroom Disk” is defined in Section 6.18.

1.40.    “Debt” means, with respect to any Person, all obligations (including all obligations in respect of principal,
accrued interest, penalties, fees and premiums) of such Person: (a) for borrowed money (including overdraft facilities and
factoring arrangements); (b) evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar Contractual Obligations; (c) as lessee under
capital leases (as required to be classified in accordance with GAAP); (d) in respect of drawn letters of credit and bankers’
acceptances; (e) for Contractual Obligations relating to interest rate protection, swap agreements, hedging agreements and
collar agreements; (f) under performance bonds, (g) Contractual Obligations to repay deposits or advances by or owing to
third parties, (h) prepayment premiums or any change of control premiums, if any, “breakage” costs or similar payments
associated with the repayments thereof and accrued interest, if any, on and fees and expenses and all other amounts owed in
respect of any of the foregoing, (i) Distributions, (j) BIRT and (k) any direct or indirect guaranty of Debt of any other
Person or a type described in the foregoing clauses (a) through (j).

1.41.    “Disclosed Contract” is defined in Section 3.18.2.
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1.42.    “Distributions” means the amount of any distributions declared and payable by the Company to the Sellers
that have not been satisfied by the Company as of the Closing.

1.43.    “DOJ” is defined in Section 6.6.1.

1.44.    “Effective Date” is defined in the Preamble.

1.45.    “Employment Agreements” means the Employment Agreements, dated as of the Effective Date and effective
as of the Closing Date, by and between the Company and each of John Sincavage, Jim Hallman, and Edward Cahill,
substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.

1.46.    “Employee Plan” means any plan, program, agreement, policy or arrangement, whether or not reduced to
writing, and whether covering a single individual or a group of individuals, that is: (a) a welfare plan within the meaning of
Section 3(1) of ERISA; (b) a pension benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA; (c) a stock bonus, stock
purchase, stock option, restricted stock, stock appreciation right or similar equity-based plan; or (d) any other employment,
deferred-compensation, retirement, termination pay, severance pay, welfare-benefit, bonus, incentive or fringe-benefit plan,
program or arrangement.

1.47.    “Encumbrance” means any charge, claim, community or other marital property interest, equitable interest,
lien (statutory or otherwise), license, option, pledge, security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, title defect, condition,
conditional sale or other title retention device or agreement (including a capital lease), right of way, right of first refusal,
right of first offer, purchase option, easement, encroachment, servitude or similar restriction of any kind, including any
restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership or similar restrictions or
limitations.

1.48.    “Environmental Claim” any administrative or judicial action or order, by or from any person alleging
Liability of whatever kind or nature (including Liability for the costs of enforcement proceedings, investigations, cleanup,
governmental response, removal or remediation, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, medical
monitoring, penalties, contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the
release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Substances or (b) any actual or alleged non-compliance with any Environmental
Law or term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

1.49.    “Environmental Condition” means any condition of the environment resulting from a release of Hazardous
Substances by the Company or the Subsidiary at the Real Property or any property previously owned, leased or operated by
the Company, which violates any applicable Environmental Law or with respect to which the Company or the Subsidiary is
required by any applicable Environmental Law to investigate or remediate.

1.50.    “Environmental Deductible Setoff” means any amount not to exceed $500,000 that Buyer would have
received under the Environmental Insurance Policy but
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for the existence of the $500,000 deductible set forth in such policy pursuant to claims submitted within eighteen (18)
months following Closing.

1.51.    “Environmental Insurance Policy” is defined in Section 6.15.

1.52.    “Environmental Laws” means any applicable Legal Requirement in effect as of the Closing Date relating to:
(a) releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Substances; (b) pollution, or the protection of natural resources, endangered
or threatened species or protection of human health or safety, or public health or the environment or worker safety or health;
or (c) the presence, exposure to, management, recycling, remediation, manufacture, handling, transport, use, treatment,
storage or disposal of Hazardous Substances, including the following (including their implementing regulations and any
state analogs): CERCLA; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of
1976, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq.; the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; the Toxic Substances
Control Act of 1976, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of
1986, 42 U.S.C. §§11001 et seq.; the Clean Air Act of 1966, as amended by the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, 42
U.S.C. §§7401 et seq. and the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§651 et seq.

1.53.    “Environmental Permit” means any Permit required pursuant to Environmental Law.

1.54.    “Environmental Undertakings” is defined in Section 6.19.

1.55.    “Equity Interests” means: (a) any capital stock, share, partnership or membership interest, unit of
participation or other similar interest (however designated) in any Person; and (b) any option, warrant, purchase right,
conversion right, exchange rights or other Contractual Obligation which could entitle any Person to acquire any such
interest in such Person or otherwise entitle any Person to share in the equity, profit, earnings, losses or gains of such Person
(including stock appreciation, phantom stock or equity, profit participation, liquidity event participation or other similar
rights).

1.56.    “ERISA” means the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to
time.

1.57.    “ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect to the Company, any other Person that, together with the Company,
would be treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.

1.58.    “Escrow Agent” means Delaware Trust Company or such other institution agreed upon by Buyer and the
Seller Representatives.

6



1.59.    “Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among the Seller
Representatives, Buyer, and the Escrow Agent, substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT C.

1.60.    “Escrow Amount” is $10,000,000.

1.61.    “Estimated BIRT Refund” is defined in Section 6.17.

1.62.    “Estimated Life Insurance Refund” is defined in Section 6.17.

1.63.    “Expense Fund” is defined in Section 2.3.6.

1.64.    “Expense Fund Amount” is $500,000.

1.65.    “FDA” is defined in Section 3.25.

1.66.    “Financials” is defined in Section 3.6.1(b).

1.67.    “Financing” is defined in Section 5.5.

1.68.    “FTC” is defined in Section 6.6.1.

1.69.    “Fundamental Representation” is defined in Section 9.1.3.

1.70.    “GAAP” means the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to
time.

1.71.    “Governing Documents” means, with respect to a particular Person: (a) if a corporation, the articles or
certificate of incorporation and bylaws and, specifically with respect to the Company, its Fourth Amended and Restated
Shareholders’ Agreement; (b) if a general partnership, the partnership agreement and any statement of partnership; (c) if a
limited partnership, the limited partnership agreement and certificate of limited partnership; (d) if a limited liability
company, the articles or certificate of organization or formation and any limited liability company or operating agreement;
and (e) all amendments or supplements to any of the foregoing.

1.72.    “Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, county, municipal or local or any foreign government, or
political subdivision thereof, or any multinational organization or authority or any authority, agency, bureau, branch,
department, division or commission entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police,
regulatory or taxing authority or power, any court or tribunal (or any department, bureau or division thereof), or any
arbitrator or arbitral body.

1.73.    “Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, ruling, determination
or award entered, issued, made, or rendered by or with, or settlement under the jurisdiction of, any Governmental Authority.

7



1.74.    “HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

1.75.    “Hazardous Substance” means any: (a) petroleum and petroleum products, radioactive materials, asbestos-
containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or polychlorinated biphenyls; (b) any other chemicals, materials or
substances defined as or included in the definition of “hazardous substances”, “extraordinarily hazardous substances”,
“hazardous wastes”, “hazardous substances”, “extremely hazardous wastes”, “restricted hazardous wastes”, “toxic
substances”, “toxic pollutants”, “contaminants” or “pollutants”, or words of similar import, under any applicable
Environmental Law; and (c) any other chemical, pollutant, waste, material or substance that is regulated as hazardous under
any applicable Environmental Law.

1.76.    “Immediate Family Relations” means, with respect to any individual: (a) such Person’s spouse; (b) each
parent, brother, sister or natural, step or adopted child of such Person or such Person’s spouse; (c) the spouse of any Person
described in clause (b) hereof; (d) each natural, step or adopted child of any Person described in clauses (a), (b) or (c)
hereof; (e) each trust created solely for the benefit of one or more of the Persons described in clauses (a) through (d) hereof;
and (f) each custodian or guardian of any property of one or more of the Persons described in clauses (a) through (e) hereof
in his capacity as such custodian or guardian.

1.77.    “Inbound IP Agreements” is defined in Section 3.13.3.

1.78.    “Indemnified Party” means, with respect to any Indemnity Claim, the party asserting such claim.

1.79.    “Indemnifying Party” means, with respect to any Indemnity Claim, the party against whom such claim is
asserted.

1.80.    “Indemnity Claim” means a claim for indemnity pursuant to Section 9.1 or Section 9.2, as the case may be.

1.81.    “Intellectual Property” means intellectual property rights of any type or nature, however, denominated,
throughout the world, including: (a) patents, patent applications, patent disclosures and inventions (whether or not
patentable and whether or not reduced to practice) and any reissue, continuation, continuation-in-part, divisional, revision,
reissue, extension or reexamination thereof; (b) trademarks, service marks, trade names, trade dress, slogans, logos,
corporate names, and other brand or source identifiers, and all goodwill and common law rights associated therewith, as
well as all registrations, renewals, and applications therefor; (c) copyrights (whether registered or unregistered), copyright
registrations and applications, copyrightable works, and website content; (d) internet domain names, and uniform resource
locators, and applications to register the same; (e) computer software, proprietary data, rights in databases and data
collections and documentation thereof; (f) rights of privacy and publicity; (g) trade secrets (as determined pursuant to
applicable Legal Requirements), innovations, designs, know how, and other
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Confidential Information (including ideas, research and development information, plans, proposals, methods, techniques,
processes, statistical models, technical data, financial and marketing plans and customer and vendor lists and information),
whether in tangible or intangible form and whether or not stored, compiled or memorialized physically, electronically,
graphically, photographically or in writing; (h) moral rights; (i) all applications, extensions, renewals, translations, and other
derivative works of, or other materials related to, any of the foregoing; and (j) rights to bring claims, or to oppose, interfere
with or cancel the rights of others, based upon the foregoing, in each case, to the extent protectable by applicable law.

1.82.    “Interim Financials” is defined in Section 3.6.1(b).

1.83.    “Inventory” is defined in Section 3.11.

1.84.    “Kimmel Affiliates” means, collectively, Harvey Kimmel 2012 Irrevocable Trust, Harvey Kimmel 2014
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, Harvey Kimmel 2014 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust #2, Jennifer Kimmel Trust dated
April 10, 2003 and Sara Kimmel.

1.85.    “Kleiman Affiliates” means Gary D. Kleiman 2012 Irrevocable Trust and Roberta Kleiman.

1.86.    “Knowledge of Sellers” means the actual knowledge of James G. Baxter, John Sincavage, Jim Hallman,
Edward Cahill, Harvey Kimmel and Gary Kleiman after a reasonable investigation of the subject matter in question by a
review of such Person’s reasonably applicable files and records and due inquiry of such Person’s direct reports, in each case,
with respect to the subject matter in question.

1.87.    “Legal Requirement” means any United States federal, state or local or applicable foreign law, statute,
standard, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, resolution or promulgation or any Governmental Order, or any license, franchise,
Permit or similar right granted under any of the foregoing, or any similar provision having the force or effect of law.

1.88.    “Liability” means, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person whether known or
unknown, asserted or unasserted, determined, determinable or otherwise, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued,
liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due, and whether or not required under GAAP to be accrued on the financial
statements of such Person.

1.89.    “Liability Policy” is defined in Section 3.23.

1.90.    “Life Insurance Refund” is defined in Section 6.17.

1.91.    “Losses” is defined in Section 9.1.1.

1.92.    “Material Adverse Effect” means any change in, or effect on, the Business, operations, Assets, Liabilities or
condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company or the
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Subsidiary, which, when considered either individually or in the aggregate together with all other adverse changes or
effects, is, or could reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to the Business, operations, Assets, Liabilities or
condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company or the Subsidiary, taken as a whole; except for any such change or effect
resulting from: (a) the effect of any change in the United States or foreign economies or securities or financial markets in
general (but only to the extent such change does not disproportionately affect the Company or the Subsidiary); (b) the effect
of any change that generally affects the industry in which the Company or the Subsidiary operate (but only to the extent
such change does not disproportionately affect the Company or the Subsidiary); (c) the effect of any change arising in
connection with earthquakes, hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions or any escalation or material
worsening of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions existing or underway as of the date
hereof (but only to the extent such change does not disproportionately affect the Company or the Subsidiary); (d) the effect
of any action taken by Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to the Contemplated Transactions; (e) the effect of any changes in
applicable Legal Requirements or accounting rules that does not disproportionately affect the Company or the Subsidiary;
(f) the failure of the Company or the Subsidiary to meet any of their projections (provided that the underlying causes of any
such failure (subject to the other provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded); (g) any effect resulting from the public
announcement of this Agreement (except to the extent made in violation of this Agreement by the Company or the
Subsidiary (prior to the Closing Date) or any Seller), compliance with terms of this Agreement or the consummation of the
Contemplated Transactions in accordance with the terms hereof; (h) the effect of any action taken by Sellers, the Company,
the Subsidiary or any of their respective Affiliates with respect to which Buyer has consented to or otherwise waived, in
either case, in writing; or (i) any action taken or not taken by Sellers, the Company, the Subsidiary or any of their respective
Affiliates or representatives, in either case, at the written request of Buyer or that is required or contemplated by this
Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions.

1.93.    “Morgan Lewis” is defined in Section 1.120.

1.94.    “Most Recent Balance Sheet” is defined in Section 3.6.1(b).

1.95.    “Most Recent Balance Sheet Date” is defined in Section 3.6.1(b).

1.96.    “Off-the-Shelf Software” means software, including open source and “shrink wrap” software, obtained from
a Person: (a) on general commercial terms and which continues to be widely available on such commercial terms; (b) which
is not distributed with or incorporated in any Company or Subsidiary product; (c) which is used for business infrastructure
or other internal purposes; and (d) was licensed for fixed payments of less than $200,000 in the aggregate or annual
payments of less than $100,000.

1.97.    “Ordinary Course of Business” means, with respect to any Person, the ordinary course of such Person’s
business which is consistent with the past customs and practices (including with respect to quantity and frequency to the
extent applicable under the circumstances) of such Person.
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1.98.    “Other Antitrust Laws” means the antitrust and competition laws of all jurisdictions other than those of the
United States and any foreign investment laws.

1.99.    “Party” and “Parties” are defined in the Preamble.

1.100.    “Payoff Letters” is defined in Section 2.3.4.

1.101.    “Permits” means, with respect to any Person, any license, registration, qualification, filing, waiver,
franchise, permit, consent, bond, accreditation, operating authority, approval, right, privilege, certificate or other similar
authorization issued by, or otherwise granted by, any Governmental Authority to which or by which such Person is subject
or bound or to which or by which any property, business, operation or right of such Person is subject or bound.

1.102.    “Permitted Encumbrance” means: (a) statutory liens for current Taxes, special assessments and other
governmental charges, which are not yet delinquent, are being contested in good faith or which may hereafter be paid
without penalty, and for which appropriate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP; (b) mechanics’,
materialmen’s, carriers’, workers’, repairers’, and similar statutory liens not yet delinquent arising or incurred in the
Ordinary Course of Business which liens are not material in the aggregate and the obligation giving rise to which is
reflected in the Financials; (c) deposits or pledges made in connection with, or to secure payment of, worker’s
compensation, unemployment insurance, old age pension programs mandated under applicable Legal Requirements or other
social security; (d) restrictions on the transfer of securities arising under federal and state securities Legal Requirements; (e)
easements, rights of way and other similar matters of record set forth in Schedule 1.102 affecting title to but not adversely
affecting current occupancy or use of the Real Property owned or occupied by the Company or the Subsidiary in any
material respect; and (f) zoning ordinances or land use restrictions of record, either of which are not violated in any material
respect by the current use and operation of the Real Property owned or occupied by the Company or the Subsidiary.

1.103.    “Person” means any individual or corporation, association, general or limited partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, joint stock or other company, business trust, trust, organization, Governmental Authority or other
entity of any kind.

1.104.    “Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and, with respect to
any Straddle Period, the portion of such taxable period beginning after the Closing Date.

1.105.    “Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and, with respect
to any Straddle Period, the portion of such taxable period ending on and including the Closing Date.

1.106.    “Purchase Price” is $175,000,000, subject, for the avoidance of doubt, to adjustment in accordance with
Section 2.4.1.

11



1.107.    “Real Property” is defined in Section 3.12.

1.108.    “Real Property Leases” is defined in Section 3.12.

1.109.    “Releasee” is defined in Section 6.2.

1.110.    “Releasor” is defined in Section 6.2.

1.111.    “Restricted Period” is defined in Section 6.12.1.

1.112.    “Restricted Territory” means (a) the United States, (b) the geographic area(s) within a one-hundred (100)
mile radius of any and all Buyer, Company and Subsidiary location(s) in which employees or independent contractors of
Buyer, the Company or the Subsidiary work or of any other geographic location to which employees or independent
contractors of Buyer, the Company or the Subsidiary are assigned or have any responsibility (either direct or supervisory)
and (c) all of the specific customer accounts of Buyer, the Company or the Subsidiary as of the Closing Date, whether
within or outside of the geographic areas defined in clauses (a) and (b) above.

1.113.    “Scheduled Intellectual Property” is defined in Section 3.13.1.

1.114.    “Second Request” is defined in Section 8.1.2.

1.115.    “Section 338(h)(10) Election” is defined in Section 10.2.

1.116.    “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

1.117.    “Seller Group” is defined in Section 9.13.

1.118.    “Seller Indemnified Person” is defined in Section 9.2.1.

1.119.    “Seller Representatives” is defined in Section 6.9.

1.120.    “Seller Transaction Expenses” means all costs, fees, and expenses (including legal, accounting, consulting,
advisory, financial, and brokerage fees) incurred in connection with or in anticipation of the negotiation, execution, and
delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements or the Contemplated Transaction to the extent such costs, fees,
and expenses are payable or reimbursable by the Company or the Subsidiary, including specifically: (a) all fees and
expenses payable to Falcon Capital Partners LLC (or BA Securities, LLC on behalf of Falcon Capital Partners LLC) and all
other brokerage fees, commissions, finders’ fees or financial advisory fees so incurred; (b) the fees and expenses of Morgan,
Lewis & Bockius LLP (“Morgan Lewis”) and all other fees and expenses of legal counsel, accountants, consultants, and
other experts and advisors so incurred; (c) all Change of Control Payments; (d) any expense or premium required to bind
the Environmental Insurance Policy; and (e) any expenses pursuant to Section 6.3.2.
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1.121.    “Sellers” is defined in the Preamble.

1.122.    “Shares” is defined in the Recitals.

1.123.    “Straddle Period” means any taxable period beginning on or before the Closing Date and ending after the
Closing Date.

1.124.    “Subsidiary” means GEPCO International, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

1.125.    “Supplementary Schedules” is defined in Section 9.10.3.

1.126.    “Systems” is defined in Section 3.13.7.

1.127.    “Target Working Capital” is $5,258,149.

1.128.    “Tax” or “Taxes” means any tax of any kind, including any federal, state, local or foreign income, capital
gains, gift or estate, gross receipts, commercial activity, sales, use, value-added, production, ad valorem, transfer,
documentary, franchise, net worth, capital, registration, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, social
security (or similar, including FICA), payroll, employment, unemployment, disability, estimated, alternative or add-on
minimum, excise, severance, environmental, stamp, occupation, premium, property (real or personal), real property gains,
intangibles, windfall profits, customs, duties or other tax, fee, assessment, escheatment or charge of any kind whatsoever,
including tax for which a taxpayer is responsible by reason of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (and any comparable
provision of state, local or foreign Tax Legal Requirement) or as a successor by reason of Contractual Obligation, indemnity
or otherwise, together with any interest, additions, fine or penalty with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such
interest, additions, fine or penalties.

1.129.    “Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or information return or statement
relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto and any amendment thereof.

1.130.    “Termination Date” is defined in Section 8.1.2.

1.131.    “Third Party Claim” is defined in Section 9.4.1.

1.132.    “Total Outstanding Shares” means 20,025.

1.133.    “Transfer Taxes” is defined in Section 10.5.

1.134.    “Treasury Regulations” means the regulations promulgated under the Code.

1.135.    “Union Agreement” is that certain Agreement, by and between the Company and United Steel, Paper and
Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service Workers International Union District 10, Local 286,
effective as of March 1, 2013.
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1.136.    “Unresolved Items” is defined in Section 2.4.2.

1.137.    “Value Appreciation Plan” means the Company’s Value Appreciation Plan, dated as of January 31, 2001, as
amended on November 27, 2012.

1.138.    “VSP” is defined in Section 6.10.

1.139.    “Working Capital” means the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s current assets (including Cash) minus the
Company’s and the Subsidiary’s current liabilities (excluding the current portion of Debt and the Seller Transaction
Expenses), in each case as determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles.

2.    PURCHASE.    

2.1.    Purchase and Sale of Shares. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement, Sellers will sell, transfer, and deliver to Buyer, free and clear of any and all Encumbrances, and Buyer will
purchase from Sellers, all of the Shares, for the Purchase Price.

2.2.    The Closing.

2.2.1.    The consummation of the Contemplated Transactions (the “Closing”) will take place at the offices of
Morgan Lewis at 502 Carnegie Center, Princeton, New Jersey 08540 on such date mutually agreed upon by the
Parties, which shall be no later than two (2) Business Days after satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 7
(other than those conditions that by their nature will be satisfied at Closing) (the date on which the Closing occurs,
the “Closing Date”). The failure to consummate the purchase and sale provided for in this Agreement on the date
and time and at the place specified herein will not relieve any Party to this Agreement of any obligation under this
Agreement. The purchase and sale contemplated by this Agreement shall be deemed to take place and to be effective
at 11:59 P.M. on the Closing Date.

2.2.2.    At Closing, Buyer shall execute or deliver, as applicable, to Sellers the following:

(a)    the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Buyer;

(b)    a good standing certificate for Buyer from the Secretary of State of Ohio, as of a recent date; and

(c)    a certificate of the secretary of Buyer, dated as of the date hereof, and in a form reasonably acceptable to
Sellers, certifying as to due corporate approval to complete the Contemplated Transactions.

2.2.3.    At Closing, Sellers shall execute or deliver, as applicable, or cause to be executed or delivered, to
Buyer the following:
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(a)    the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Seller Representatives;

(b)    a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended, certified by the Secretary of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as of a recent date;

(c)    a good standing certificate of the Company from the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
as of a recent date;

(d)    a copy of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Subsidiary, as amended, certified by the Secretary of the
State of Delaware, as of a recent date;

(e)    a good standing certificate of the Subsidiary from the Secretary of the State of Delaware, as of a recent
date;

(f)    a certificate of the secretary of the Company, dated as of the date hereof, and in a form reasonably
acceptable to Buyer, certifying as to: (i) the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s Governing Documents and (ii) due
corporate approvals to complete the Contemplated Transactions;

(g)    evidence satisfactory to Buyer of the Company obtaining each of the consents identified on Schedule
2.2.3(g);

(h)    evidence satisfactory to Buyer of the Company terminating each of the Contractual Obligations
identified on Schedule 2.2.3(h);

(i)    stock certificates or notarized affidavits of lost stock certificates, along with stock powers endorsed in
blank, and Form W-9 exemptions from backup withholding;

(j)    evidence satisfactory to Buyer that the Company has taken all actions necessary to effect the termination
of the Company’s 401(k) Plan as of the day prior to the Closing Date, contingent on the Closing;

(k)    original IRS Form 8023, Elections Under Section 338 for Corporations Making Qualified Stock
Purchases, effecting a Section 338(h)(10) Election and signed by each Seller, together with such other forms as may
be reasonably requested by Buyer to effect the Section 338(h)(10) Election for state and local Tax purposes;

(l)    resignations, in forms satisfactory to Buyer, of each of the officers and directors of each of the Company
and the Subsidiary; and

(m)    certificates from each Seller and the Company, certifying that, pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section
1.1445-2(b), such Seller or the Company, as applicable, is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445
of the Code and in the form provided in Treasury Regulation Section 1.445-2(b)(2)(iv)(A) and (B).
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2.3.    Closing Date Matters. At the Closing, the Parties shall take, or cause to be taken, the following steps:

2.3.1.    each of Buyer, Sellers, and the Company, shall deliver to the relevant counterparties, executed
counterparts of this Agreement and each Ancillary Agreement to which it is a party;

2.3.2.    Buyer shall deliver to the Seller Representatives (for the benefit of Sellers) by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by the Seller Representatives to Buyer an amount
equal to Closing Cash Payment; provided, however, that in no event will Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates
(including the Company and the Subsidiary) have any responsibility or liability for the allocation or distribution of
the Closing Cash Payment among Sellers by the Seller Representatives;

2.3.3.    Buyer shall deliver the Escrow Amount to the account designated by the Escrow Agent, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds. The Escrow Amount shall be held and disbursed eighteen (18) months
following the Closing Date in accordance with the Escrow Agreement, and, for tax purposes, Sellers and Buyer shall
account for disbursements of the Escrow Amount as provided under applicable Treasury Regulations under
Section 338 of the Code;

2.3.4.    Buyer shall pay in full, pursuant to the terms of payoff letters satisfactory to Buyer delivered by the
Seller Representatives to Buyer (collectively, the “Payoff Letters”), by wire transfer of immediately available funds
to the accounts specified in the Payoff Letters, all Debt of the Company and the Subsidiary (other than the aggregate
amount of Distributions and BIRT), including all Debt identified on Schedule 3.9 and any Debt termination
payments (collectively, the “Closing Debt”), which Payoff Letters will provide for the termination of all
Encumbrances on any Assets securing such Closing Debt and will, together with appropriate termination statements
relating thereto, be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer with respect thereto. For Tax purposes,
Sellers will be treated as having received as Purchase Price the amount of Closing Debt paid by Buyer pursuant to
this Section 2.3.4;

2.3.5.    Buyer shall pay in full, pursuant to the terms of invoices satisfactory to Buyer delivered by the Seller
Representatives to Buyer, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified in such invoices,
all Seller Transaction Expenses to the extent incurred but unpaid as of the Closing, and such invoices (which will
include payee names, payment amounts, and payee addresses and accounts) shall constitute a representation and
warranty of Sellers as to, and Buyer shall be entitled to rely on, the accuracy thereof. For Tax purposes, Sellers will
be treated as having received as Purchase Price the amount of Seller Transaction Expenses paid by Buyer pursuant
to this Section 2.3.5; and
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2.3.6.    Buyer shall deliver the Expense Fund Amount to the Seller Representatives by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to the account specified in writing by the Seller Representatives (the “Expense Fund”),
which shall be held by the Seller Representatives on behalf of Sellers. Each Seller shall be deemed to have
contributed its pro rata share of the Expense Fund. Sellers will not receive any interest or earnings on the Expense
Fund and each Seller hereby irrevocably transfers and assigns to the Seller Representatives any ownership right that
he, she or it may otherwise have had in any such interest or earnings. For tax purposes, the Expense Fund will be
treated as having been received and voluntarily set aside by Sellers at the time of Closing.

2.4.    Pre-Closing Estimate of Working Capital; Adjustment.

2.4.1.    Certain Adjustments. No later than two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company
shall have caused to be prepared and delivered to Buyer a certificate (which shall be subject to review and approval
of Buyer) of an officer of the Company, setting forth their good faith estimate as of the Closing of the Working
Capital (such certificate, the “Closing Certificate”). The Company shall furnish to Buyer such accounting resources
and work papers and other documents and information relating to the Closing Certificate as Buyer may reasonably
request. The Purchase Price shall be increased or decreased, respectively, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, by the amount
by which the Working Capital as of the Closing as set forth on the Closing Certificate is greater than or less than, as
applicable, the Target Working Capital, respectively.

2.4.2.    Closing Account Statement. As promptly as possible, and in any event within ninety (90) days after
the Closing Date, Buyer will prepare or cause to be prepared in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and
will deliver to the Seller Representatives, a written statement setting forth in reasonable detail its determination of
the Working Capital as of the Closing (the “Closing Account Statement”). Buyer shall furnish to the Seller
Representatives such accounting resources and work papers and other documents and information relating to the
Closing Account Statement as the Seller Representatives may reasonably request. The amounts set forth on the
Closing Account Statement shall be subject to the consent of the Seller Representatives, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed. If Buyer and the Seller Representatives are unable to consent to all or a portion of
the Closing Account Statement within one hundred twenty (120) days after the Closing Date, Buyer and the Seller
Representatives shall submit the portions of the Closing Account Statement which have not been agreed upon by
Buyer and the Seller Representatives (the “Unresolved Items”) for resolution to a nationally recognized public
accounting firm mutually agreed by Buyer and the Seller Representatives (the “Accounting Firm”), which shall be
instructed to determine and report to Buyer and the Seller Representatives in writing upon resolution of such
Unresolved Items and the Closing Account Statement, within thirty (30) days after such submission. The
Accounting Firm shall be bound by the
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provisions of this Section 2.4 and Section 2.5 and shall issue a written ruling only in respect of the Unresolved
Items, and the Accounting Firm’s resolution thereof shall be consistent with the terms and conditions in this
Agreement, including this Section 2.4.2 and EXHIBIT D. For the avoidance of doubt, such resolution shall not
exceed the value of the Seller Representatives’ determination of the net amount of the Unresolved Items nor be less
than the value of Buyer’s determination of the net amount of the Unresolved Items. Buyer and the Seller
Representatives shall be afforded the opportunity to present to the Accounting Firm its position with respect to any
Unresolved Items and any materials such party deems relevant to the Accounting Firm’s determination. Buyer and
the Seller Representatives shall furnish to the Accounting Firm such work papers and other documents and
information relating to the Closing Account Statement as the Accounting Firm may reasonably request. The fees and
expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne as follows: (a) if the net amount of the Unresolved Items submitted
to the Accounting Firm (as finally determined by the Accounting Firm) is closer to the net amount of the Unresolved
Items as submitted to the Accounting Firm by Buyer than to the net amount of the Unresolved Items as submitted to
the Accounting Firm by the Seller Representatives, then the fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be
borne by Sellers; and (b) if otherwise, the fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne by Buyer.

2.4.3.    Post-Close Adjustments. Promptly, and in any event no later than the fifth (5th) Business Day after
the final determination of the Closing Account Statement: (a) if the actual Working Capital set forth in the Closing
Account Statement (as finally determined in accordance with Section 2.4.2) exceeds the estimated Working Capital
set forth in the Closing Certificate, then Buyer shall pay to Sellers such excess amount by wire transfer of
immediately available funds; and (b) if the actual Working Capital set forth in the Closing Account Statement (as
finally determined in accordance with Section 2.4.2) is less than the estimated Working Capital set forth in the
Closing Certificate, then Sellers shall pay to Buyer an amount equal to such shortfall as set forth in the last sentence
of this Section 2.4.3.

2.5.    Accounting Procedures. The Closing Certificate, the Closing Account Statement, and the determination and
calculation of Working Capital contained therein shall be prepared and calculated on a consolidated basis for the Company
and the Subsidiary in accordance with GAAP and, to the extent consistent with GAAP, using the same accounting
principles, practices, procedures, policies, and methods (with consistent classifications, inclusions and exclusions, except
that Cash shall only be included in the Working Capital included in the Closing Account Statement) used and applied by the
Company in the preparation of its audited financial statements as of December 31, 2014, provided that such statements,
calculations, and determinations shall not include any purchase accounting or other adjustment arising out of the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions (the “Accounting Principles”). The Closing Account Statement shall not
include any line item not included in the example set forth on EXHIBIT D.
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2.6.    Tax Withholding. Buyer will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price all Taxes that Buyer
may be required to deduct and withhold under any provision of Tax Legal Requirement; provided, however, that Buyer shall
provide written notice to the Seller Representative, at least three (3) Business Days prior to any such deduction and
withholding, as to its intent to so deduct and withhold and the basis in applicable Tax Legal Requirement for such deduction
and withholding. Buyer shall consider in good faith any objections to withholding proposed by the Seller Representatives.
All such withheld amounts will be treated as delivered to Sellers hereunder.

3.    REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING THE COMPANY AND THE SUBSIDIARY.    

In order to induce Buyer to enter into and perform this Agreement and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions,
Sellers represent and warrant to Buyer as follows:

3.1.    Organization and Good Standing. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good
standing under the applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Company has not qualified, and is not
required to be qualified, to do business in any jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, other than any
jurisdiction in which the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Subsidiary is a
corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the applicable laws of the State of Delaware. The
Subsidiary has not qualified, and is not required to be qualified, to do business in any jurisdiction other than the State of
Delaware, other than any jurisdiction in which the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
Schedule 3.1 sets forth a true and complete list of the officers and members of the board of directors of each of the
Company and the Subsidiary.

3.2.    Power and Authorization. The execution, delivery, and performance by the Company of this Agreement and
each Ancillary Agreement to which the Company is a party and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions are
within the power and authority of the Company and have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the
Company. This Agreement and each Ancillary Agreement to which the Company is a party has been duly executed and
delivered by the Company and (assuming due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto) is a legal,
valid, and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and by the availability of equitable remedies. The Company and the Subsidiary each have the full power and
authority necessary to own and use their respective assets and the Company and the Subsidiary each have the full power and
authority necessary to carry on the Business.

3.3.    Authorization of Governmental Authorities. No authorization, consent or approval by, or filing with, any
Governmental Authority (other than in connection with the HSR Act and applicable Other Antitrust Laws) is required for,
or in connection with, the authorization, execution, delivery, and performance by the Company of this Agreement and

19



each Ancillary Agreement to which it is a party or the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions by the Company.

3.4.    Noncontravention. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.4, neither the execution, delivery, and performance by the
Company of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreements nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby (the “Contemplated Transactions”) will: (a) violate any Legal Requirement applicable to the Company or the
Subsidiary; (b) result in a breach or violation of, or default (or an event that, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would
become a default) under, or the material loss of a benefit, or material increase in any fee, liability or obligation under, any
material Contractual Obligation of the Company or the Subsidiary; (c) require any authorization, consent or approval of, or
notice to, any Person under any material Contractual Obligation of the Company or the Subsidiary; (d) result in the creation
or imposition of an Encumbrance upon, or the forfeiture of, any Asset; or (e) result in a breach or violation of, or default (or
an event that, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, or the material loss of a benefit, or
material increase in any fee, liability or obligation under, the Governing Documents of the Company or the Subsidiary.

3.5.    Capitalization. All of the outstanding Equity Interests of the Company are held of record and beneficially
owned by the Persons and in the respective amounts set forth on EXHIBIT A. All Equity Interests of the Subsidiary are
owned by the Company. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has issued any equity, options, warrants or other similar
rights to purchase, or securities otherwise convertible into, its Equity Interests. All of the outstanding Equity Interests of the
Company and the Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and non-assessable. Neither
the Company nor the Subsidiary has violated any Legal Requirement or any preemptive or other similar rights of any
Person in connection with the issuance or redemption of any of its respective Equity Interests. Neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary controls, directly or indirectly, or own any direct or indirect Equity Interest in any Person other than, in the case
of the Company, the Subsidiary. Except as imposed by applicable securities laws or the Company’s or the Subsidiary’s
Governing Documents, there are no Encumbrances on, or other Contractual Obligations relating to, the ownership, transfer
or voting of any Equity Interests in the Company or the Subsidiary, or otherwise affecting the rights of any holder of the
Equity Interests in the Company or the Subsidiary. There is no Contractual Obligation, or provision in the Governing
Documents of the Company or the Subsidiary which obligates the Company or the Subsidiary to purchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire, or make any payment (including any dividend or distribution) in respect of, any Equity Interests in the
Company or the Subsidiary that has been triggered prior to the Effective Date. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is
under any obligation to register the offer and sale or resale of its Equity Interests under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
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3.6.    Financial Statements.

3.6.1.    Financial Statements. Schedule 3.6.1 sets forth copies of each of the following:

(a)    the audited consolidated balance sheets of the Company and the Subsidiary, as of December 31, 2014
(the “Most Recent Balance Sheet Date”) and December 31, 2013, together with the related statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal years then ended, together with the notes thereto, and the other
financial information included therewith (the “Annual Financials”, and the balance sheet included with the
December 31, 2014 audited consolidated financial statements, the “Most Recent Balance Sheet”); and

(b)    the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and the Subsidiary, as of March 31, 2015,
together with the related statements of income and cash flows for the three (3) month period then ended (the
“Interim Financials” and together with the Annual Financials, the “Financials”).

3.6.2.    Complete and Correct. The Financials were prepared in accordance with the books and records of the
Company and the Subsidiary in all material respects and in accordance with GAAP. The Financials present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position, results of operations, shareholders’ equity (where applicable) and cash
flows of the Company and the Subsidiary at the dates and for the time periods indicated. Since the Most Recent
Balance Sheet Date, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has made any change in its methods of accounting or
accounting practices. The books of account of the Company and the Subsidiary are true, correct, and complete, have
been maintained in accordance with good business practices and fairly reflect in all material respects all of the
properties, assets, Liabilities, and transactions of the Company and the Subsidiary. The internal controls and
procedures of the Company and the Subsidiary are sufficient to ensure that the Financials are true and complete in
all material respects. There is no probable or reasonably possible “loss contingency” (within the meaning of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5) that is not reflected in the Financials.

3.6.3.    Accounts Receivable. All accounts receivable set forth on the Interim Financials and all accounts
receivable arising after the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date are determined in accordance with GAAP applied on a
consistent basis throughout the period involved, arose out of bona fide transactions in the Ordinary Course of
Business, are owned by the Company and the Subsidiary free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances, and, (a) to the Knowledge of Sellers, are collectible in full in the Ordinary Course of Business and
(b) will be collected, in each case, net of the reserves therefor, within one hundred twenty (120) days following the
Closing Date. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has agreed to any material deduction, material discount or
other deferred price or quantity adjustment, and there are no disputes, with respect to any of its accounts receivable,
and all accounts receivable constitute only valid, undisputed claims of the Company
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and the Subsidiary not subject to claims of setoff or deductible or other defenses or counterclaims.

3.7.    Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.7, neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary has any Liabilities required to be reflected on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP except for: (a)
Liabilities specifically set forth on the face of the Most Recent Balance Sheet; (b) performance obligations under any
Contractual Obligations entered into after the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date or other obligations arising prior to the Most
Recent Balance Sheet Date which would not be required to be set forth on the Financials in accordance with GAAP; and (c)
Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date and which are not,
individually or in the aggregate, material in nature or amount.

3.8.    Absence of Certain Developments. From the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date to the date of this Agreement,
the Business has been conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business:

(a)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has made any change in its methods of accounting or
accounting practices (including with respect to reserves);

(b)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has: (i) amended its Governing Documents; (ii) amended any
term of its outstanding Equity Interests or other securities; or (iii) issued, sold, granted, or otherwise disposed of, its
Equity Interests or other securities;

(c)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.8(c), neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has: (i) made
any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution with respect to, or any repurchase,
redemption or other acquisition of, any of its Equity Interests; or (ii) entered into, or performed, any transaction
with, or for the benefit of, any Seller or any Affiliate thereof (other than payments made to officers, directors, and
employees in the Ordinary Course of Business);

(d)    there has been no material loss, destruction, interruption of use, damage or eminent domain taking (in
each case, whether or not insured) affecting the Business or any material Asset or property of the Company or the
Subsidiary;

(e)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.8(e), neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has:
(i) increased the compensation payable or paid, whether conditionally or otherwise, to (A) any employee, consultant
or agent other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) any director or officer or (C) any Seller or any Affiliate
thereof; (ii) entered into any Contractual Obligation that provides for the employment or consultancy of any Person
or provides a director, officer, employee or consultant with compensation, a loan or other benefits; or (iii) adopted,
amended or terminated any Employee Plan, except for the termination of the Company’s 401(k) Plan as provided in
Section 6.10 or, except in accordance with
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terms of an existing Employee Plan as in effect on the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date, increased any benefits
under any Employee Plan;

(f)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has entered into, accelerated, amended or terminated any
Disclosed Contract or Permit;

(g)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has written up or written down any of its material Assets or
revalued its Inventory;

(h)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has (i) made a material new Tax election or change in any Tax
election, (ii) amended any Tax Return, (iii) settled any Tax audit, (iv) changed any Tax accounting method or
practice or (v) entered into any Contractual Obligation with respect to Taxes;

(i)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has (i) incurred, assumed or guaranteed any Debt, (ii) paid,
discharged or satisfied any Liability in excess of $50,000 other than the repayment of debt or trade obligations in the
Ordinary Course of Business, or (iii) cancelled any debts or claims or amended, terminated or waived any rights of
the Company or the Subsidiary relating thereto;

(j)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.8(j), neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has purchased,
leased or otherwise acquired the right to own, use or lease any property or assets for an amount in excess of $50,000
individually (in the case of a lease, per annum) or $100,000 in the aggregate (in the case of a lease, for the entire
term of the lease, not including any option term);

(k)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has transferred, assigned, sold or otherwise disposed of any of
the Assets, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(l)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has acquired by merger or consolidation with, or by purchase of
a substantial portion of the assets or stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any Person or any division
thereof;

(m)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has entered into any Contractual Obligation to do any of the
things referred to elsewhere in this Section 3.8, except for those which would not be required to be set forth on the
Financials in accordance with GAAP;

(n)    neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has taken, or caused to be taken, any action that would cause
the Company to no longer be treated as a qualified S corporation for Tax purposes; and

(o)    no event or circumstance has occurred which has had or is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect.
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3.9.    Debt; Seller Transaction Expenses; Guarantees. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has any Liabilities in
respect of Debt or Seller Transaction Expenses except as set forth on Schedule 3.9. For each item of Debt and Seller
Transaction Expense, Schedule 3.9 sets forth a true, correct, and complete list of Contractual Obligations containing all
terms and conditions of such Debt or Seller Transaction Expenses, as applicable, and the principal amount of the Debt or
Seller Transaction Expense, as applicable, as of the date hereof. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9, neither the Company
nor the Subsidiary has guaranteed any Liability of any other Person, and no other Person has guaranteed any Liability of the
Company.

3.10.    Assets.

3.10.1.    The Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable, has sole and exclusive, good, and marketable title to,
or, in the case of property held under a lease or other Contractual Obligation, a sole and exclusive, enforceable
leasehold interest in, or right to use, all of its material properties, rights and assets, whether real or personal and
whether tangible or intangible (collectively, the “Assets”).

3.10.2.    None of the Assets are subject to any Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances. The Assets
comprise all of the assets, properties, and rights of every type and description, whether real or personal, tangible or
intangible, used in or necessary to conduct the Business and are adequate to conduct the Business as it is currently
conducted in all material respects.

3.11.    Inventory. The inventory of the Company and the Subsidiary (the “Inventory”) consists of items that are
merchantable and fit for the purposes intended and are of a quality and quantity useable and saleable in the Ordinary Course
of Business, subject to appropriate and adequate allowances in accordance with GAAP (including GAAP materiality
thresholds) for obsolete, damaged, defective, excess, slow-moving, and other irregular items that have been written off or
written down to fair market value or for which adequate reserves have been established. Subject to GAAP materiality
thresholds, the Inventory taken as a whole is recorded in the Company and the Subsidiary books and records and Financials
at an amount that is not in excess of the lower of its cost or its current fair market value in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied. None of the Inventory is held on consignment, or otherwise, by third parties.

3.12.    Real Property.

3.12.1.     Schedule 3.12 describes all property owned in fee by the Company or the Subsidiary and each
leasehold interest in real property leased, subleased by, licensed or with respect to which a right to use or occupy has
been granted to or by the Company or the Subsidiary (the “Real Property”), specifies the lessors of such leased
property, and identifies each lease pursuant to which such property is leased (the “Real Property Leases”). The
Company and the Subsidiary own fee simple title, or valid, enforceable leasehold interests (with respect to the
property leased pursuant to the Real Property Leases), as the case may be, in the
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Real Property, subject only to the Permitted Encumbrances. Except as described on Schedule 3.12 there are no
written or oral leases, subleases, licenses, concessions, occupancy agreements or other Contractual Obligations
executed by the Company or the Subsidiary, predecessors-in-interest to the Company or the Subsidiary, or any
parties claiming by or through the Company or the Subsidiary, in any case, granting to any other Person the right of
use or occupancy of the Real Property and there is no Person (other than the Company or the Subsidiary) occupying
or with the right to occupy the leased Real Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12, the Real Property is
sufficient for the continued conduct of the business of the Company and the Subsidiary after the Closing in
substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing and constitutes all of the real property necessary to
conduct the business of the Company and the Subsidiary as currently conducted. The Real Property and buildings,
fixtures and improvements thereon (i) are in good operating condition without structural defects, and all mechanical
and other systems located thereon are in good operating condition, and no condition exists requiring material repairs,
alterations or corrections, except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost
and (ii) are suitable, sufficient and appropriate in all respects for their current uses. Except as set forth on Schedule
3.12, all building permits, certificates of occupancy, business licenses, and, without limitation, all other licenses and
permits required in connection with the construction, use or occupancy of the Real Property required to be obtained
by the Company or the Subsidiary have been obtained and are in good standing. Neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary has received written, or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, oral, notice of, and to the Knowledge of Sellers,
there are no (a) violations of building codes and/or zoning ordinances or other governmental or regulatory laws
affecting the Real Property, (b) existing, pending or threatened condemnation proceedings affecting the Real
Property or (c) existing, pending or threatened zoning, building code or other moratorium proceedings or similar
matters which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the whole nor any material
portion of any of the Real Property has been damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty.

3.12.2.    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as set forth on Schedule 1.102, (a) there are
no unrecorded outstanding options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal or other similar contracts or rights to
purchase the Real Property owned in fee by the Company or the Subsidiary, or any portion thereof or interest
therein, nor has the Company or the Subsidiary transferred any air, mineral or development rights relating to the
Real Property owned in fee by the Company or the Subsidiary, (b) the Real Property has vehicular access to public
streets, and to the Knowledge of Sellers, the building and structures on the Real Property do not materially encroach
upon adjoining land and there are no material encroachments by structures on adjoining land onto the Real Property,
(c) all utility services required for the normal operation of the business of the Company and the Subsidiary currently
serve the Real Property and (d) neither the Company, the Subsidiary or any Seller has received any notice from any
insurance company that has issued a policy with
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respect to the Real Property requiring performance of any structural or other repairs or alterations to the Real
Property that remain unperformed.

3.13.    Intellectual Property.

3.13.1.    Schedule 3.13.1 sets forth: (i) all registered Intellectual Property as well as applications for any of
the registration of any Intellectual Property; and (ii) all material unregistered Intellectual Property (except for
unregistered copyrights) owned by the Company and the Subsidiary; and (iii) copyrights and other Intellectual
Property rights owned by the Company and the Subsidiary and material to the Business (collectively the “Scheduled
Intellectual Property”). Schedule 3.13.1 identifies, as applicable, the registration or application numbers;
registration, issuance, or application date; title or mark; country or other jurisdiction; and owner(s) of all the
Scheduled Intellectual Property, and except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.1, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary,
in the period ending twelve (12) months following the date hereof, intends to submit any applications for registration
of any intellectual property, which, if such application were submitted prior to the date hereof, would constitute
Scheduled Intellectual Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.1(a), the Company or the Subsidiary, as
applicable, is the sole owner of and possesses all rights, title, and interests in and to the Scheduled Intellectual
Property free and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.1(b), the Scheduled Intellectual Property are not the subject of
any license and are not subject to any other agreement or arrangement that requires payment to any Person with
respect to the use of the Scheduled Intellectual Property or any obligation to grant any right to any person to use the
Scheduled Intellectual Property. The Scheduled Intellectual Property are valid, subsisting, and enforceable, are in
good standing, with all fees, payments, and filings due within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date duly made, and
are not subject to any taxes or other fees, other than periodic filing and maintenance fees, all of which have been
paid in the ordinary course. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.13.1(c), no order, injunction, decree, ruling,
judgment, litigation, claim, or action has been issued or initiated, is pending, or to the Knowledge of Sellers, is
threatened, that challenges the Company’s or the Subsidiary’s, as applicable, ownership of or the legality, validity,
use or enforceability of any of the Scheduled Intellectual Property. The Company and the Subsidiary have taken
commercially reasonable actions to enforce all Scheduled Intellectual Property to sufficiently protect such
Scheduled Intellectual Property against potential infringements or misappropriation.

3.13.2.    Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.2, in addition to the Scheduled Intellectual Property, which is
owned by the Company or the Subsidiary, the Company and the Subsidiary own or has a license to use all other
material Intellectual Property used in or necessary to conduct the Business, as presently conducted (collectively with
the Scheduled Intellectual Property, the “Business Intellectual Property”). The Company and the Subsidiary have
taken all
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commercially reasonable action to maintain and protect each item of Business Intellectual Property that it owns or
uses and shall continue to maintain and protect those rights prior to Closing so as not to adversely affect the validity
or enforcement of such items. The execution or delivery of this Agreement, or performance of the Company’s and
the Subsidiary’s obligations hereunder, shall not cause the diminution, termination or forfeiture of any Business
Intellectual Property, and neither the Company nor the Subsidiary shall owe any payments to any party as a result of
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

3.13.3.    Except with respect to licenses of Off-the-Shelf Software licensed by the Company and the
Subsidiary, Schedule 3.13.3 identifies any Contractual Obligation (whether written or oral) to which the Company or
the Subsidiary is a party, pursuant to which either: (i) the Company or the Subsidiary is granted any interest, title,
right or license in or to any Intellectual Property that is material to the Business (the “Inbound IP Agreements”); or
(ii) the Company or the Subsidiary grants any third party any interest, title, right or license in or to any Intellectual
Property. The Company and the Subsidiary have provided Buyer with true, correct, and complete copies of each
such contract or agreement. Except as provided in the Inbound IP Agreements, there are no royalties for the use of
any such Intellectual Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.3, (a) no stockholder, officer, director, employee,
contractor or consultant of the Company or the Subsidiary has any right, title or interest in any of the Business
Intellectual Property and (b) neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has granted any license or other right that
permits or enables any other Person to use any of the Business Intellectual Property other than in the Ordinary
Course of Business.

3.13.4.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated or
violated any Intellectual Property rights of third parties, and, except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.4, neither the
Company nor the Subsidiary has received within the past five (5) years any written or, to the Knowledge of Sellers,
oral, charge, complaint, claim, demand or notice alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation or
violation (including any claim that the Company or the Subsidiary must license or refrain from using Intellectual
Property rights of any third party). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13.4, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no third
party has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated or violated any Intellectual Property rights of the
Company or the Subsidiary.

3.13.5.    The use and dissemination by the Company and the Subsidiary of any data and information
concerning natural persons is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable privacy policies, terms of use,
Legal Requirements, and Contractual Obligations of the Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable. There have been
no security breaches by the Company or the Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, by any other Person,
relating to, or violations of any security policy regarding, or any unauthorized access of, any data and information
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used by the Company or the Subsidiary. The Contemplated Transactions as of the Closing will not violate any
privacy policy or terms of use applicable to the data used in the Business, or any applicable Legal Requirements
relating to the use, dissemination, or transfer of any such data or information.

3.13.6.    All Persons, who have participated in the creation or development of Intellectual Property on behalf
of the Company or the Subsidiary have executed and delivered to the Company or the Subsidiary a valid and
enforceable agreement: (a) providing for the nondisclosure by such Person of any Confidential Information of the
Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable; and (b) providing for the assignment by such Person to the Company or
the Subsidiary, as applicable, of any Intellectual Property arising out of such Person’s employment by, engagement
by or contract with the Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable.

3.13.7.    The computer systems, including software, hardware, networks, interfaces, and related services
(collectively, “Systems”) used in connection with the business of the Company and the Subsidiary are sufficient in
all material respects for the needs of such business as it is currently conducted prior to the Closing including as to
capacity and ability to process current peak volumes and anticipated volumes in a timely manner, and there have
been no material failures, breakdowns, breaches, outages or unavailability of any of the foregoing Systems in the
twelve (12) months prior to Closing. No action will be necessary to enable such Systems to continue to be used in
connection with the business of the Company and the Subsidiary to the same extent and in the same manner as they
have been used prior to the date hereof.

3.13.8.    The Company and the Subsidiary have taken commercially reasonable measures to protect the
secrecy, confidentiality, and value of all of its “trade secrets” (as such are determined under any applicable Legal
Requirement) and the Business Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of Sellers, neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary have taken any action nor failed to take any action that directly or indirectly caused any Business
Intellectual Property to enter the public domain or in any way adversely affect its value to Buyer, or its ownership
thereof.

3.13.9.    Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this, Section 3.13 contains the only
representations or warranties of the Company and the Subsidiary with respect to Intellectual Property, and no other
statement in this Agreement or in any other document (including any Ancillary Document) or information delivered
or given to or received by or on behalf of Buyer shall be deemed to be a representation or warranty relating to
Intellectual Property.

3.14.    Legal Compliance; Permits; Illegal Payments.

3.14.1.    Legal Compliance. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is, nor has it been, in breach or
violation of, or default under: (a) its Governing Documents; or (b) any material Legal Requirement. To the
Knowledge of Sellers,
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there is no proposed Legal Requirement that would be applicable to the Company or the Subsidiary or any of their
respective operations and that would have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.14.2.    Permits. The Company and the Subsidiary have all material Permits under all Legal Requirements
necessary for the conduct of the Business. Schedule 3.14.2 describes each such Permit held by the Company or the
Subsidiary, and the Governmental Authority or other Person responsible for issuing such Permit. Except as disclosed
on Schedule 3.14.2: (a) such Permits are valid and in full force and effect; (b) neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary is, nor has it been, in breach or violation of, or default under, any such Permit; (c) the Permits will
continue to be valid and in full force and effect immediately following the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions, subject to any post-Closing change of control notice requirements; (d) all fees and charges with respect
to such Permits have been paid in full; and (e) no event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or
both, could reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, suspension, lapse or limitation of any Permit listed (or
required to be listed) on Schedule 3.14.2.

3.14.3.    Illegal Payments. In the conduct of the Business, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary, nor, to the
Knowledge of Sellers, any of their respective representatives on its behalf, has: (a) directly or indirectly, given, or
agreed to give, any illegal gift, bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback, contribution, payment or similar
benefit, regardless of form, whether in money, property or services, to any supplier, customer, governmental official
or employee or other Person (i) to obtain favorable treatment in securing business for the Company or the Subsidiary
(whether by helping the Company or the Subsidiary, hindering or attempting to hinder any other Person, or
otherwise), (ii) to pay for favorable treatment for business secured by the Company or the Subsidiary or (iii) to
obtain special concessions or for special concessions already obtained, for or in respect of the Company or the
Subsidiary; or (b) established or maintained any unrecorded fund or asset or made any false entries on any books or
records of the Company or the Subsidiary for any purpose. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, none of
the Company, the Subsidiary any Seller or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any other Person acting on behalf of any of
them has, directly or indirectly, paid, offered, promised, authorized or agreed to give any monies, gift or other thing
of value or benefit to (A) any official or employee of any Governmental Authority (including an official or
employee of any public international organization or of any business or enterprise owned by a Governmental
Authority), (B) any political party, or employee or director thereof, or (C) any candidate for a political position or
any political subdivision for the purpose of: (I) influencing any act or decision of such Person described in clauses
(A)-(C), including a decision to not comply with such Person’s official duties; (II) inducing such Person described in
clauses (A)-(C) to act or fail to act in violation of his/her legal duties; or (III) causing such Person described in
clauses (A)-(C) to influence any act or decision of any Governmental Authority in order to obtain or retain business,
or direct business toward any Person.
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3.15.    Taxes.

3.15.1.    The Company and the Subsidiary have timely filed all Tax Returns required to be filed by them for
any Pre-Closing Tax Period, and such Tax Returns are true, correct, and complete in all material respects. All Taxes
due and owing by the Company and the Subsidiary for any Pre-Closing Tax Period (whether or not shown on any
Tax Return) have been timely paid in full. To the Knowledge of Sellers, no claim has been made by a Governmental
Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or the Subsidiary does not file Tax Returns that the Company or the
Subsidiary, as the case may be, is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

3.15.2.    The Company and the Subsidiary have deducted, withheld, and timely paid to the appropriate
Governmental Authority all Taxes required to be deducted, withheld or paid, as of the Effective Date, and the
Company and the Subsidiary will continue to do so through the Closing Date, in each case, in connection with
amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party, and the
Company and the Subsidiary have complied with all reporting, recordkeeping, information, reporting and backup
withholding requirements relating thereto under applicable Legal Requirements.

3.15.3.    There is no Action, dispute, audit, investigation, proceeding or claim concerning any Tax Liability
of the Company or the Subsidiary pending, being conducted as of the Effective Date, or, to the Knowledge of
Sellers, threatened by a Governmental Authority. The Company and the Subsidiary have provided or made available
to Buyer true, correct, and complete copies of all Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of deficiencies
filed, assessed against, or agreed to by the Company or the Subsidiary since January 1, 2011.

3.15.4.    Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15.4, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary have made, changed
or revoked any material Tax election, changed any method of accounting for Tax purposes, settled any Action in
respect of material Taxes, filed any amended Tax Return, or entered into any Contractual Obligation in respect of
Taxes with any Governmental Authority.

3.15.5.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or
agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency or is a beneficiary of any extension of
time within which to file a Tax Return which has not yet been filed. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has
executed any power of attorney with respect to any Tax, other than powers of attorney that are no longer in force.

3.15.6.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has been (i) required to make any adjustment pursuant to
Section 481(a) of the Code or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Legal Requirements by reason of
any change in accounting method, whether by reason of the Contemplated Transactions or otherwise or
(ii) distributed the stock of any corporation or had its stock distributed

30



by another Person in a transaction satisfying or intending to satisfy the requirements of Section 355 of the Code.

3.15.7.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary will be required to include any item in Taxable income or
exclude any item of deduction or loss from Taxable income for any Taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after
the Closing Date as a result of: (a) any “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any
corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Legal Requirements) executed on or prior to the
Closing Date; (b) the long-term contract method of accounting; (c) any installments sale or open transaction
disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date; (d) under Section 108(i) of the Code; or (e) any prepaid amount
received on or prior to the Closing Date.

3.15.8.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is party to any understanding or arrangement described as
a “reportable transaction” for purposes of Code Section 6707A and Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4.

3.15.9.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is party to any Contractual Obligation nor has otherwise
made any payment that could result in any “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G or
in the imposition of an excise Tax under Code Section 4999 (or any corresponding provisions of state, local or
foreign Tax Legal Requirements) or that was or would not be deductible under Code Sections 162 or 404, or that
will be required to be included in gross income under Code Section 409A(a)(1)(A).

3.15.10.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has been a member of an “affiliated group” within the
meaning of Code Section 1504(a) filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return. Neither the Company nor the
Subsidiary is a party to any Contractual Obligation relating to Tax sharing or Tax allocation. Neither the Company
nor the Subsidiary has any Liability for the Taxes of any Person under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Legal Requirements), as a transferee or successor, by Contractual
Obligation or otherwise.

3.15.11.    No closing agreements, private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreements or
rulings relating to Taxes have been entered into or issued by any Governmental Authority with or in respect of the
Company or the Subsidiary.

3.15.12.    All Tax deficiencies asserted, or assessments made, against the Company or the Subsidiary as a
result of any examinations by any Governmental Authority have been fully paid and, to the Knowledge of Sellers,
there are no Tax deficiencies or assessments threatened with respect to the Company or the Subsidiary.

3.15.13.    The Company is, and has been at all times since its incorporation, an S corporation (as defined in
Section 1361(a)(1) of the Code) for U.S. federal,
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state and local income tax purposes, and all of its items of income, gain, deduction, loss and credit therefore pass
through to its shareholders, and none of its assets (or income or deductions) are subject to Tax under Sections 1374
or 1375 of the Code (whether by reason of the Contemplated Transactions or otherwise).

3.15.14.    Since its incorporation, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has (i) other than the Company’s
ownership of the Subsidiary, owned the stock of any corporation (including the stock of any qualified subchapter S
subsidiary); (ii) owned a membership interest in any limited liability company; or (iii) been a member of any
partnership or joint venture.

3.15.15.    No activity of the Company or the Subsidiary gives rise, or may give rise, to the creation of a
permanent establishment in any foreign country for Tax purposes.

3.15.16.    None of the assets of the Company or the Subsidiary constitute tax-exempt bond financed property
or tax exempt use property within the meaning of Section 168 of the Code, and none of the assets of the Company or
the Subsidiary are subject to a lease, safe harbor lease or other arrangement as a result of which the Company or the
Subsidiary, as applicable, is not treated as the owner of such assets for federal income tax purposes.

3.15.17.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is the beneficiary of any Tax holiday, Tax abatement or
other similar Tax benefit.

3.15.18.    Each of the Company and the Subsidiary has disclosed on its federal income Tax Returns all
positions taken therein that would give rise to a substantial understatement of federal income Tax within the
meaning of Code Section 6662.

3.16.    Employee Benefit Plans.

3.16.1.    Schedule 3.16.1 lists all Employee Plans which the Company or the Subsidiary sponsors, maintains,
contributes or is obligated to contribute, or under which the Company or the Subsidiary has or may have any
Liability, or which provides benefits to any current or former officer, director, employee, consultant or independent
contractor of the Company or the Subsidiary or the beneficiaries or dependents of any such Person (each a
“Company Plan”), as of the Effective Date. With respect to each Company Plan, the Company has delivered to
Buyer true, correct, and complete copies of each of the following: (a) if the plan has been reduced to writing, the
plan document together with all amendments thereto; (b) if the plan has not been reduced to writing, a written
summary of all material plan terms; (c) if applicable, copies of any trust agreements, custodial agreements, insurance
policies, administrative agreements and similar agreements; (d) copies of any summary plan descriptions, employee
handbooks or similar employee communications; and (e) in
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the case of any plan for which Forms 5500 are required to be filed, a copy of the three (3) most recently filed Forms
5500, with schedules attached.

3.16.2.    Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever maintained: (a) a plan subject to Title IV of
ERISA or Code Section 412, including any “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA and
Code Section 414(f); or (b) a plan intended to be qualified under Code Section 401(a), other than the General
Econopak, Inc. Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan (the “Company’s 401(k) Plan”).

3.16.3.    Each Company Plan, including any associated trust or fund, has been administered in all material
respects in accordance with its terms and with applicable Legal Requirements, and nothing has occurred with respect
to any Company Plan that has subjected or would reasonably be expected to subject the Company to any penalty,
liability or excise tax under ERISA or the Code. No fiduciary has any Liability for breach of fiduciary duty or any
other failure to act or comply in connection with the administration or investment of the assets of any such
Employee Benefit Plan. There is no pending, or to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened Action relating to a
Company Plan. No Company Plan is or, within the last six (6) years has been, the subject of an examination or audit
by a Governmental Authority.

3.16.4.    All required contributions to, and premium payments on account of, each Company Plan have been
made on a timely basis, and to the extent not due, have been appropriately accrued.

3.16.5.    Except as required under Section 601 et seq. of ERISA, no Company Plan provides benefits or
coverage in the nature of health, life or disability insurance following retirement or other termination of
employment.

3.16.6.    No benefit under any Company Plan, including any severance or parachute payment plan or
agreement, will be established or become accelerated, vested or payable by reason of any transaction contemplated
under this Agreement either alone or upon the occurrence of any other event.

3.16.7.    No Company Plan is funded by, associated with, or related to a “voluntary employees’ beneficiary
association” within the meaning of Code Section 501(c)(9).

3.16.8.    Each Company Plan has been timely amended to reflect the provisions of any and all applicable
Legal Requirements in effect for any period prior to or as of the Closing other than amendments for which the
remedial amendment period under Code Section 401(b) (including, if applicable, any extension of the remedial
amendment period) has not expired.
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3.16.9.    With respect to any Company Plan maintained by the Company or an ERISA Affiliate, there is no
disqualified benefit that would, as defined in Code Section 4976(b), subject the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to
a Tax under Code Section 4976(a). The Company and each ERISA Affiliate has timely complied with all duties
imposed upon the Company or such ERISA Affiliate by Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or Code Section
4980B(f) (“COBRA”), or by similar provisions of state Legal Requirements to the extent applicable. Schedule
3.16.9 contains a list of all individuals, (i) for whom the Company or any ERISA Affiliate has provided continuation
of health benefit coverage during the past three (3) years as required by COBRA, and (ii) to whom the Company or
any ERISA Affiliate has delivered, or caused to be delivered, a notice required by COBRA, within the last three (3)
years.

3.16.10.    Since January 1, 1998, neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has entered into an
arrangement whereby any Person became a leased employee, as defined in Code Section 414(n)(2).

3.16.11.    Each Company Plan which is subject to the requirements of Section 409A of the Code has been
maintained and administered in compliance with such Section and the guidance issued by the Department of the
Treasury thereunder.

3.16.12.    Set forth on Schedule 3.16.12 is a list of all outstanding grants under the Value Appreciation Plan
and calculation of amount to be owed based on the Purchase Price.

3.17.    Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17, to the Knowledge of Sellers:

3.17.1.    The Company and the Subsidiary are in material compliance with all applicable Environmental
Laws.

3.17.2.    No Environmental Conditions exist at the Real Property that the Company or the Subsidiary is
required to report, investigate, assess, cleanup, remediate or conduct any other type of environmental response
action pursuant to any Environmental Law.

3.17.3.    There currently are effective all Environmental Permits required under any Environmental Law that
are necessary for the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s activities and operations at the Real Property and for the
conduct of the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s operations, and any applications for renewal of such Environmental
Permits have been submitted on a timely basis.

3.17.4.    Except in compliance with applicable Environmental Law, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary
has caused a release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance on, upon, into or from any site currently or
previously
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owned, leased or operated by the Company or the Subsidiary that could reasonably be expected to result in a
material Liability to the Company or the Subsidiary.

3.17.5.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has received written notification that it is liable under
applicable Environmental Laws with respect to the storage, treatment, recycling or disposal of, or the arrangement
for the storage, treatment, recycling or disposal of, any Hazardous Substances at any off-site location by the
Company or the Subsidiary that has been included in any published U.S. federal, state or local “superfund” site list
or any other similar list of hazardous or toxic waste sites published by any Governmental Authority in the United
States.

3.17.6.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has received any (i) Environmental Claim or (ii) request
for information with respect to potential liability pursuant to Environmental Law, in each case, which remain
unresolved.

3.17.7.    Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has retained or assumed, by contract any Liabilities or
obligations of third parties under any Environmental Law.

3.17.8.    The Company has made available to Buyer copies of all material documents in the Company’s or
the Subsidiary’s possession concerning Environmental Conditions at the Real Property and Liability under
Environmental Laws, including previously conducted environmental site assessments, compliance audits, asbestos
surveys, and documents regarding any release of Hazardous Substances at, upon or from the Real Property or
formerly owned or leased property.

The representations and warranties contained in this Section 3.17 are the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of
Sellers relating to environmental health and safety matters, including Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits and Hazardous
Substances.

3.18.    Material Contracts.    

3.18.1.    Contracts. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is bound by or a party to:

(a)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(a), any Contractual Obligation (or group of related
Contractual Obligations): (i) the performance of which involves consideration in excess of $100,000 over the life of
such Contractual Obligation; or (ii) other than any Contractual Obligation which by its terms can be terminated upon
no longer than sixty (60) days’ written notice without any further obligation or Liability to the Company or the
Subsidiary, which has a term of greater than one (1) year;

(b)    any Contractual Obligation relating to the acquisition or disposition of: (i) the Company or the
Subsidiary; or (ii) any material Asset (other than the sale of inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business);
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(c)    a joint venture, partnership or joint development Contractual Obligation;

(d)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(d), any Contractual Obligation (i) containing
exclusivity, most favored nation, non-competition or non-solicitation covenants or similar preferential rights or
(ii) providing for the indemnification of any Person or the assumption of any Tax or other Liability of any Person;

(e)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(e), any Contractual Obligation relating to the right to
sell, market or distribute products of the Business or with any agency, broker, dealer, distributor, manufacturer’s
representative, franchise, sales representative or marketer;

(f)    any Contractual Obligation relating to capital expenditures and involving payments in excess of
$100,000;

(g)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(g), any Contractual Obligation under which the
Company or the Subsidiary is, or may become, obligated to incur any severance payment or special compensation
obligations which would become payable by reason of this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions;

(h)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(h), any Contractual Obligation providing for (i) the
employment or consultancy with an individual on a full-time, part-time, consulting or other basis or otherwise
providing compensation or other benefits to any officer, director, employee or consultant (other than an Employee
Plan) or (ii) independent contractor services, management services, consulting services, support services or any
other similar services;

(i)    any Contractual Obligation for the deferred purchase price of property, goods or services, in each case
involving payments in excess of $100,000;

(j)    any Contractual Obligation under which the Company or the Subsidiary has advanced or loaned an
amount to any of its Affiliates or employees, or guaranteed any Contractual Obligations, other than advancements of
business expenses in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(k)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(k), any Contractual Obligation relating to the
acquisition or disposition of any business, stock or assets of any other Person or any real property (whether by
merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);

(l)    any Contractual Obligation involving a customer that entails the delivery after the Closing Date of
products or services in exchange for annual aggregate payments that could exceed $100,000;
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(m)    any Contractual Obligation involving a vendor that (A) could involve payments in excess of $100,000
during the twelve (12) month period following the Closing or (B) obligate Buyer (or any Affiliate thereof) to
purchase products or services from such vendor following the twelve (12) month period following the Closing;

(n)    any Contractual Obligation pertaining to the settlement or compromise of any Actions that were
(A) entered into during the three (3) years prior to the Closing Date or (B) under which the Company has any
outstanding Liability;

(o)    any Contractual Obligation concerning any Governmental Authority;

(p)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(p), any Contractual Obligation requiring the payment
(whether by or to the Company) of any fee or penalty in the event of any failure to perform or late performance;

(q)    any Contractual Obligation involving or creating a power of attorney; or

(r)    except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 3.18.1(r), any other Contractual Obligation material to the
conduct of the Company’s or the Subsidiary’s operations not previously identified in the foregoing clauses (a)-(q).

3.18.2.    Enforceability. The Company has delivered to Buyer true and complete copies of each of its
Contractual Obligations (including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder)
disclosed or required to be disclosed on Schedules 3.9 (Debt), 3.12 (Real Property Leases), 3.13.1 (Intellectual
Property), 3.13.3 (Inbound IP Agreements), 3.16.1 (Employee Plans), 3.18 (Contracts), 3.19 (Affiliate Transactions),
3.20 (Suppliers), and 3.23 (Insurance) (each, together with any supplements, modifications, restatements, and
amendments thereto a “Disclosed Contract”) that is embodied in a written instrument, in each case, as amended or
otherwise modified and in effect. With respect to each Disclosed Contract (a) such Disclosed Contract is enforceable
against the Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable, and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, the other party or parties to
such Disclosed Contract, (b) such Disclosed Contract is in full force and effect and (c) to the Knowledge of Sellers,
such Disclosed Contract is enforceable in all material respects by the Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable, in
accordance with its terms, subject to obtaining any necessary consents, permissions or releases disclosed in Schedule
3.4, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally by the availability of equitable remedies.

3.18.3.    Breach. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary nor, to the Knowledge of Sellers, any other party
to any Disclosed Contract is in material breach or material violation of, or default under, or has repudiated or
threatened to terminate
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any material provision of, any Disclosed Contract. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is involved in any
dispute or disagreement with any party to a Disclosed Contract or has received notice of cancellation of or intent to
cancel any Disclosed Contract and no other party to a Disclosed Contract has otherwise adversely altered its
relationship with the Business, the Company or the Subsidiary, or notified the Company or the Subsidiary of any
intention or threat to do any of the foregoing.

3.19.    Affiliate Transactions. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.19, no Seller, nor to the Knowledge of Sellers, any
Immediate Family Relation of a Seller or an Affiliate of any of the foregoing: (a) is an officer, director, employee,
consultant, creditor, debtor, distributor, customer, supplier or vendor of the Company or the Subsidiary; (b) has borrowed
money from or loaned money to the Company or the Subsidiary that is currently outstanding or otherwise has any cause of
action or claim against the Company or the Subsidiary (other than advancing business expenses reimbursable in the
Ordinary Course of Business); (c) has any ownership or beneficial interest in any property or Asset used by, in, or necessary
to, the Company, the Subsidiary or the Business; or (d) is, or has been since January 1, 2013, a party to any Contractual
Obligation with the Company or the Subsidiary (other than, with respect to the Company, this Agreement or any Ancillary
Agreement). No Immediate Family Relation of a Seller or an Affiliate of the foregoing has received any benefit paid or
payable by the Company or the Subsidiary.

3.20.    Customers and Suppliers.    

3.20.1.    Schedule 3.20.1 sets forth a true and complete list of the ten (10) largest customers of the Company
and the Subsidiary (on a consolidated basis, measured by the aggregate dollar amount of sales to such customers)
and the amounts billed by the Company and the Subsidiary, on a consolidated basis, to each customer during the
twelve (12) months ended on December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, during the three (3) months ended on
March 31, 2015, and the Contractual Obligations, if any, with each of the customers set forth (or required to be set
forth) on Schedule 3.20.1. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.20.1, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is
involved in any material controversy, dispute or disagreement with any of the customers listed (or required to be
listed) on Schedule 3.20.1 and since January 1, 2015 none of the customers listed (or required to be listed) on
Schedule 3.20.1 has canceled, terminated or otherwise adversely altered its relationship with the Business, or
notified the Business of any intention or threat to do any of the foregoing, nor does the Company nor the Subsidiary
have any reason to believe that any customer intends to do so.

3.20.2.    Schedule 3.20.2 sets forth a true and complete list of the ten (10) largest suppliers of materials,
products or services to the Company and the Subsidiary (on a consolidated basis, measured by the aggregate amount
purchased by the Company and the Subsidiary) and the amounts billed to the Company and the Subsidiary, on a
consolidated basis, by each such supplier during the twelve (12) months ended on December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, during the three (3)

38



months ended on March 31, 2015, and the Contractual Obligations, if any, with each of the suppliers set forth (or
required to be set forth) on Schedule 3.20.2 (other than purchase orders in the Ordinary Course of Business). Except
as set forth on Schedule 3.20.2, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is involved in any material controversy,
dispute or disagreement with any of the suppliers listed (or required to be listed) on Schedule 3.20.2 and since
January 1, 2015 none of the suppliers listed (or required to be listed) on Schedule 3.20.2 has canceled, terminated or
otherwise adversely altered its relationship with the Business, or notified the Business of any intention or threat to
do any of the foregoing, nor does the Company nor the Subsidiary have any reason to believe that any supplier
intends to do so.

3.21.    Employee Matters. There are no labor troubles, including work slowdowns, lockouts, stoppages, picketings
or strikes pending, or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, between the Company or the Subsidiary, on the one hand,
and their respective employees, on the other hand. In addition, except as contemplated by the Union Agreement : (i) no
employee of the Company or the Subsidiary is represented by a labor union; (ii) neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is a
party to, or otherwise subject to, any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract; (iii) no petition has been
filed or proceedings instituted by an employee or group of employees of the Company or the Subsidiary with any labor
relations board seeking recognition of a bargaining representative; and (iv) to the Knowledge of Sellers, there is no
organizational effort currently being made or threatened, by, or on behalf of, any labor union to organize employees of the
Company or the Subsidiary and no demand for recognition of employees of the Company or the Subsidiary has been made
by, or on behalf of, any labor union.

3.22.    Litigation; Governmental Orders.

3.22.1.    Schedule 3.22.1 sets forth each instance in which the Company or the Subsidiary: (a) is subject to
any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, settlement or charge; or (b) is, or has been within the last
five (5) years, a party, or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, is threatened to be made a party, to any Action. Except under
the HSR Act and applicable Other Antitrust Laws, there are no Actions pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers,
threatened that: (a) challenge or seek to enjoin, alter or materially delay the consummation of any of the
Contemplated Transactions; or (b) would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the Contemplated
Transactions.

3.22.2.    Except as set forth on Schedule 3.22.2, (i) there is no Governmental Order to which the Company or
the Subsidiary is subject and (ii) no officer, director, manager, agent, consultant or employee of the Company or the
Subsidiary is subject to any Governmental Order that prohibits such officer, manager, agent, consultant or employee
from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the Company or the Subsidiary. The
Company and the Subsidiary have been in compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each Governmental
Order to which it, or any of the assets owned or used by the Company
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or the Subsidiary, as applicable, is or has been subject. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has received any
notice from any Governmental Authority or any other Person regarding any actual or alleged violation of, or failure
to comply with, any term or requirement of any Governmental Order to which the Company, the Subsidiary or any
of the Assets, is or has been subject.

3.23.    Insurance. Each title, asset, fire, hazard, casualty, liability (including product liability), life, worker’s
compensation or other insurance or indemnity policy owned or held by the Company or the Subsidiary with respect to the
Business (each a “Liability Policy”): (a) is in full force and effect and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, enforceable against the
insurer; (b) is sufficient for compliance by the Company and the Subsidiary with all Legal Requirements and all Contractual
Obligations to which the Company and the Subsidiary is a party; and (c) has the coverage amounts and policy expiration
dates set forth on Schedule 3.23. The Company and the Subsidiary have complied with the provisions of each Liability
Policy in all material respects and has paid all premiums required to be paid thereunder. Schedule 3.23 also sets forth
current and pending claims with respect to each Liability Policy. There are no outstanding or threatened claims that could
reasonably be expected to exhaust current insurance coverage limits. To the Knowledge of Sellers, the Company’s and the
Subsidiary’s insurers are solvent and financially able to pay claims. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has received
any notice of cancellation of, premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of such Liability
Policies. All premiums due on such Liability Policies have either been paid or, if not yet due, accrued. No notice of
cancellation or termination or non-renewal has been received with respect to any such policy.

3.24.    No Brokers. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.24, neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has any Liability to
any broker, finder or agent in connection with the Contemplated Transactions, other than Seller Transaction Expenses.

3.25.    Regulatory Matters. The Company has, to the extent applicable, been in compliance with Legal Requirements
that are under the jurisdiction of the United States Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) and any other Governmental
Authority.

3.26.    Product and Service Warranty and Product and Service Liability.    

3.26.1.    There are no product warranty, product liability, service warranty, service liability or other tort
claims pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, against the Company or the Subsidiary. Schedule 3.26.1
sets forth as of the date hereof a true, correct, and complete summary of material product warranty, product liability
or other tort claims made against the Company or the Subsidiary within the past five (5) years.

3.26.2.    Each product sold or otherwise delivered, and each service sold or otherwise provided, in each case,
by the Company and the Subsidiary has been in conformity with all applicable contractual commitments and all
warranties. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary has any Liability for replacement or repair of any such products
or other damages in connection therewith (subject only to the
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reserve for product warranty claims set forth in the Financial Statements), or for any new performance or
replacement services or other damages in connection therewith (subject only to the reserve, if any, for service
warranty claims set forth in the Financial Statements). No product or service provided, manufactured, sold, leased or
delivered, as applicable, by the Company or the Subsidiary is subject to any guaranty, warranty or other indemnity
beyond the applicable standard terms and conditions of sale, lease or service. Schedule 3.26.2 sets forth true, correct,
and complete copies of the standard terms and conditions of sale, lease or service of the Company and the
Subsidiary.

4.    REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING SELLERS.      Each Seller, severally and not jointly, and
solely with respect to such Seller, represents and warrants to Buyer, as of the Effective Date, as follows:

4.1.    Power and Authorization. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such Seller and (assuming
due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto) is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of such Seller, enforceable
against such Seller in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by the availability of equitable remedies.

4.2.    Authorization of Governmental Authorities. No action by (including any authorization, consent or approval),
or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority (other than in connection with the HSR Act and applicable
Other Antitrust Laws) is required for, or in connection with, the valid and lawful authorization, execution, delivery, and
performance by such Seller of this Agreement or the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions by such Seller.

4.3.    Noncontravention. Neither the execution, delivery, and performance by such Seller of this Agreement nor the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions will: (a) violate any provision of any Legal Requirement applicable to
such Seller; (b) result in a breach or violation of, or default (or an event that, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would
become a default) under, or the material loss of a benefit, or material increase in any fee, liability or obligation under, any
material Contractual Obligation of such Seller; or (c) require any authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to, any
Person under any material Contractual Obligation of such Seller.

4.4.    No Brokers. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.24, such Seller has no Liability to any broker, finder or agent
with respect to the Contemplated, other than the Seller Transaction Expenses.

4.5.    Title. Such Seller is the record and beneficial owner of the Shares set forth opposite such Seller’s name on
EXHIBIT A and has good and marketable title to the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances except those imposed by
applicable securities laws and the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s Governing Documents. Immediately following the
Closing, Buyer will be the record and beneficial owner of the Shares in, and have good and
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marketable title to such Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances except as are imposed by applicable securities laws and
the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s Governing Documents.

5.    REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING BUYER.     Buyer represents and warrants to Sellers as
follows:

5.1.    Organization and Good Standing. Buyer is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the
applicable laws of the state of its formation, organization or incorporation.

5.2.    Power and Authorization. The execution, delivery, and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each
Ancillary Agreement to which Buyer is a party and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions are within the
power and authority of Buyer and have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement
and each Ancillary Agreement to which Buyer is a party has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and (assuming due
execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto) is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable
against Buyer in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by the availability of equitable remedies.

5.3.    Authorization of Governmental Authorities. No action by (including any authorization, consent or approval),
or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority (other than in connection with the HSR Act and applicable
Other Antitrust Laws) is required for, or in connection with, the valid and lawful authorization, execution, delivery, and
performance by Buyer of this Agreement or the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions by Buyer.

5.4.    Noncontravention. Neither the execution, delivery, and performance by Buyer of this Agreement nor the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions will: (a) violate any provision of any Legal Requirement applicable to
Buyer; (b) result in a breach or violation of, or default (or an event that, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would
become a default) under, or the material loss of a benefit, or material increase in any fee, liability or obligation under, any
material Contractual Obligation of Buyer; or (c) require any authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to, any Person
under any material Contractual Obligation of Buyer.

5.5.    Availability of Funds. Buyer has cash available or has existing committed borrowing facilities (“Financing”)
which are sufficient to enable it to consummate the Contemplated Transactions and the Ancillary Agreements. Copies of the
documents governing any such facilities have been made available to Sellers prior to the date hereof. The Financing will be
available to Buyer on a timely basis to consummate the Contemplated Transactions and the Ancillary Agreements, and to
Buyer’s knowledge, there is no fact or circumstance that would cause the Financing to be unavailable on such basis.
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5.6.    Brokers. Buyer does not have any Liability to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or similar
agent with respect to this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements or the Contemplated Transactions.

5.7.    Antitrust. As of the Effective Date, to Buyer’s knowledge, no fact or circumstance exists, including any
current holding and transaction under consideration by Buyer and its Affiliates, which would reasonably be expected to
prevent or delay any filings or approvals required under the HSR Act or applicable Other Antitrust Laws.

5.8.    Litigation. Except under the HSR Act and applicable Other Antitrust Laws, there are no Actions, pending or,
to Buyer’s knowledge, threatened in writing against Buyer that: (a) challenges or seeks to enjoin, alter or materially delay
the consummation of any of the Contemplated Transactions; or (b) would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially
delay the Contemplated Transactions.

5.9.    Unregistered Securities. Buyer has been advised that the Shares have not been registered under the Securities
Act or any state securities laws and, therefore, cannot be resold unless they are registered under the Securities Act and
applicable state securities laws or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available.

5.10.    No Resale or Distribution. Buyer is purchasing the Shares to be acquired hereunder for its own account and
not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, the distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act.

5.11.    Business Experience. Buyer has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that Buyer
is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such investment, is able to incur a complete loss of such investment and is
able to bear the economic risk of such investment for an indefinite period of time.

5.12.    Accredited Investor. Buyer is an accredited investor as that term is defined in Regulation D under the
Securities Act.

6.    COVENANTS.    

6.1.    Conduct of Business.

6.1.1.    Except as required by Legal Requirement or with the prior written consent of Buyer, which shall not
be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed, during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending
on the earlier of the Closing or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, Sellers will cause the
Company and the Subsidiary to carry on their respective businesses in the Ordinary Course of Business and, to the
extent consistent therewith, to use their commercially reasonable efforts to keep available the services of its current
employees and preserve its rights, franchises, goodwill, and business relationships with customers, suppliers,
lenders, distributors, regulators and other Persons with which it has business relationships.

43



6.1.2.    Except as required by Legal Requirement or with the prior written consent of Buyer, which shall not
be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed, during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending
on the earlier of the Closing Date and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, Sellers will
not, and will cause the Company and the Subsidiary not to, take any action or enter into any transaction that would
require disclosure under Schedule 3.8 or authorize or enter into any Contractual Obligation to take any action or
enter into any transaction that would require disclosure under Schedule 3.8, to the extent that such action or
transaction could reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on the Company or Buyer following the Closing.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the earlier of the
Closing Date and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, Sellers may, and may cause the
Company to, use any available Cash to pay outstanding Debt of the Company.

6.2.    Releases. Effective as of the Closing, each Seller, on behalf of such Seller and such Seller’s respective
Affiliates, beneficiaries, heirs and their respective successors and assigns (each a “Releasor”), hereby releases, remises,
acquits, waives, and forever discharges, irrevocably and unconditionally, the Company, the Subsidiary, Buyer, and their
respective representatives and Affiliates (that currently exist or may exist in the future), successors, and assigns, and their
present and former directors, managers, officers, shareholders, members, employees, agents, attorneys, representatives,
beneficiaries, heirs, successors, and assigns (each a “Releasee”), from, against and with respect to all Actions, accounts,
agreements, causes of action, complaints, charges, claims, covenants, contracts, costs, damages, demands, debts, defenses,
duties, expenses, executions, fees, injuries, interest, judgments, Liabilities, Losses, obligations, penalties, promises,
reimbursements, remedies, suits, sums of money and torts of any kind and nature whatsoever, whether in law, equity or
otherwise, direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, foreseeable or unforeseeable, liquidated or unliquidated, known or
unknown, matured or unmatured, absolute or contingent, determined or determinable, that such Releasor, such Releasor’s
heirs, beneficiaries, successors, assigns and Affiliates, or anyone claiming through or under such Releasor, ever had, now
has, or may hereafter have or acquire, against the Releasees for or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever
occurring on or prior to the Closing Date, excluding all rights and claims: (a) for indemnification as an officer or director of
the Company with respect to matters arising prior to the Closing (solely to the extent such matters were taken in such
Releasor’s capacity as an officer or director, as the case may be); (b) pursuant to this Agreement or the Ancillary
Agreements, as the case may be; and (c) among the Sellers to the extent otherwise provided in the Termination of
Shareholders’ Agreement.

6.3.    Directors and Officers.

6.3.4.    Buyer agrees that all rights, other than those released pursuant to Section 6.2, to indemnification,
advancement of expenses and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring prior to the Closing now
existing in favor
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of any present or former director or officer of the Company or the Subsidiary, whether pursuant to Legal
Requirement, Governing Documents of the Company, the Subsidiary or otherwise, will remain obligations of the
Company and will survive the Closing and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

6.3.5.    For the six (6) year period commencing on the Closing Date, Buyer shall maintain in effect, through
an extended reporting period endorsement, the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s current directors’ and officers’
liability insurance covering acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Closing Date with respect to those persons
who are currently covered by the Company’s and the Subsidiary’s directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy
on the same terms and scope with respect to such coverage, and amount, for such individuals (the “D&O Tail
Policy”). Buyer will maintain the D&O Tail Policy in full force and effect, and continue to honor the obligations
thereunder. The cost to bind the D&O Tail Policy shall be a Seller Transaction Expense.

6.3.6.    Sellers and Buyer hereby acknowledge and agree that from and after the Closing each of the present
and former directors and officers of the Company and the Subsidiary shall be an express third-party beneficiary of
this Section 6.3. The rights of such directors and officers under this Section 6.3 shall be in addition to any rights
such directors and officers may have under the Governing Documents of the Company and the Subsidiary or under
any applicable Legal Requirement.

6.4.    Confidentiality.

6.4.1.    Each Seller hereby agrees that such Seller will not, and that such Seller will cause its representatives
and Affiliates not to, at any time on or after the Effective Date, directly or indirectly, without the prior written
consent of Buyer (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), disclose or use, any
Confidential Information (except in the case of such disclosure or use of such information in the ordinary course of
performing such Seller’s duties for the sole benefit of the Company or the Subsidiary or at the written request of
Buyer and the Company or Subsidiary); provided, however, that the information subject to the foregoing provisions
of this sentence will not include: (a) any information generally available to, or known by, the public (other than as a
result of disclosure in violation hereof); or (b) any information that becomes available on a non-confidential basis
from a source that is not prohibited from disclosing such information by any legal, contractual or fiduciary
obligations; and provided, further, that the provisions of this Section 6.4.1 will not prohibit any retention of copies of
records or disclosure: (i) required by any applicable Legal Requirement so long as reasonable prior notice of such
disclosure is given to the Company and Buyer and a reasonable opportunity is afforded the Company or Buyer to
contest such disclosure; or (ii) made in connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this
Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions.
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6.4.2.    Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Seller and its representatives and Affiliates may disclose to any
and all Persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of and strategies relating to the
Contemplated Transactions and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided
to such Seller relating to such tax treatment, tax strategies, and tax structure, all as contemplated by Treasury
Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(3)(ii).

6.5.    Publicity. No public announcement or disclosure may be made by any party with respect to the subject matter
of this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions without the prior written consent of both Buyer and the Seller
Representatives immediately following the Closing; provided, however, that the provisions of this Section 6.5 will not
prohibit any disclosure: (a) by Buyer to its equityholders to the extent customarily provided to current or prospective
equityholders, or the posting of a news release regarding the Contemplated Transactions on Buyer’s website; (b) required by
any applicable Legal Requirements or stock exchange requirements (based upon the reasonable advice of counsel); (c) any
disclosure made to the extent required in connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement
or the Contemplated Transactions; or (d) any reproduction of information disclosed on an approved public announcement
pursuant to this Section 6.5.

6.6.    Antitrust Notification.

6.6.1.    Buyer, Sellers, and the Company shall in no event later than five (5) Business Days following the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, file with: (i) the United States Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”)
and the United States Department of Justice (the “DOJ”), the notification and report form required for the
Contemplated Transactions and any supplemental information requested in connection therewith pursuant to the
HSR Act, which forms shall specifically request early termination of the waiting period prescribed by the HSR Act;
and (ii) any other Governmental Authority, any other filings, reports, information, and documentation and, if
required, a draft required for the transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to any applicable Other Antitrust Laws.
Buyer shall be responsible for all filing and other similar fees payable in connection with such filings and any local
counsel fees.

6.6.2.    Buyer, Sellers, and the Company shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to promptly obtain
any clearance required under the HSR Act, and if applicable, any Other Antitrust Laws for the consummation of this
Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions and shall keep each other apprised of the status of any
communications with, and any inquiries or requests for additional information from the FTC or DOJ and any other
Governmental Authority and shall comply promptly with any such inquiry or request. Prior to the Closing, Buyer
shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to undertake anything, including entering into any transaction, that would
reasonably be expected to prevent or delay the expiration of the initial waiting period under the HSR Act or
applicable Other Antitrust Laws.
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6.6.3.    The Parties hereto commit to instruct their respective counsel to cooperate with each other and use
commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate and expedite the identification and resolution of any issues arising
under the HSR Act or any applicable Other Antitrust Laws at the earliest practicable dates. Such commercially
reasonable efforts and cooperation include counsel’s undertaking: (a) to keep each other appropriately informed of
communications from and to personnel of the FTC or DOJ and any other Governmental Authority; and (b) to confer
with each other regarding appropriate contacts with and response to personnel of such FTC, DOJ, and any other
Governmental Authority. Neither Buyer, Sellers, nor the Company shall participate in any meeting or discussion
with the FTC or DOJ and any other Governmental Authority with respect of any such filings, applications,
investigation or other inquiry without giving the other party prior notice of the meeting or discussion and, to the
extent permitted by the FTC or DOJ and any other Governmental Authority, the opportunity to attend and participate
in such meeting or discussion (which, at the request of either Buyer, Sellers or the Company shall be limited to
outside antitrust counsel only). Buyer, Sellers, and the Company shall each approve the content of any presentations,
white papers or other written materials to be submitted to the FTC or DOJ and any Other Governmental Authority in
advance of any such submission.

6.6.4.    Without limiting the generality of Buyer’s undertaking pursuant to this Section 6.6, Buyer shall
promptly take or cause to be taken reasonable best efforts to obtain any clearance required under the HSR Act and, if
applicable, any applicable Other Antitrust Laws for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including reasonable best efforts to avoid the entry of, or to have vacated or terminated, any Order
(whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) related to the HSR Act or any applicable Other Antitrust Laws that
would prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that
Buyer shall not be required to commence or defend any legal proceeding or to divest, dispose of or hold separate any
assets to secure clearance or approval under the HSR Act or any other Antitrust Law.

6.7.    Further Assurances. During the time between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, upon the request of the
Company, Buyer or Sellers, each of the Parties will do, execute, acknowledge, and deliver all such further acts, assurances,
deeds, assignments, transfers, conveyances, and other instruments and papers as may be reasonably required or appropriate
to carry out the Contemplated Transactions.

6.8.    Restrictions on Transfers. Each Seller hereby agrees not to transfer, assign or pledge, directly or indirectly, by
operation of law or otherwise, any of his, her or its Shares (other than the sale of such Shares pursuant to this Agreement)
during the period from the Effective Date through and including the Closing. The Company hereby agrees not to transfer,
assign or pledge, directly or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise, any of the Company’s Equity Interests held in the
Subsidiary during the period from the Effective Date through and including the Closing. Any such attempted transfer,
assignment or pledge during
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such period will not be effective, and Sellers shall cause the Company, or the Company shall cause the Subsidiary, as the
case may be, not to record such transfer, assignment or pledge in the stock transfer records of the Company or the
Subsidiary, as the case may be.

6.9.    Seller Representatives.

6.9.3.    Each Seller irrevocably appoints James G. Baxter and Harvey Kimmel (the “Seller Representatives”)
with power of designation and assignment as his, her or its true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full
power of substitution, to act solely and exclusively on behalf of, and in the name of, such Seller with the full power,
without the consent of such Seller, to exercise as the Seller Representatives in their sole discretion deem appropriate
by joint written action, the powers which such Seller could exercise under the provisions of this Agreement or the
Ancillary Agreements and to take all actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Seller Representatives
in connection with this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements which shall include the power and authority to
amend, modify or waive any provision of this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements and to execute, deliver, and
accept such waivers and consents and any and all notices, documents, certificates or other papers to be delivered in
connection with this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions as the Seller Representatives, in their sole discretion, may deem necessary or desirable. The
appointment and power of attorney granted by each Seller to the Seller Representatives shall be deemed coupled
with an interest and all authority conferred hereby shall be irrevocable whether by death or incapacity of any such
Seller or the occurrence of any other event or events. The Seller Representatives shall keep the Sellers reasonably
informed with respect to any material indemnification claims or other material developments arising out of their
duties pursuant to this Agreement. The Seller Representatives, in their capacities as such, shall treat Sellers equally
(and not take any action that disproportionately affects any one Seller) in connection with the administration of their
duties under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. The Seller Representatives shall not terminate this
Agreement or consent to any material waiver, modification or amendment to this Agreement without the consent of
Sellers who hold not less than 75% of the Shares immediately prior to Closing.

6.9.4.    Each Seller acknowledges and agrees that the Seller Representatives will not be liable to Sellers for
any act done or omitted hereunder as the Seller Representatives while acting in good faith and in the exercise of
reasonable judgment, and any act done or omitted pursuant to the advice of counsel will be conclusive evidence of
such good faith. Sellers will severally and not jointly indemnify the Seller Representatives and hold them harmless
against any Losses incurred without gross negligence or bad faith on the part of the Seller Representatives and
arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of their duties under this Agreement and the
Ancillary Agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (a) with respect to the Baxter Affiliates, each Baxter
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Affiliate will be, solely among the Baxter Affiliates, jointly and severally liable for any monetary indemnification
claim pursuant to this Agreement for which any Baxter Affiliate is responsible; (b) with respect to the Kimmel
Affiliates, each Kimmel Affiliate will be, solely among the Kimmel Affiliates, jointly and severally liable for any
monetary indemnification claim pursuant to this Agreement for which any Kimmel Affiliate is responsible; and
(c) with respect to the Kleiman Affiliates, each Kleiman Affiliate will be, solely among the Kleiman Affiliates,
jointly and severally liable for any monetary indemnification claim pursuant to this Agreement for which any
Kleiman Affiliate is responsible.

6.9.5.    Sellers will reimburse the Seller Representatives for their pro rata share, of any out-of-pocket,
independent, third-party fees and expenses (including fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, and other advisors)
incurred by the Seller Representatives that arise out of or are in connection with the acceptance or administration of
the Seller Representatives’ duties under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. If not paid directly by Sellers
to the Seller Representatives, any such amounts may be paid by the Seller Representatives from the funds available
in the Expense Fund; provided, that while this Section 6.9.3 allows the Seller Representatives to use the funds
available in the Expense Fund, this does not relieve Sellers from their obligation to promptly reimburse the Seller
Representatives for any reimbursable amounts in excess of the Expense Fund Amount, nor does it prevent the Seller
Representatives from seeking any remedies against Sellers available to them pursuant to applicable law. Sellers
acknowledge and agree that the indemnities provided in Section 6.9 will survive the resignation or removal of the
Seller Representatives or the termination of this Agreement. As soon as practicable following the completion of the
Seller Representatives’ responsibilities (as determined by the Seller Representatives in their reasonable discretion),
the Seller Representatives will distribute or will cause to be distributed the remaining balance of the Expense Fund
to each Seller on a pro rata basis determined as of the Closing Date.

6.9.6.    If one of the Seller Representatives dies, becomes incapacitated or resigns, the other Seller
Representative may solely exercise all rights of the Seller Representatives hereunder. If both of the Seller
Representatives die, become incapacitated or resign, Sellers (including the estates of any deceased Sellers) shall duly
elect two (2) replacement Seller Representatives by vote of holders of a majority of Shares held prior to Closing.

6.10.    Company’s 401(k) Plan Termination; IRS Filings. The Company will terminate the Company’s 401(k) Plan
effective one (1) day prior to the Closing, to be contingent on the Closing, in accordance with the provisions of the
Company’s 401(k) Plan, and will provide notice of the termination to plan participants, beneficiaries, the trustee and other
appropriate service providers. Furthermore, as soon as practicable following the Closing, Buyer will cause the Company (at
Buyer’s sole cost and expense) to prepare and file with the IRS an Application for Determination for Terminating Plan on
Form 5310, and
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prepare and file all other information required to be submitted in connection therewith, in accordance with applicable IRS
requirements, including requirements concerning Notices to Interested Parties; provided that if a submission to the IRS is
necessary under the Voluntary Correction with the Internal Revenue Service Approval Program (“VCP”) of the Employee
Plan Compliance Resolution System with respect to the Company’s 401(k) Plan, such submission (including the preparation
and filing of all other information required to be submitted in connection therewith, in accordance with applicable IRS
requirements) will be at the sole cost and expense of the Seller Representatives. The Company will provide the Seller
Representatives with a reasonable opportunity to review the filings before making such filings. The Company will cause
proper administration of the Company’s 401(k) Plan to continue during the pendency of the IRS determination request, and
will take all such other actions as may be reasonably necessary to obtain a favorable determination letter from the IRS.
Upon receipt of a favorable determination letter, the Company will oversee termination distributions from the Company’s
401(k) Plan, in accordance with the terms of the Company’s 401(k) Plan. The Seller Representatives will provide such
cooperation and assistance to Buyer as Buyer may reasonably request with respect to foregoing matters. The Company will
perform its obligations pursuant to this Section 6.10 at the Seller Representatives’ sole cost and expense, in the Seller
Representatives’ capacity as such and on behalf of Sellers.

6.11.    Buyer’s 401(k) Plan. Buyer maintains a qualified defined contribution plan with a cash-or-deferred
arrangement under Code Section 401(k) (the “Buyer’s 401(k) Plan”). After the Company has received a favorable
determination letter from the IRS on the Form 5310 filed as provided in Section 6.11 of this Agreement, Buyer shall cause
Buyer’s 401(k) Plan to be amended to permit Buyer’s 401(k) Plan to accept the rollover of an asset consisting of a loan to a
participant in the Company’s 401(k) Plan, but only if such participant is a current employee of Buyer or the Company and
the loan is not the only asset rolled over to Buyer’s 401(k) Plan by such employee.

6.12.    Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.

6.12.19.    Non-Competition. For the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the five (5) year
anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Restricted Period”), each Seller will not, directly or indirectly, (i) enter into, be
employed by, engage in, consult, manage or otherwise participate in the operation of any business which competes
with the Company, the Subsidiary or the Business (as conducted by the Company, the Subsidiary or Buyer) within
the Restricted Territory, (ii) solicit customers, business, patronage or orders for, or sell, any products or services in
competition with, or for any business that competes with, the Company, the Subsidiary or the Business (as
conducted by the Company, the Subsidiary or Buyer) within the Restricted Territory, (iii) divert, entice or otherwise
take away any customers, business, patronage or orders of the Company, the Subsidiary or Buyer, or attempt to do so
or (iv) promote or assist, financially or otherwise, any person engaged in any business which competes with the
Company, the Subsidiary or the Business (as conducted by the Company, the Subsidiary or Buyer) within the
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Restricted Territory. Nothing contained in this Section 6.12 will prohibit any Seller from acquiring or holding at any
one time a passive Investment of less than two percent (2%) of the outstanding shares of capital stock of any
publicly traded corporation that may compete with Buyer within the Restricted Territory, or engaging in professional
services in the ordinary course of business (such as legal, accounting or investment banking) for clients engaged in
the Business. For purposes of this Section 6.12, Buyer will also include any Affiliate of Buyer.

6.12.20.    Non-Solicitation. During the Restricted Period, each Seller will not, directly or indirectly, at any
time solicit or induce or attempt to solicit or induce or hire or attempt to hire any employee, sales representative,
agent or consultant of the Company, the Subsidiary, Buyer, or any of their respective Affiliates, to terminate their
employment, representation or other association with the Company, the Subsidiary, Buyer, or any of their respective
Affiliates, without obtaining written consent of Buyer prior to such solicitation or inducement.

6.12.21.    Acknowledgment and Relief. Each Seller acknowledges that (i) its obligations under this
Section 6.12 are reasonable in the context of the nature of the business conducted by the Company, the Subsidiary
and Buyer and the competitive injuries likely to be sustained by the Company, the Subsidiary and Buyer if such
Seller were to violate such obligations, (ii) the covenants in this Section 6.12 are adequately supported by
consideration from Buyer for the benefit of Buyer, the Company and the Subsidiary after the Closing Date and
(iii) the foregoing makes it necessary and reasonable for the protection of the Company, the Subsidiary and Buyer
that no Seller compete with Buyer, the Company or the Subsidiary for the Restricted Period contained herein.
Accordingly, each Seller acknowledges and agrees that the remedy at law available to the Company, the Subsidiary
and Buyer for breach of such Seller’s obligations under this Section 6.12 would be inadequate; therefore, in addition
to any other rights or remedies that Buyer may have at law or in equity, temporary and permanent injunctive relief
may be granted in any Action which may be brought to enforce any provision contained in this Section 6.12 without
the necessity of proof of actual damage. If it is judicially determined that any Seller has violated this Section 6.12,
then the period applicable to each obligation that such Seller has been determined to have violated will automatically
be extended by a period of time equal in length to the period during which such violation or violations occurred.

6.12.22.    Other Agreements. The obligations and restrictions set forth in this Section 6.12 are in addition to
the provisions of any employment or other agreement of each Seller that may be entered into from time to time and
addresses the same or similar subject matter covered by this Section 6.12.

6.13.    Acquisition Proposals.      Neither the Company (on behalf of itself and the Subsidiary) nor any Seller shall,
and neither the Company (on behalf of itself and the Subsidiary) nor any Seller shall authorize or permit any officer,
director, manager or
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employee of the Company, the Subsidiary or any Seller, or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives to, directly
or indirectly, (a) solicit, initiate or encourage any Acquisition Proposal, (b) consider, accept or enter into any Contract with
respect to any Acquisition Proposal, or (c) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any Person
any information with respect to, or take any other action to facilitate any inquiries or the making of any proposal that
constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal. The Seller Representatives shall promptly
advise Buyer orally and in writing of any Acquisition Proposal or any inquiry with respect to or which could lead to any
Acquisition Proposal and the identity of the Person making any such Acquisition Proposal or inquiry and the material terms
thereof.

6.14.    GEPCO International.      Effective as of no later than one (1) day prior to the Closing, the Company shall sell
or distribute all of the Equity Interests the Company holds in the Subsidiary to the Sellers or have completed the dissolution
and liquidation of the Subsidiary.

6.15.    Environmental Insurance Policy.     On or prior to the Closing, the Company shall have obtained a binder for
a pollution legal liability policy with respect to the Real Property, with terms no less favorable than those set forth on
EXHIBIT F, with coverage in the amount of no less than $10,000,000 and a deductible no greater than $500,000 (the
“Environmental Insurance Policy”). The cost to bind the Environmental Insurance Policy shall be a Seller Transaction
Expense and is not expected to exceed $150,000.

6.16.    Insurance Matters.     Prior to the Closing, the Company may assign the benefit of any current Company “key
man” or “buy-sell” insurance policies to the beneficiary designated therein (or his designee), without any compensation paid
therefor, or shall terminate such policies prior to the Closing.

6.17.    BIRT Refund; Life Insurance Refund.      Buyer and Sellers acknowledge and agree that (a) following the
Closing, the Company may be entitled to a refund from the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to the BIRT (the
“BIRT Refund”) and that an estimate of the BIRT Refund will be included in the Working Capital included in the Closing
Account Statement (the “Estimated BIRT Refund”) and (b) the life insurance policies set forth on Schedule 6.17, which are
not assigned by the Company prior to Closing, will be terminated as of the Closing, the Company may be entitled to a
refund of a portion of the amount of the prepaid premium for such life insurance policies (the “Life Insurance Refund”) and
an estimate of the Life Insurance Refund will be included in the Working Capital included in the Closing Account
Statement (the “Estimated Life Insurance Refund”). If the BIRT Refund is not received by the Company within twelve (12)
months of the Closing Date, or if the amount of the BIRT Refund received by the Company is less than the amount of the
Estimated BIRT Refund, Buyer and the Seller Representatives will promptly execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent a
joint written instruction authorizing a disbursement from the Escrow Amount to Buyer in the amount of the BIRT Refund or
in the amount equal to the amount by which the BIRT Refund is less than the Estimated BIRT Refund, as applicable, in each
case, in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
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If the amount of the Life Insurance Refund received by the Company is less than the amount of the Estimated Life
Insurance Refund, Buyer and the Seller Representatives will promptly execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent a joint
written instruction authorizing a disbursement from the Escrow Amount to Buyer in the amount equal to the amount by
which the Life Insurance Refund is less than the Estimated Life Insurance Refund in accordance with the terms of the
Escrow Agreement.

6.18.    Dataroom Disk.     Prior to the date hereof, the Company has delivered to Buyer, on one or more CD-Rom
disks, a complete and accurate electronic copy of the transaction dataroom as of June 12, 2015 (the “Dataroom Disk”).
Inclusion of any item on the Dataroom Disk (or attachment to a Disclosure Schedule) shall constitute “delivery” or “making
available” within the meaning of this Agreement.

6.19.    Compliance Matters.     From the date hereof until the Closing, the Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to: (a) cure the non-compliances with Environmental Laws, (b) remediate the Hazardous Substances
identified prior to the Closing Date in the area of the 6,000-gallon tank, and (c) abate the damaged asbestos-containing
materials identified in the Vertex Report dated June 10, 2015, in each case, as further described in Schedule 6.19, and to the
extent required by applicable Environmental Laws and as necessary to achieve the Applicable Standard (“Environmental
Undertakings”). Prior to the Closing, the Company will provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer that the
Environmental Undertakings have been cured, remediated or abated, in each case, in accordance with applicable
Environmental Laws. To the extent that the Environmental Undertakings have not been cured, remediated or abated prior to
the Closing, a reasonable estimate mutually acceptable to Buyer, on the one hand, and the Seller Representatives, on the
other hand, of the remaining costs and expenses to be incurred by the Company or Buyer at or following the Closing in
connection with the Environmental Undertakings shall be included as current liabilities for purposes of the calculation of
Working Capital as of the Closing to the extent that the Company or Buyer would not receive coverage (without giving
effect to the insurance policy deductible) as a result of a claim properly asserted under the Environmental Insurance Policy.
From and after the Closing, Buyer shall cause the Company to use commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) cooperate with
Sellers and execute any documentation that is necessary to achieve the Applicable Standard, including any documentation
associated with engineering or institutional controls and (ii) cause the Company to timely make and pursue all claims under
the Environmental Insurance Policy with respect to the Environmental Undertakings.

6.20.    Oil Tank.     Within ten (10) business days after the date hereof, the Company shall obtain a qualified
contractor quote to convert the Company premises from oil heat to natural gas heat (the “Conversion Cost Estimate”) and
provide such information to Buyer. Unless Buyer notifies Seller Representatives in writing that it prefers to convert the
premises to natural gas, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to restore the 6,000-gallon oil tank to
operational condition. In the event (i) Buyer elects conversion to natural gas or (ii)  such tank is not restored to operational
condition prior to the Closing, an amount equal to the Conversion Cost Estimate shall be included as a current liability for
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purposes of the calculation of Working Capital as of the Closing and Buyer shall thereafter be responsible for the restoration
of heat to the Company premises, including all costs relating thereto.

7.    CONDITIONS TO CLOSING.

7.1.    Conditions to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers.      The obligations of Buyer and Sellers to consummate the
Contemplated Transactions are subject to the satisfaction on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

7.1.1.    No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other Order and no Action
shall be in effect or have been instituted or threatened enjoining, prohibiting or otherwise preventing, or seeking to
enjoin, prohibit or otherwise prevent the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions.

7.1.2.    No Legal Requirement shall have been enacted or shall be deemed applicable to the Contemplated
Transactions which makes the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions illegal.

7.1.3.    The Permits of Governmental Authorities required under, or sought pursuant to, the HSR Act or
applicable Other Antitrust Laws shall have been obtained or any applicable HSR Act or other waiting period
thereunder shall have expired or been terminated.

7.2.    Conditions to Obligations of Buyer.      The obligation of Buyer to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver in writing by Buyer in its sole discretion) of the following further
conditions:

7.2.7.    Each of the representations and warranties made by the Company and Sellers in this Agreement shall
be true and correct in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality, Material
Adverse Effect or other similar qualification) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty
without any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification) when made and as of the Closing
(except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, which shall be true and
correct as of that specified date).

7.2.8.    Sellers shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all obligations and covenants
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with at or prior to the Closing, including without limitation
delivering those deliverables required to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.2.3.

7.2.9.    Since the Effective Date there shall not have occurred and be continuing any Material Adverse
Effect.
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7.2.10.    Each of the Employment Agreements shall be in full force and effect.

7.2.11.    Buyer shall have received a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and signed by the Seller
Representatives, that each of the conditions set forth in Sections 7.2.1, 7.2.2, and 7.2.3 have been satisfied.

7.3.    Conditions to Obligations of Sellers.      The obligation of Sellers to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver in writing by the Seller Representatives in their sole discretion) of the
following further conditions:

7.3.3.    Each of the representations and warranties made by Buyer in this Agreement shall be true and correct
in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty containing any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or
other similar qualification) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty without any
materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification) when made and as of the Closing (except those
representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, which shall be true and correct as of
that specified date).

7.3.4.    Buyer shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all obligations and covenants
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with at or prior to the Closing Date, including without
limitation delivering those deliverables required to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.2.2.

7.3.5.    Buyer shall have made the payments required to be made by Buyer at the Closing pursuant to
Section 2.3.

7.3.6.    Seller Representatives shall have received a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and signed by
Buyer, that each of the conditions set forth in Sections 7.3.1 and 7.3.2 have been satisfied.

8.    TERMINATION.    

8.1.    Termination Rights.      This Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions may be
abandoned at any time prior to the Closing:

8.1.12.    by mutual written consent of Buyer and Seller Representatives;

8.1.13.    by Buyer or Seller Representatives if the Closing does not occur on or before September 30, 2015
(the “Termination Date”); provided further that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1.2 shall
not be available to any Party whose breach of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement pursuant to this
Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in the failure of, the Closing to occur on or before such date;
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8.1.14.    by Buyer if: (A) Sellers or the Company shall have breached any of the covenants or agreements
contained in this Agreement to be complied with by Sellers or the Company such that the closing condition set forth
in Section 7.2.2 would not be satisfied; or (B) there exists a breach of any representation or warranty of the
Company or Sellers contained in this Agreement such that the closing condition set forth in Section 7.2.1 would not
be satisfied; provided, (1) in the case of clause (A) and (B) of this Section 8.1.3, that such breach is not cured by
Sellers or the Company, as the case may be, within ten (10) Business Days after the Seller Representatives receive
written notice of such breach from Buyer and (2) Buyer shall not be entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to
clause (A) or (B) of this Section 8.1.3 if, at the time of such termination Buyer is in breach of any representation,
warranty, covenant or other agreement contained herein in a manner that the conditions to Closing set forth in
Section 7.3.1 or Section 7.3.2, as applicable, would not been satisfied;

8.1.15.    by Seller Representatives if: (A) Buyer shall have breached any of the covenants or agreements
contained in this Agreement to be complied with by Buyer such that the closing condition set forth in Section 7.3.2
would not be satisfied; or (B) there exists a breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer contained in this
Agreement such that the closing condition set forth in Section 7.3.1 would not be satisfied; provided, (1) in the case
of clause (A) and (B) of this Section 8.1.4, that such breach is not cured by Buyer within ten (10) Business Days
after Buyer receives written notice of such breach from Seller Representatives and (2) Seller Representatives shall
not be entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1.4 if, at the time of such termination any
Seller or the Company is in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained herein in
a manner that the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 7.2.1 or Section 7.2.2, as applicable, would not been
satisfied; or

8.1.16.    by Buyer or Seller Representatives if a Governmental Authority shall have issued a Governmental
Order or taken any other Action, in any case having the effect of restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting, or
attempting to restrain, enjoin or otherwise prohibit, the Contemplated Transactions and such Governmental Order or
other Action is final and non-appealable.

8.2.    Notice of Termination.      The Party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1.2, 8.1.3,
8.1.4, or 8.1.5 shall give written notice of such termination to the other Parties.

8.3.    Effect of Termination.      In the event of termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.1, this
Agreement will forthwith become void and have no effect, except that the provisions of Sections 6.4, 6.5, 6.9, 8, 9, and 11
will survive any termination hereof pursuant to Section 8.1; provided, that: (a) termination pursuant to Section 8.1.3 or
Section 8.1.4 shall not relieve a defaulting or breaching Party from any Liability to the other Parties resulting from any
default or breach hereunder; and (b) nothing
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herein shall relieve any Party from Liability for any fraud, willful breach or willful misrepresentation of this Agreement.

9.    INDEMNIFICATION.    

9.1.    Indemnification by Sellers with respect to Buyer.

9.1.7.    Several Indemnification. Without duplication of any other rights to recovery herein and subject to the
limitations set forth in this Section 9.1, from and after the Closing, each Seller will severally and not jointly
indemnify and hold harmless Buyer and each of Buyer’s Affiliates (including, following the Closing, the Company
and the Subsidiary), and the representatives and Affiliates of each of the foregoing Persons (each, a “Buyer
Indemnified Person”), from, against, and in respect of any and all Actions, Liabilities, Governmental Orders,
Encumbrances, losses, damages, fees, costs, expenses or amounts paid in settlement, in each case, including
reasonable attorneys’ and experts fees and expenses (collectively, “Losses”) incurred or suffered by Buyer
Indemnified Persons, or any of them as a result of, arising out of or directly or indirectly relating to:

(a)    any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty concerning the Company or the
Subsidiary in Section 3 of this Agreement;

(b)    any breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of Sellers (including under this Section 9) in or
pursuant to this Agreement;

(c)    any breach of, or inconsistency in, any representation or warranty concerning any Seller in Section 4 of
this Agreement;

(d)    any amounts with respect to the Seller Transaction Expenses or Closing Debt of the Company or the
Subsidiary that are not otherwise set forth in the Closing Certificate;

(e)    any fraud or criminal activity by the Company, the Subsidiary or Sellers (or any representative or
Affiliate thereof);

(f)    any fines or penalties imposed by any Governmental Authority incurred or suffered by Buyer
Indemnified Persons, or any of them, at any time during the eighteen (18)-month period following the Closing Date,
with respect to any of the matters set forth on Schedule 9.1.1(f);

(g)    to the extent incurred or suffered by Buyer Indemnified Persons, or any of them, at any time during the
eighteen (18)-month period following the Closing Date, to the extent not covered by the Company’s workers’
compensation insurance, any exposure by any Company employee or former employee to any asbestos-containing
materials prior to the Closing;
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(h)    to the extent incurred or suffered by Buyer Indemnified Persons, or any of them, at any time during the
eighteen (18)-month period following the Closing Date, any cost or expense in excess of the $450,000 revised
overall estimate for basement repairs included in the Company’s 2015 capital improvement budget to repair the
basement floor to the extent required by applicable Environmental Law and the applicable environmental covenant
and plan referred to on Schedule 9.1.1(f), Item 5; and

(i)    to the extent incurred or suffered by Buyer Indemnified Persons, or any of them, at any time during the
eighteen (18)-month period following the Closing Date, in connection with any remediation of Hazardous
Substances located in the area of the 6,000-gallon tank to the extent required by applicable Environmental Law or a
Pennsylvania Act 2 and recycling program closure to meet the Applicable Standard.

9.1.8.    Limitation to Several Indemnification. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Closing:
(a) with respect to the Baxter Affiliates, each Baxter Affiliate will be, solely among the Baxter Affiliates, jointly and
severally liable for any monetary indemnification claim pursuant to this Agreement for which any Baxter Affiliate is
responsible; (b) with respect to the Kimmel Affiliates, each Kimmel Affiliate will be, solely among the Kimmel
Affiliates, jointly and severally liable for any monetary indemnification claim pursuant to this Agreement for which
any Kimmel Affiliate is responsible; and (c) with respect to the Kleiman Affiliates, each Kleiman Affiliate will be,
solely among the Kleiman Affiliates, jointly and severally liable for any monetary indemnification claim pursuant to
this Agreement for which any Kleiman Affiliate is responsible.

9.1.9.    Monetary Limitations. Sellers will have no obligation to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Persons
pursuant to Section 9.1.1(a) or Section 9.1.1(c) unless (a) any breach or inaccuracy results in individual Losses (or a
series of related Losses) of $50,000 or more and (b) the aggregate amount of all such Losses incurred or suffered by
the Buyer Indemnified Persons exceeds $1,000,000 less any Environmental Deductible Setoff (at which point Sellers
will indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Persons only for those Losses in excess of such deductible). Sellers’
aggregate liability for Losses in respect of all claims for indemnification pursuant to Section 9.1.1(a), Section
9.1.1(c), Section 9.1.1(f), Section 9.1.1(g), Section 9.1.1(h) and Section 9.1.1(i) shall not exceed the Escrow
Amount. The foregoing limitations set forth in this Section 9.1.3 will not apply to claims for indemnification
pursuant to Section 9.1.1(a) or Section 9.1.1(c) in respect of breaches of, or inaccuracies in, representations and
warranties set forth in Sections 3.1 (Organization and Good Standing), 3.2 (Power and Authorization), 3.5
(Capitalization), 3.15 (Taxes), 3.24 (No Brokers), 4.1 (Power and Authorization), 4.4 (No Brokers) or 4.5 (Title)
(each, a “Fundamental Representation”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Seller’s aggregate liability for Losses
in respect of all claims for indemnification
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pursuant to this Agreement shall not exceed the portion of the Purchase Price received by such Seller.

9.1.10.    Other Limitations.

(a)    The amount of any Losses for which indemnification is provided under this Section 9 and any Taxes for
which indemnification is provided under Section 10.3 shall be calculated net of any duplicative amounts actually
recovered by any Buyer Indemnified Persons under insurance policies or from third Persons with respect to such
Losses. In addition, Sellers shall not be obligated to indemnify Buyer with respect to: (i) any covenant or condition
waived in writing by Buyer on or prior to the Closing; or (ii) any Loss with respect to any matter to the extent that
the amount of such Loss was actually reflected in the calculation of the adjustment to the Purchase Price, if any,
pursuant to Section 2.4.

(b)    For purposes of this Section 9, any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty, and the
amount of Losses for which the Buyer Indemnitees are entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Section 9, will be
determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or
otherwise applicable to such representation or warranty.

(c)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Sellers will have no obligation to indemnify the Buyer
Indemnified Persons for any Loss to any Buyer Indemnified Person in connection with or as a result of a claim for
such Loss under the Environmental Insurance Policy that is covered thereunder or would be covered thereunder but
for (i) the Environmental Insurance Policy deductible or cap or (ii) any voluntary act of the Buyer that caused an
otherwise covered claim to be excluded from coverage under the Environmental Insurance Policy From and after the
Closing Date, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Company to timely make and pursue all
claims under the Environmental Insurance Policy with respect to Losses for which Sellers would otherwise have an
indemnification obligation in this Agreement.

9.2.    Indemnification by Buyer with respect to Sellers.

9.2.2.    Indemnification. Without duplication of any other rights to recovery herein and subject to the
limitations set forth in this Section 9.2, from and after the Closing, Buyer will indemnify and hold harmless each
Seller, each Seller’s Affiliates, and the representatives and Affiliates of each of the foregoing Persons (each, a
“Seller Indemnified Person”), from, against, and in respect of any and all Losses incurred or suffered by the Seller
Indemnified Persons or any of them as a result of, arising out of or directly or indirectly relating to:
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(a)    any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty concerning or made by or on behalf of
Buyer in this Agreement, provided such breach or inaccuracy results in Losses of $50,000 or more;

(b)    any breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of Buyer (including under this Section 9.2) in or
pursuant to this Agreement; and

(c)    any fraud or criminal activity by Buyer (or any representative or Affiliate thereof).

9.3.    Time for Claims. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing;
provided, that no claim may be made or suit instituted seeking indemnification pursuant to Sections 9.1.1(a), 9.1.2 or
9.2.1(a) for any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty unless a written notice describing such breach or
inaccuracy in reasonable detail in light of the circumstances then known to the Indemnified Party, is provided to the
Indemnifying Party:

9.3.5.    at any time within six (6) years of the Closing Date, in the case of any breach of, or inaccuracy in,
any Fundamental Representation; and

9.3.6.    at any time within eighteen (18) months of the Closing Date, in the case of any breach of, or
inaccuracy in, any other representation or warranty in this Agreement.

9.4.    Third Party Claims.

9.4.3.    Notice of Claim. If any third party notifies an Indemnified Party with respect to any matter (a “Third
Party Claim”) that may give rise to an Indemnity Claim against an Indemnifying Party under this Section 9, then the
Indemnified Party will promptly give written notice to the Indemnifying Party, together with a copy of the document
asserting such claim, if any; provided, however, that no delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in notifying the
Indemnifying Party will relieve the Indemnifying Party from any obligation under this Section 9, except to the
extent such delay actually prejudices the Indemnifying Party.

9.4.4.    Assumption of Defense. The Indemnifying Party will be entitled to participate in the defense of any
Third Party Claim that is the subject of a notice given by the Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 9.4.1. In
addition, the Indemnifying Party will have the right to control the defense of the Indemnified Party against the Third
Party Claim with counsel of its choice reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party so long as: (a) the
Indemnifying Party gives written notice to the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days after the Indemnified Party
has given notice of the Third Party Claim that the Indemnifying Party will indemnify the Indemnified Party from
and against the entirety of any and all Losses the Indemnified Party may suffer resulting from, arising out of,
relating to, in the nature of, or caused by the Third Party Claim; (b) the Indemnifying Party provides the Indemnified
Party
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with evidence reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party that the Indemnifying Party will have adequate
financial resources to defend against the Third Party Claim and fulfill its indemnification obligations hereunder; (c)
the Third Party Claim involves only money damages and does not seek an injunction or other equitable relief against
the Indemnified Party; (d) the Indemnified Party has not been advised by counsel that a conflict exists between the
Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party in connection with the defense of the Third Party Claim; (e) the Third
Party Claim does not relate to or otherwise arise in connection with Taxes or any criminal or regulatory enforcement
Action; (f) settlement of, an adverse judgment with respect to, or the Indemnifying Party’s conduct of the defense of
the Third Party Claim is not, in the good faith judgment of the Indemnified Party, likely to be materially adverse to
the Indemnified Party’s reputation or continuing business interests (including its relationships with current or
potential customers, suppliers or other parties material to the conduct of its business); and (g) the Indemnifying
Party conducts the defense of the Third Party Claim actively and diligently. The Indemnified Party may retain
separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the Third Party Claim; provided,
however, that the Indemnifying Party will pay the reasonable fees and expenses of separate co-counsel retained by
the Indemnified Party that are incurred prior to Indemnifying Party’s assumption of control of the defense of the
Third Party Claim.

9.4.5.    Limitations on Indemnifying Party. The Indemnifying Party may not consent to the entry of any
judgment or enter into any compromise or settlement with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written
consent of the Indemnified Party unless such judgment, compromise or settlement: (a) provides for the payment by
the Indemnifying Party of money as sole relief for the claimant; (b) results in the full and general release of the
Buyer Indemnified Persons or Seller Indemnified Persons, as applicable, from all liabilities arising or relating to, or
in connection with, the Third Party Claim; and (c) involves no finding or admission of any violation of Legal
Requirements or the rights of any Person and no effect on any other claims that may be made against the
Indemnified Party.

9.5.    Sole and Exclusive Remedy. Other than with respect to Sections 6.4, 6.5, 6.8, 6.12, and 6.13 with respect to
which Buyer will be entitled to specific performance, each of the Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that, after the
Closing, such Party’s sole and exclusive monetary remedy with respect to any of the matters described in this Section 9 and
any and all other claims relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the
Contemplated Transactions and thereby shall be in accordance with, and limited by, the provisions set forth in this Section
9.

9.6.    No Other Representations or Warranties.      Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that no Party to this
Agreement has made nor is it making hereby any representations or warranties whatsoever regarding the subject matter of
this Agreement, express or implied, except as expressly provided in this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt and without
limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, no Seller nor the
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Company has made or hereby makes any representation or warranty with respect to any information provided to Buyer or
potential providers of financing which is or was forward-looking in nature, including projections or budgets with respect to
the business of the Company or the Subsidiary, future sales or profits, expected market conditions or projections,
prospective operations, expected actions of competitors or future business strategies and the expected results thereof.

9.7.    Tax Treatment. Buyer and Sellers agree to treat any indemnification payment under this Agreement as an
adjustment to the Purchase Price. Neither Buyer nor any Seller shall take any position on any Tax Return, or before any
Governmental Authority involved in the administration of Tax Legal Requirements, that is inconsistent with such treatment
unless otherwise required by an applicable Legal Requirement.

9.8.    Manner of Payment; Escrow. For as long as there are funds in the escrow account maintained pursuant to the
Escrow Agreement, any and all amounts payable by Sellers as Indemnifying Party to a Buyer Indemnified Person will be
paid in cash first out of such escrow account established pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, and thereafter directly by
Sellers in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

9.9.    No Consequential Damages. For the avoidance of doubt, Losses shall not include consequential, special,
indirect, punitive or exemplary damages, contingent lost profits, contingent lost business opportunity, diminution in value,
or any damage based on any type of multiple (including a multiple of earnings or revenues), in each case, except to the
extent such Losses are awarded to a third party.

9.10.    Supplementary Schedules.    

9.10.13.    From the date hereof through the Closing Date, or the earlier termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 9, the Seller Representatives shall promptly notify Buyer (i) if the Company, the Subsidiary or
any Seller becomes aware of any fact or condition that causes or constitutes a breach of any of Sellers’
representations and warranties, or if the Company, the Subsidiary or any Seller becomes aware of the occurrence of
any information, event, fact or condition that would (except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement), with the
passage of time or occurrence of an event or both, cause or constitute a breach of any such representation or
warranty had such representation or warranty been made as of the time of occurrence or discovery of such
information, event, fact or condition and (ii) of the occurrence of any breach of any covenant of the Company or any
Seller in this Agreement.

9.10.14.    From the date hereof through the Closing Date, or the earlier termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 9, Buyer shall promptly notify the Seller Representatives if Buyer becomes aware of any
information, event, fact or condition that causes or constitutes a breach of any of Buyer’s representations and
warranties, or if Buyer becomes aware of the occurrence of any information, event, fact or condition that would
(except as expressly contemplated by this

62



Agreement) cause or constitute a breach of any such representation or warranty had such representation or warranty
been made as of the time of occurrence or discovery of such information, event, fact or condition. Between the
Effective and the Closing, Buyer will also promptly notify the Seller Representatives of the occurrence of any
breach of any covenant of Buyer in this Agreement.

9.10.15.    The Seller Representatives shall have the right to update the Schedules to this Agreement only
with respect to any matter arising after the date hereof but prior to the Closing that would result in the condition set
forth in Section 7.2.1 not being satisfied, provided that the Seller Representatives acknowledge concurrently with
the delivery of such schedules that the matter would result in such condition not being satisfied (the “Supplementary
Schedules”). If Buyer receives Supplementary Schedules from the Seller Representatives, Buyer shall have the right
to (i) terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1.3 or (ii) proceed with the Closing, provided that upon the
Closing, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived all claims, including all indemnity claims pursuant to Section 9, for
all matters set forth in the Supplementary Schedules. For all other purposes under this Agreement, the
Supplementary Schedules shall be deemed to supersede and amend the original Schedules to this Agreement dated
as of the date hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, no Supplementary Schedule shall contain any matter that existed
as of the date hereof, whether or not known to any Seller or the Company.

9.11.    Counsel.      In any proceeding by or against any Seller wherein any Buyer Indemnified Person asserts or
prosecutes any claim under, or otherwise seeks to enforce, this Agreement, Buyer and the Company each agrees in
connection with such proceeding: (a) that no Buyer Indemnified Person or counsel therefor will move to seek
disqualification of Morgan Lewis; (b) to waive any right any Buyer Indemnified Person may have to assert the attorney-
client privilege against Morgan Lewis or the Seller Representatives or any of their Affiliates with respect to any
communication or information contained in Morgan Lewis’s possession or files; and (c) to consent to the representation of
the Seller Representatives, any Seller, and any of their respective Affiliates (individually and collectively, the “Seller
Group”) by Morgan Lewis in connection with any litigation, claim or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement
or the Contemplated Transactions, notwithstanding Morgan Lewis has or may have represented the Company or any
member of the Seller Group as counsel in connection with any matter, including any transaction (including the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement), negotiation, investigation, proceeding or action, prior to the Closing. Each of the parties
to this Agreement hereby agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its directors, members, partners, officers, employees
and Affiliates that this consent and waiver extends, without limitation, to Morgan Lewis representing the Seller
Representatives against Buyer, the Company or any Buyer Indemnified Person in litigation, arbitration or mediation in
connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions.
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10.    TAX MATTERS.    

10.1.    Subchapter “S” Tax Treatment.      Sellers shall not revoke the Company’s election to be taxed as an S
corporation within the meaning of Section 1361 and 1362 of the Code. Sellers shall not take or allow any action (other than
the sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement) that would result in the termination of the Company’s status as a validly
electing S corporation for purposes of applicable Tax Legal Requirements.

10.2.    Section 338(h)(10) Election.      At Buyer’s request, Sellers shall join with Buyer in making an election under
Section 338(h)(10) of the Code (and any corresponding election under state, local, and foreign Tax Legal Requirement) with
respect to the purchase and sale of the Shares hereunder (collectively, the “Section 338(h)(10) Election”). In furtherance of
the preceding sentence, Sellers shall execute and deliver to Buyer such documents or forms as Buyer shall reasonably
request or as are required by applicable Legal Requirement to effect the Section 338(h)(10) Election. Sellers shall include
any income, gain, loss, deduction, or other Tax item resulting from the Section 338(h)(10) Election on their Tax Returns to
the extent required by applicable Legal Requirements, and shall take no position inconsistent with treating the purchase by
Buyer of the Shares as a transaction to which Section 338(h)(10) applies. The consideration paid for the Shares hereunder
and the liabilities of the Company shall be allocated among the assets of the Company in accordance with their fair market
values determined using the methodology set forth on EXHIBIT E (the “Allocation Schedule”) and Section 338 of the
Code. Buyer, Sellers and each of their Affiliates shall file all Tax Returns in a manner consistent with such Allocation
Schedule, and none of the parties will voluntarily take any position inconsistent with the Allocation Schedule in any Action,
inquiry, assessment, proceeding or other similar event relating to Taxes or that would otherwise prejudice the Section 338(h)
(10) Election. Any disagreement over allocation of consideration among the assets in accordance with the methodology set
forth on the Allocation Schedule shall be settled by the Independent Accountant in accordance with the dispute procedures
set forth in Section 2.4.2; provided that the fees, costs, and expenses of the Independent Accountant will be apportioned
between Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other, based upon the relative difference between the Independent
Accountant’s resolution of the disputed items jointly submitted by the Seller Representatives (on behalf of Sellers) and
Buyer and the respective positions of the Seller Representatives (on behalf of Sellers) and Buyer in respect thereof. Buyer
and the Seller Representatives shall, not later than forty-five (45) days after the final determination of any payment required
by this Section, jointly agree upon any additional allocations to be reflected on IRS Form 8883. If they cannot so agree, the
additional allocations shall be determined by the Independent Accountant in accordance with the dispute procedures set
forth in Section 2.4.2; provided that the fees, costs, and expenses of the Independent Accountant will be apportioned
between Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other, based upon the relative difference between the Independent
Accountant’s resolution of the disputed items jointly submitted by the Seller Representatives (on behalf of Sellers) and
Buyer and the respective positions of the Seller Representatives (on behalf of Sellers) and Buyer in respect thereof.
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10.3.    Indemnification.      Without duplication of any other rights to recovery herein, Sellers shall severally and not
jointly indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless Buyer (and, following the Closing, the Company and the Subsidiaries)
from any Losses attributable to: (a) all Taxes (or the nonpayment thereof) of the Company or the Subsidiary for the Pre-
Closing Tax Period; (b) all Taxes under Sections 1374 or 1375 of the Code for the Pre-Closing Tax Period; (c) all Taxes of
any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group, if any, of which the Company or the Subsidiary (or
any predecessor or current or former Affiliate of any of the foregoing) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date,
including pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law);
(d) any and all Taxes of any Person (other than the Company or the Subsidiary) imposed on the Company or the Subsidiary
as a transferee or successor, by Contractual Obligation, Legal Requirement or otherwise, which Taxes relate to an event or
transaction occurring on or before the Closing; and (e) any and all Straddle Period Taxes allocable to Company or the
Subsidiary for the Pre-Closing Tax Period. Notwithstanding any other provisions herein, Sellers shall not be liable to Buyer
for any Taxes with respect to any Post-Closing Tax Period (including any Losses or Taxes attributable to a Post-Closing Tax
Period that would be related to a failure of the parties to make a valid election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code).

10.4.    Straddle Period.      In the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of any Taxes of the Company and the
Subsidiary based upon or measured by income, gain, or receipts, and any withholding Taxes, for the Pre-Closing Tax Period
will be determined (a) in accordance with the Section 338(h)(10) Election and (b) based on an interim closing of the books
as of the close of business on the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the Taxable period of any partnership or other pass-
through entity in which such the Company or the Subsidiary holds a beneficial interest will be deemed to terminate at such
time). The amount of Taxes other than withholding Taxes and Taxes based upon or measured by income, gain or receipts for
a Straddle Period which relate to the Pre-Closing Tax Period will be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire
Taxable period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Taxable period ending on and
including the Closing and the denominator of which is the number of days in such Straddle Period.

10.5.    Certain Taxes and Fees.      Sellers and Buyer shall each be responsible for half of all transfer, documentary,
sales, use stamp, registration, and other such Taxes, and any conveyance fees or recording charges (“Transfer Taxes”)
incurred in connection with the Contemplated Transactions. Buyer will file all necessary Tax Returns and other
documentation with respect to all such Transfer Taxes and, if required by applicable law, Sellers, the Company and the
Subsidiary will join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation. Sellers will be responsible for half
of the reasonable costs associated with the preparation of Tax Returns for Transfer Taxes.

10.6.    Cooperation on Tax Matters.     Buyer, the Company, and Sellers will cooperate fully, as and to the extent
reasonably requested by any other party, in connection with any Tax matters relating to the Company or the Subsidiary
(including by the provision of reasonably relevant records, information or forms).
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10.7.    Returns.     Sellers will prepare and timely file (or cause to be prepared and filed) all Tax Returns for income
Taxes for the Company for taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date, on a basis consistent with the most recent
Tax Returns of the company unless Sellers determine that there is no reasonable basis for such position. Not later than thirty
(30) days prior to the due date (with extensions) for filing of such Tax Returns, Sellers will provide Buyer with a copy of
such Tax Returns and will allow Buyer an opportunity to provide comments on such Tax Returns. Buyer shall prepare or
cause to be prepared and file or cause to be filed all other Tax Returns for the Company or the Subsidiary that are to be filed
as of and after the Closing Date in accordance with applicable Tax Legal Requirements; provided that any Tax Returns filed
for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be subject to prior review and comment of the Seller Representatives. For the
avoidance of doubt, any deduction or other Tax benefit item related to the payment of any Seller Transaction Expenses or
any services compensation payable by virtue of the Contemplated Transactions shall be attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax
Period.

10.8.    Tax Sharing Agreements.     Any Tax sharing agreements or similar agreements and any powers of attorney
with respect to or involving the Company or the Subsidiary shall be terminated prior to the Closing Date.

10.9.    Tax Certificates.      Buyer and Sellers further agree, upon request, to use their reasonable efforts to obtain
any certificate or other document from any Governmental Authority or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate,
reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed (including, but not limited to, with respect to the Contemplated
Transactions).

10.10.    Tax Refunds.      If Buyer or the Company receives a refund of Taxes with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax
Period that was not included in the calculation of Working capital, Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid the amount of such
Tax refund to Sellers within fifteen (15) days after receipt thereof, provided that: (i) such Taxes were actually paid by the
company; (ii) such Tax refund is actually received by Buyer or the Company after the Closing; and (iii) such Tax refund
does not arise as the result of a carryback of a loss or other Tax benefit from a Post-Closing Tax Period. In the event Buyer
or the Company actually repays some or all of a Tax refund to a Governmental Authority, Sellers shall pay, or cause to be
paid, the amount of such repayment to Buyer or the Company within fifteen (15) days after receiving notice from Buyer or
the Company or such repayment.

10.11.    Additional Restrictions for Pre-Closing Tax Period, Tax Returns, and Associated Taxes. Buyer shall not,
without the prior written consent of the Seller Representatives (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), file, re-file or amend, or permit the Company to file, re-file or amend, any Tax Return of the
Company that was due on or prior to the Closing Date, or enter or permit the Company to enter into discussions regarding
any voluntary disclosure involving Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period. Any disagreement with respect to this Section
10.11 or any amount due from Sellers to Buyer with respect to any amended tax return filed without written
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consent of the Seller Representatives shall be settled by the Accounting Firm in accordance with the dispute procedures set
forth in Section 2.4.2.

11.    MISCELLANEOUS.    

11.1.    Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing
and must be provided: (a) by hand (in which case, it will be effective upon delivery); (b) by facsimile (in which case, it will
be effective upon receipt of confirmation of good transmission); (c) by overnight delivery by a nationally recognized courier
service (in which case, it will be effective on the Business Day after being deposited with such courier service); or (d) by
electronic mail (in which case it will be effective upon receipt of confirmation of receipt) in each case, to the address (or
facsimile number) listed below:

If to the Company or Buyer, to:

5960 Heisley Road
Mentor, Ohio 44060
Attention: Vice President, Business Development

with a copy, which will not constitute notice, to:

STERIS Corporation
5960 Heisley Road
Mentor, Ohio 44060
Attention: General Counsel

If to Sellers, to:

James G. Baxter
227 South Sixth Street, Apt 3NW
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106

and
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Harvey Kimmel
1535 Estuary Trail
Delray Beach, Florida 33483

with a copy, which will not constitute notice, to:

Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP 
502 Carnegie Center 
Princeton, New Jersey 08540 
Telephone number: (609) 919-6604 
Facsimile number: (609) 919-6701 
Attention: Steven M. Cohen, Esq.
Email: scohen@morganlewis.com

Each of the Parties to this Agreement may specify different addresses or facsimile numbers by giving notice in accordance with this
Section 11.1 to each of the other parties hereto.

11.2.    Succession and Assignment; No Third-Party Beneficiary. Subject to the immediately following sentence, this
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted
assigns, each of which successors and permitted assigns will be deemed to be a party hereto for all purposes hereof. No
party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests or obligations hereunder
without the prior written approval of the other Parties; provided, however, that Buyer may: (a) assign any or all of its rights
and interests hereunder to one or more of its Affiliates or to any provider of financing; and (b) designate one or more of its
Affiliates to perform its obligations hereunder, in each case, so long as Buyer is not relieved of any Liability hereunder; and
provided, further, that Buyer may assign any or all of its rights and interests hereunder to one or more Persons in connection
with any sale of the Shares acquired hereunder or any other direct or indirect change of control of the Company following
the Closing. Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and their permitted
successors and assignees and nothing herein expressed or implied will give or be construed to give any Person, other than
the Parties and such successors and assignees, any legal or equitable rights hereunder.

11.3.    Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be binding
unless it is in writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by Buyer, the Company and the Seller Representatives, or in
the case of a waiver, by the party against whom the waiver is to be effective. No waiver of any breach, violation or default
under, or inaccuracy in, any representation, warranty or covenant hereunder will be deemed to extend to any prior or
subsequent breach, violation, default or inaccuracy or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or
subsequent such occurrence. No delay or omission on the part of any party in exercising any right, power or remedy under
this Agreement will operate as a waiver thereof.

11.4.    Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any documents, instruments, and certificates explicitly
referred to herein, constitutes the entire agreement
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among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all prior discussions, negotiations,
proposals, undertakings, understandings, and agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto. The schedules and
exhibits attached to this Agreement are a part hereof as if fully set forth herein.

11.5.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including via facsimile or
electronic mail), each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute but one and the same
instrument. This Agreement will become effective when duly executed by each party hereto.

11.6.    Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any
jurisdiction will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or
enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. In the event that any
provision hereof would, under applicable law, be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, each party hereto intends that such
provision will be construed by modifying or limiting it so as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent compatible
with, and possible under, applicable law.

11.7.    Construction; Headings. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this
Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if
drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of
the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. The Parties intend that each representation, warranty, and
covenant contained herein will have independent significance. Any references to “including” in this Agreement shall be
deemed to refer to “including without limitation.” The headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience purposes
only and will not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation hereof.

11.8.    Governing Law. This Agreement, the rights of the parties and all Actions arising in whole or in part under or
in connection herewith, will be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic substantive laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the
laws of any other jurisdiction. The Parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of any federal or state
court located within the State of Delaware over any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the
Contemplated Transactions and each Party hereby irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of such dispute or any suit,
action or proceeding related thereto may be heard and determined in such courts. The Parties hereby irrevocably waive, to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of
any such dispute brought in such court or any defense of inconvenient forum for the maintenance of such dispute. Each of
the Parties agrees that a judgment in any such dispute may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in
any other manner provided by law. Each of the Parties hereby consents to process being served by any Party in any suit,
action or proceeding by the delivery of a copy thereof in accordance with the provisions of this Section 11.8.
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11.9.    Waiver of Jury Trial. TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT
CANNOT BE WAIVED, THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE, AND COVENANT THAT THEY WILL NOT ASSERT
(WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE), ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR
ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTIONS OR ANY
ANCILLARY AGREEMENT, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER
SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY OF THEM MAY
FILE A COPY OF THIS PARAGRAPH WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE KNOWING,
VOLUNTARY, AND BARGAINED-FOR AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES TO IRREVOCABLY WAIVE
THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDING WHATSOEVER BETWEEN
THEM RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE
CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTIONS OR ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT, WHICH WILL INSTEAD BE
TRIED IN A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY A JUDGE SITTING WITHOUT A JURY.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Party has executed this General Econopak, Inc. Stock Purchase Agreement as
of the date first set forth above.

    

BUYER:

STERIS CORPORATION

By:    /s/ Walter M Rosebrough, Jr.        
Name:    Walter M Rosebrough, Jr.        
Title:    President and Chief Executive Officer

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Party has executed this General Econopak, Inc. Stock Purchase Agreement as
of the date first set forth above.

COMPANY:
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GENERAL ECONOPAK, INC.

By:    /s/ James G. Baxter            
Name:    James G. Baxter                
Title:    Chief Executive Officer            



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Party has executed this General Econopak, Inc. Stock Purchase Agreement as of the
date first set forth above.

    

SELLER (IF ENTITY):

Entity Name: The Andrew J. Baxter 2012
Irrevocable Trust

By: /s/ Nancy V. Baxter                
Name:     Nancy V. Baxter
Title:     Trustee
Address:     227 S. 6th Street, Apt. 3NW
    Philadelphia, PA 19106

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Andrew Kleiman            
Name:     Andrew Kleiman
Address:     3766 Penjerrack Court

Carmel, IN 46032

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Boris Shapiro                
Name:     Boris Shapiro
Address:     511 Old Gulph Rd.

Narberth, PA 19072

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: The Brett M. Baxter 2012

Irrevocable Trust
By: /s/ Nancy V. Baxter                
Name:     Nancy V. Baxter
Title:     Trustee
Address:     227 S. 6th St., Apt. 3NW

Philadelphia, PA 19106

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Charles S. Epstein            
Name:     Charles S. Epstein
Address:     1515 Market Street, 15th Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19102



SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Deborah Smith Valente        
Name:     Deborah Smith Valente
Address:     1122 Gowdy Avenue

    Point Pleasant, NJ 08742

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: The Dustin T. Baxter 2012

Irrevocable Trust
By: /s/ Nancy V. Baxter                
Name:     Nancy V. Baxter
Title:     Trustee
Address:     227 S. 6th Street, Apt. 3NW

    Philadelphia, PA 19106

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/Gary D. Kleiman            
Name:         Gary D. Kleiman
Address:     244 Chamounix Circle

Saint Davids, PA 19087

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: Gary David Kleiman Irrevocable
Trust Dated December 27, 2012
By: /s/ Roberta Ellen Kleiman            
Name:     Roberta Ellen Kleiman
Title:     Trustee
Address:     244 Chamounix Circle

Saint Davids, PA 19087

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Roberta E. Kleiman            
Name:     Roberta E. Kleiman
Address:     244 Chamounix Circle

Saint Davids, PA 19087

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)*
Signature: /s/ Harvey Kimmel            
Name:     Harvey Kimmel
Address:     1535 Estuary Trail

Delray Beach, FL 33483
* Executed both as a Seller Representative and Individually as a Seller



    

SELLER (IF ENTITY):
Entity Name:     Harvey Kimmel 2012

Irrevocable Trust
By: /s/ Virginia Kimmel TTEE            
Name:     Virginia Kimmel
Title:     Trustee
Address:     1535 Estuary Trail

Delray Beach, FL 33483

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: Harvey Kimmel 2014 Grantor

Retained Annuity Trust
By: /s/ Harvey Kimmel TTE                
Name:     Harvey Kimmel
Title:     Trustee
Address:     1535 Estuary Trail

Delray Beach, Florida
33483

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: Harvey Kimmel 2014 Grantor

Retained Annuity Trust #2
By: /s/ Harvey Kimmel TTEE            
Name:     Harvey Kimmel
Title:     Trustee
Address:     1535 Estuary Trail

Delray Beach, Florida
33483

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ J. Earl Epstein                
Name:     J. Earl Epstein
Address:     1515 Market Street

    Philadelphia, PA 19102

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)*
Signature: /s/ Phyllis Horn Epstein            
Name:     Phyllis Horn Epstein
Address:     1515 Market Street, 15th Fl.



Philadelphia, PA 19102

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT]



SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)*
Signature: /s/ James G. Baxter            
Name:     James G. Baxter
Address:     227 S. 6th SW., Apt. 3NW

Philadelphia, PA 19106
* Executed Both as a Seller Representative and Individually as a Seller

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: The James G. Baxter 2013 Irrevocable
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust
By: /s/ Nancy V. Baxter                
Name:     Nancy V. Baxter
Title:     Trustee
Address:     227 S. 6th Street, Apt. 3NW

Philadelphia, PA 19106

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: The James G. Baxter 2014 Irrevocable
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust
By: /s/ Nancy V. Baxter                
Name:     Nancy V. Baxter
Title:     Trustee
Address:     227 S. 6th St., Apt. 3NW

Philadelphia, PA 19106

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Jeffrey Markowitz            
Name:     Jeffrey Markowitz
Address:     20 Fairway Ct.

Marlton, NJ 08053

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ John Sincavage/Patricia Sincavage    
Name:     John Sincavage / Patricia Sincavage
Address:     827 Cottonwood Dr.

Malvern, PA 19355

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT]



SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: Jennifer Kimmel Irrevocable Trust
By: /s/ Virginia Kimmel TTEE            
Name:     Virginia Kimmel
Title:     Trustee
Address:     1535 Estuary Trail

Delray Beach, FL 33483

SELLER (IF ENTITY)
Entity Name: David H. Kleiman Revocable Trust
By: /s/ David H. Kleiman, Trustee            
Name:     David H. Kleiman
Title:     Trustee
Address:     11172 Valeside Crescent

Carmel, IN 46032

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Matthew N. Kleiman            
Name:     Matthew N. Kleiman
Address:     708 W. Wrightwood Avenue

Chicago, IL 60614

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Sara Kimmel                
Name:     Sara Kimmel
Address:     369 Franklin St., Apt. 602

Cambridge, MA 02139

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Scott Kleiman                
Name:     Scott Kleinman
Address:     1521 N. Park Ave.

Indianapolis, IN 46202

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT]



    

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Suzanne Cummings            
Name:     Suzanne Cummings
Address:     23 Dickman Dr.

Lavallette, NJ 08735

SELLER (IF INDIVIDUAL)
Signature: /s/ Robert Todd White            
Name:     Robert Todd White
Address:     218 West Valley Road

Wayne, PA 19087

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT]





Exhibit 15.1

LETTER OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP REGARDING UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Board of Directors and Shareholders
STERIS Corporation
 

 
We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the following STERIS Corporation Registration Statements of our review report, dated August 7, 2015,
relating to the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of STERIS Corporation and Subsidiaries, included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2015:
 

  

Registration
Number

 
Description

 

33-55976 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan

333-09733 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan

333-137167 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan

333-136239 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan

333-170884 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation 401(k) Plan

333-176167 Form S-8 Registration Statement - STERIS Corporation 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (as Amended and Restated
Effective July 28, 2011)

 

/s/    Ernst & Young LLP
 

Cleveland, Ohio
August 7, 2015



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Walter M Rosebrough, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of STERIS Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 

Date: August 7, 2015
  

/S/    WALTER M ROSEBROUGH, JR.        
Walter M Rosebrough, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Michael J. Tokich, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of STERIS Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 

Date: August 7, 2015

/S/    MICHAEL J. TOKICH        

Michael J. Tokich
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



 

Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Form 10-Q of
STERIS Corporation (the “Company”) for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, that, to such officer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
as of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report. 

  /S/    WALTER M ROSEBROUGH, JR.        
Name:  Walter M Rosebrough, Jr.
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

   
  /S/    MICHAEL J. TOKICH        

Name:  Michael J. Tokich
Title:  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Dated: August 7, 2015


